A SEARCH FOR THE TYROSINASE-POSITIVE OCULOCUTANEOUS ALBINISM GENE USING LINKAGE ANALYSIS

ij,

CD.

Mary - Anne Kedda

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Ş.

Johannesburg, South Africa, 1993

ABSTRACT

Tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism (ty-pos OCA) is a autosomal recessive disorder of the melanin pigmentary system, characterised bγ generalised hypopigmentation, with the accumutation of phacomelanin pigments with increasing age. Southern African ty-pos OCA individuals occur with two distinct phenotypes, with or without ephelides. These phenotypes are apparently concordant within families, suggesting that there is more than one mutation at the ty-pos OCA locus, Elucidation of the basic defect(s) in ty-pos OCA would be aided by a definitive localisation of the ty-pos OCA gene. Linkage studies have been carried out in 41 families, using 52 markers, including 15 random polymorphic serogenetic markers and 16 raudom polymorphic DNA markers, as well as markers from two candida. genes, TYR and CAS2, and 19 polymorphic markers from 2 candidate chromesomal regions, on 11p and 15q. Pairwise lod scores were calculated using the MLINK program of the LINKAGE package. A significant lod score was initially obtained in linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and two chromosome 15q11-q13 markers, in the Prader-Willi/Angelman Syndrome (PWS/AS) region. Linkage analysis with 13 other markers on chromosome 15, confirmed this localisation. A genetic linkage map of the proximal region of the long arm of chromosome 15 was constructed and shows that the most closely linked, flanking loci are the GABRB3 and D15S24. Linkage analysis has also shown no cross-overs between the D15S12 locus and ty-pos OCA in southern African Negroids, suggesting that this locus is very close to, or

ü

part of, the disease locus. Caucasoid "ty-pos" OCA individuals are characterised by locus heterogeneity. Negroid ty-pos OCA families with and without ephelides were analysed separately at the tyrosinase and D15S12 (pIR10-1) loci. The summated lod scores at Θ =0.01 were negative for the tyrosinase locus and positive for the D15S12 locus, suggesting no evidence for locus heterogeneity in this population. Allelic association was found between the polymorphic alleles detected at the D15S12 (pIR10-1) locus and ephelus status, which suggests that there were multiple origins of the mutations at the ty-pos OCA locus. The results of this thesis show that the ty-pos OCA gene is located on chromosome 15q11q12. The gene is postulated to be the human homologue, P, of the mouse *pinkeyed dilution* gene, p, although definitive proof awaits the detection of mutations in this gene in individuals with ty-pos OCA.

DECLARATION

I declare that this thesis is my own, unaided work. It is being submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. The analyses in this thesis have formed part of a collaborative study within the De, artment of Human Genetics and include some laboratory practical results generated by other postgraduate students, but analysed by myself. It has not previously been submitted for any degree or examination at any other university and the Committee for Research on Human Subjects has cleared the protocol for this project (Clearance certificate reference number R14/49, for protocol number 12/4/89, in the author's maiden name, Colman).

iv

Madda

Mary - Anne Kedda

25th day of August, 1993

To my husband, Sean, and my family.

Ų.

For all their patience

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my thanks to all those peon o gave us blood for this study, especially the individuals from the tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism families. My appreciation also goes to Professor Jennifer Kromberg and Sister Esther Zwane, who have encouraged the participation of the families with ty-pos OCA and who took the blood samples. This project would not have been possible without them.

My special thanks go to the following people:

- To all my colleagues in the department, who have always encouraged and supported me. In particular, I would like to thank Gwynneth Stevens and Prashiela Manga, whose contributions to this study bave been invaluable and are ongoing. Some of their practical results, which were used in the linkage analysis, are included in this thesis, with mention of their work.

To my supervisors, Dr Michèle Ramsay and Professor T Jeakins, who have both given me much guidance and whose enthusiasm has been a great stimulus.
To Isabel Marques and her colleagues in Cytogenetics, for all their cheerful help and for growing the somatic cell hybrids and transformed cell lines which were used in this strady.

- To David Dunn, who taught me how to use and interpret LIPED and to Charmaine Viljoen, for her assistance with the computer analysis, particularly with LINKAGE. - To the people in Photographics, for processing the photographic plates in this thesis.

- To my husband, Sean, for his help with the word processing and printing and for his understanding and support.

I gratefully acknowledge the financial support which I have received throughout my studies, in particular from the SAIMR, the FRD and the University of the Witwatersrand. My thanks also go to the Director of the SAIMR, for the use of the Institute facilitie:.

I am deeply indebted to those people who have so willingly given of their materials and time, especially:

- Anne Bowcock (Southwestern Medical Centre, USA) for providing us with the chromosome 15 consortium map and the sequences for the MS14 primers.

- Sue Kidson (University of Cape Town Medical School) for her helpful discussion and for sharing her findings on the electron microscope studies.

- Dr Kluve-Beckerman (School of Medicine, Indiana University) for providing us with the pSAA82 probe and for her help with the associated publication.

- Byoung Kwon (Indiana University School of Medicine, USA) for providing us with the Pmel34 probe, the *b*-protein cDNA and for all his help with these probes and with the publications which have arisen from this study.

- Jurg Ott (Columbia University) for providing us with both the LIPED and LINKAGE programs.

Sue Povey (Galton Laboratory, UK) and Sue Chamberlain (St Mary's Hospital Medical School, UK) for providing us with chromesom 9 SCH material.
Professor, Aadries Retief and his department (University of Stellenbosch, SA) for their helpful discussion and their assistance with our chromosome 9 mapping studies.

- Shigeki Shibahara (Tohoku University School of Medicine, Japan) for providing us with the pMT4 probe and for his help with the associated publication.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract Declaration Dedication A knowledgements Table of Contents List of Tables List of Figures Abbreviations Publications

CHAPTER ONE

£1

1. INTRODUCTION	_1
1.1 An historical overview	i
1.2 Pigment cell biology	3
1.2.1 The melanocyte	3
1.2.2 The melanosome	5
1.2.3 Melanin biosynthesis	6
1.2.4 Tyrosinase	7
1.3 Ocular Albinism (OA)	9
1.4 Oculocutaneous Albinism (OCA)	10
1.4.1 Type I OCA	10
1.4.1.1 Type IA/Tyrosinase-negative oculocutaneous albinism	
(ty-neg OCA)	10
1.4.1.2 Type IB oculocutaneous albinism/Yellow mutant	12
1.4.1.3 Type IC oculocutaneous albinism/Minimal pigment/Platinum	
mutant	12
1.4.2 Brown oculocutaneous albinism	13
1.4.3 Rufous oculocutaneous albinism	13
1.4.4 Type I/Tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism (ty-pos OCA)	14
1.4.4.1 Clinical features of ty-pos OCA	14

ii

iv

۷

ः vi

ix

xv xvii

xix

xxii

Page numbers

	ű		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		$Q = \frac{1}{2} N$	2015
			· ()/
	Ó		17
1.4.4.2 Prevalence of ty-pos OCA			17
1.4.4.3 Visual anomalies			18
1.4.4.4 Auditory anomalies			21
1.4.4.5 Skin cancer			21 -
1.4.4.6 Counselling issues	Ŵ	· · ·	21
1.4.4.7 Prenatal diagnosis			22
1.5 Chromosomal localisation of a gene locus			23
1.5.1 Polymorphism in the human genome	· · · ·		24
1.5.2 Genetic linkage analysis			29
1.5.2.1 Two-point linkage analysis		$\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{A}} = \mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{A}}$	31
1.5.3 Gene mapping			33
1.5.3.1 Genetic linkage maps			33
1.5.3.2 Physical maps			35
1.5.3.2.1 Use of somatic zell hybrids	• • •		35
1.5.3.2.2 Other mapping techniques			36
1.6 Approaches to the chromosomal localisatio	n of the ty-pos O	ica y	• . •
locus		1	36
1.6.1 Random markers		. ·	37
1.6.2 Comparative mapping			38
1.6.2.1 Candidate loci			38
1.6.2.1.1 Pink-eyed dilution (p)	· .		38
1.6.2.1.2 Agouti (A)			40
1.6.2.1.3 Extension (E)			41
1.6.2.1.4 Dilute (d)	•		41
1.6.2.1.5 Albino (c)		:	42
1.6.2.1.6 Brown (b)			³ 27 44
1.6.2.1.7 Slaty (Slt)		-	45
1.6.2.1.8 The tyrosinase protein family			45
1.6.2.2 Candidate chromosomal regions			46
1.6.2.2.1 The Hbb, c and p linkage group)		47
1.6.2.2.2 The Prader-Willi/Angelman syn	ndrome chromosor	nal	
region (PWCR/ACR)			50
1.7 Aims of this study			52

. .

CHAPTER TWO

2. SUBJECTS, MATERIALS AND METHODS	54
2.1 Subjects	54
2.1.1 Identification of affected individuals	54
2.2 DNA markers	55
2.2.1 Characterisation of candidate pigment loci	56
2.2.1.1 Pmel34 (TYR)	56
2.2.1.2 CAS2/brown locus	58
2.2.2 Characterisation of markers on human chromosome 11p	59
2.2.2.1 pHC36 (CALCA)	59
2.2.2.2 pSAA82 (SAA)	60
2.2.2.3 pDH3.2 $(p^{A}\gamma)$ (HBB)	60
2.2.3 Characterisation of random DNA probe $DQ\alpha/DX\alpha$	61
2.2.4 Characterisation of chromosome 15-specific DNA probes	61
2.2.4.1 pTD3-21 (D15S10)	62
2.2.4.2 pTD189-1 (D15S13)	62
2.2.4.3 pML34 (D15S9)	64
2.2.4.4 pIR4-3R (D15S11)	64
2.2.4.5 pIR10-1 (D15S12)	64
2.2.4.6 CMW-1 (D15S24)	64
2.2.4.7 pJU201 (D15S3)	65
2.2.4.8 pDP151 (D15S2)	65
2.2.5 Characterisation of PCR markers detecting RFLPs	66
2.2.5.1 ALB	66
2.2.5.2 pMP6d-9 (D7S399)	66
2.2.5.3 pJ3.11 (D7S8)	66
2.2.5.4 TYR/Mbol RFLP	68
2.2.6 Characterisation of PCR markers detecting dinucleotide repeats	68
2.2.6.1 2D9-1 (D1S116)	68
2.2.6.2 Mfd3 (APO A2)	69
2.2.6.3 Mfd61 (D6S105)	69
2.2.6.4 716/718 (WT-1)	69
2.2.6.5 Mfd15 (D17S250)	70
2.2.6.6 MPO	70

xi

			• .		:	· ·
• • •			0			xii
			н. М			80
	2.2.6.7 335/334 (D21S168)	4 - 107		· .		70
	2.2.7 Characterisation of chromosol	me 15-specific	e ca repeat	ta		70
	polymorphisms	3				70
	2.2.7.1 D15810					-12
	2.2.7.2 GABA _A receptor β 3 (GAB	RB3)			ч. 1919 г. – 1919 г. – 1	12
	2.2.7.3 DISSII					72
· · ·	2.2.7.4 MS14 (D15S97)					13
	2.2.7.5 635/636 (ACTC)					15
·	2.2.7.6 THBS1					/4 74
	2.2.7.7 Mtd49 (D15887)	· · ·		1		14° 114
	2.3 Preparation of probe DNA		••.			14
	2.3.1 Transformation					74
. *	2.3.2 Isolation of plasmid 1	· ·				70
1. N	2.3.2.1 Large-scale plasmid DrvA	preparation	. :			/0
	2.3.2.2 Small-scale plasmid DNA	preparation			•	79
	2.3.2.3 Commercial mini-preparati	on y				80
	2.3.3 Restriction analysis of plasmic	d DNA				81
	2.3.3.1 Checking the integrity of t	he human DN	IA insert			81
	2.3.3.2 Isolating the human DNA	insert				81
	2.4 Venous blood sample collection	and extraction	n of high m	olecular	:	
	weight human genomic DNA fi	rom white blow	od cells			82
	2.5 Analysis of human genomic DN	A	• •••• • •	1		84
	2.5.1 Restriction endonuclease dig	estion of geno	mic DNA	N		85
	2.5.2 Agarose gel electrophoresis o	of DNA restric	tion fragme	nts		87
	2,5.3 Southern transfer of DNA fm	agments to a r	nylon membr	rane		88
	2.5.4 Radiolabelling of DNA probe	2S				89
	2.5.5 Hybridisation of Hybond-N n	nembranes				91
	2.5.6 Post-hybridisation weshes of	Hybond-N me	mbranes			92
	2.5.7 Autoradiography					93
	2.5.8 Reuse of Hybond-N membrar	nes				93
	2.6 PCR Analysis of human genomi	c DNA				93
	2.6.1 RFLP analysis using PCR					94
	2.6.2 CA repeat analysis using PCI	R				94
	2.7 Linkage studies		·			95
	2.7.1 Linkage analysis					95

				. Ť	.1	1 W. (A. 1997)
$\sim 10^{-10}$	-	14		o ****	a - ⁸ - 1 - 1	
		È.		0 .	·	ола 1916 г. 1917 г.
· .	•				2	с. с.
	28 - 1 -		2	•		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
. A	· · ·		10 j	· .		
2.7.	2 Analysis of all	lelic association	1		· · · · ·	96
27	3 Hanlotyne an	alvsis			а а	97
28.6	th romosomal an	d regional ass	ionment of	huma n cDN	A probes	98
4.0 V 2.0 V	1 Detroption of	high malanular	unight D	NA from SC	H lines	09
2.8.	1 Extraction of	ingn morecular	weight D			20
2.8.	2 Preparation o	f Southern trai	asiers and	nybridisation	to DNA	
· · ·	from SCH lin		•	•		99
· · ·		4				
CHAPI	ER THREE			· · · · ·	2000 - 100 -	
	19 - A	ці — .	· .	·		а. С
3. RESI	JLTS	A. 19				100
3.1 1	Mapping the bur	nan CAS2	A		· .	100
30 7	The linkage stud				i. ir	100
ຸມ. 201	1 Normoid famil	J ion with the nor	004	a Ma A		100
5.2.	I Negroid tanu	tes with ty-pos			L)	104
3.2.	2 Two-point lin	kage analysis v	with randon	a polymorph	ic markers	104
3.2	2.2.1 Random so	erogenetic mar	kers		. * · ·	104
3.2	2.2.2 Random D	NA markers				100 .
3.2.	3 Two point lir	nkage analysis	between ty	-pos OCA a	nd two candidate	•
e in the	loci, and a ca	indidate region	on 11p		d.	106
3.2	2.3.1 Tyrosinase	locus			C.V	106
/5 3.2	2.3.2 The CAS2	locus		. ;		109
 3.0	33 Linkage ar	alusis hetween	ivenos OC	*A and a⊹can	didate region	
يېلې و ليې الله و ليې	on 11a		ty-pos OC		uluato region	112
2.0	on isp 4 This solid lie	france instants I	Lafarra an			
5.2.	4 I wo-point th	kage enarysis i	between m	arkers on 150	q and ty-pos	
	OCA		_	· ,	·	112
3.2.	5 Pairwise linka	ige analysis be	tween all r	narkers on cl	hromosome 15q	121
3.3 /	Allelic associatio	n between pli	x10-1 (D15	S12) and the	ty-pos OCA	
	mutation(s)			1000 A. 1990		125
3.4 1	Haplotype analys	sis		,		127
3.5 \$	Summary of resu	ilts				134
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				2	
				·		
	· · ·	and the second s				
	•.					
. •						
						· .
						i.

CHAPTER FOUR

136 4. **DISCUSSION** 4.1 Ty-pos OCA in southern African Negroids 136 4.2 Novel information on polymorphic markers 137 4.3 Two-point linkage analysis 138 4.4 Linkage of ty-pos OCA to markers on chromosome 15q11-q13 141 4.5 Allelic association between the D15S12 locus and :43 ty-pos OCA mutations 4.6 Mouse pigment genes 144 146 4.7 The Prader-Will/Angelman chromosomal region 4.8 The ty-pos OCA locus 147

CHAPTER FIVE

5. CONCLUSION

REFERENCES

References cited

APPENDICES

Appendix A - Sources of reagents Appendix B - Composition and preparation of media

Clearance certificate : Committee for Research on Human Subjects

150

176

LIST OF TABLES

Page numbers

CHAPTER TWO

Table	2.1	Non-chromosome 15 DNA probes	57
Table	2.2	Chromosome 15-Specific DNA probes	63
Table	2.3	PCR markers	67
Table	2.4	Chromosome 15-specific PCR markers	71
Table	2.5	Type II restriction endonucleases	86

CHAPTER THREE

Table 3.1	Structure of the ty-pos OCA families used in the linkage study	102
Table 3.2	Summary of families with ty-pos OCA	103
Table 3.3	Two-point linkage analysis between 19 random serogenetic markers	
	and ty-pos OCA	105
Table 3.4	Two-point linkage analysis between 15 random polymorphic DNA	
	markers and ty-pos OCA	107
Table 3.5	Two-point linkage analysis between 2 candidate loci and ty-pos OCA	108
Table 3.6	Two-point linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and the tyrosinase	
	locus in each family at $\Theta = 0.01$	110
Table 3.7	Two-point linkage analysis between the human chromosome 11p	
	candidate region and ty-pos OCA	113
Table 3.8	Two-point linkage analysis between 15 markers on 15q and ty-pos	
	OCA	117
Table 3.9	Maximum likelihood estimates (Z) and recombination values (Θ)	
	for linkage between chromosome 15 markers and ty-pos OCA	118
Table 3.10	Two-point linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and pIR10-1	
	(D15S12) in each family at $\Theta = 0.01$	120
Table 3.11	Pairwise recombination results (O) and maximum likelihoods (Z)	
	between all markers on chromosome 15q	123
Table 3.12	pIR10-1 (D15S12) allele frequencies	126
Table 3.13	Comparison of numbers of pIR10-1 (D15S12) alleles	126

		irx /
Table 3.14	Haplotype analysis using loci D15S12 and L15S10	129
Table 3.15	Haplotype analysis using loci D15S12, D15S10 and D15S13	130
Table 3.16	Haplotype analysis using loci D15S12, D15S10, D15S13 and	
	D15S11	131
Table 3.17	Haplotype analysis using loci D15S12, D15S10, D15S13,	
li l	DI5S11 and D15S9	132
Table 3.18	Haplotype analysis using loci D15S12 and GABRB3	133
		Æ

.

¢.

н на марти

. r

. •.

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER ONE

Figure 1.1 The epidermal melanin unit (Bolognia and Pawelek 1988) 4 8 Figure 1.2 The melanin biosynthetic pathway (Tsukamoto et al. 1992) Figure 1.3 A family with three affected ty-pos OCA individuals, illustrating the fair skin and cream coloured hair, strabismus and light coloured 15 eyes, as compared to the normal Negroid phenotype. Figure 1.4 Two phenotypically different ty-pos OCA individuals. The individual on the right has ephelides on the sun-exposed areas of skin. while the individual on the left has no eumelanin pigmentation, despite obvious sun exposure. 16 Figure 1.5 Schematic representation of i) normal routing of optic nerve fibres and ii) albino routing of optic nerve fibres (Creel et al. 1990). 19 Figure 1.6 Linkage map of mouse chromosome 7 and homologous genes on human chromosomes 11 and 15. Mouse locus [human locus] locus name: Tph [TPH] tryptophan hydroxylase: Ldh-1 [LDHA] lactate dehydrogenase A: Myod-1 [MYOD1] myogenic differentiation 1; Saa-1 [SAA1] serum amyloid A; D15F32S1h [MN7]; D7Hms1 [D7PWS]; D15S12h/D7Nic1 [DN10]; Gabrb-3 [GABRB3] y-aminobutyric acid \$3 receptor; p [?] pink-eyed Silution; D15S12h-1 [pML34]; Hras-1 [HRAS] Harvey rat sarcoma oncogene: Igf1r [IGF1R] Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor; Fes [FES] Feline sarcoma oncogene; Tyr [TYR] tyrosinase; Idh-2 [IDH2] isocitrate dehydrogenase 2, mitochondrial; Calc [CALCA] calcitonin; Pth [PTH] parathyroid hormone: Hbb [HBB] haemoglobin, B-chain: Th [TH] tyrosine hydroxylase (Searle et al. 1989; Saunders and Seldin 1990; Chaillet et al. 1991; Nadeau et al. 1991; Nicholls et al. 1992). 48

٠,

CHAPTER THREE

j,

- Figure 3.1 Autoradiograph showing hybridisation of human CAS2 cDNA to a Southern blot of TaqI digested DNA. Lane (L) 1 is a). HindIII marker, for which the sizes are given to the left of the figure. Lane 7 is vastly overloaded, and contains a λ HindIII/EcoRI marker, for which accurate sizing was not possible. Lanes 2 and 3, rest ctively, contain human male and female genomic DNA. Lane 4 contains chinese hamster DNA. Lane 5 contains SCH PK-87-9 DNA and lane 6 contains SCH 640-63a12 DNA.
- Figure 3.2 An autoradiograph showing the two allele XbaI RFLP detected by hybridisation to the CAS2 cDNA in family ZACF. The shaded symbols represent affected individuals with ty-pos OCA (c - constant).
- Figure 3.3 Inheritance of the pTD3-21/TaqI alleles in family ZABD. The 3.0kb allele is Negroid-specific (Colman *et al.* 1991). The shaded symbols represent affected individuals with ty-pos OCA.
- Figure 3.4 Inheritance of CA repeat alleles at the GABRE3 locus in family ZADZ detected by PCR, denaturing polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and autoradiography. The darkest bands are the scored alleles (A) and the lighter bands on either side may represent products of slippage during replication or of *Taq* polymerase infidelity. The shaded symbols represent affected individuals. GABRB3 is closely linked to the ty-pos OCA locus and thus the alleles inherited by the second child (first unaffected) illustrate an obligate cross-over in this individual. Both affected children have inherited bands 1 and 2, each of which must therefore segregate with the disease gene. Since the second child is unaffected, but also has alleles 1 and 2, there must be a cross-over between one of these alleles and the disease gene in this individual.

101

111

114

Figure 3.5 The physical map of chromosome 15q markers closely linked to ty-pos OCA (Kuwano *et al.* 1992) and the recombination fractions between these markers and ty-pos OCA. Loci ACTC and D15S97 have not yet been physically mapped and have been provisionally positioned using the genetic distances (Θ) between each locus and ty-pos OCA. The D15S10 and D15S11 loci have been analysed as haplotypes. (1: CA = CA repeat polymorphism).

 $\bar{\Omega}$

xix

ABBREVIATIONS

A	Adenine
acd	Acid citrate dextrose
ACTC	Cardiac muscle actin (Gene)
AÐ	Anno domini
ALB	Albumin (Gene)
ANCR	Angelman chromosomal region
AS	Angelman Syndrome
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
bp	Base pair(s)
C	Cytosine
°C	Degrees Colcius
cen	Centromere
cDNA	Complimentary DNA
Ci	Curie
cm	Centimetre(s)
cpm	Counts per minute
CsCl	Caesium chloride
СТ	Calcitonin (Gene)
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dup	Duplication
EBV	Epstein Barr Virus
E.coli	Escherichia coli
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetra-acetic acid
etc	et cetera
FISH	Fluorescence in situ hybridisation
g	Gram(s)
G	Guanine
G-banding	Giemsa banding
inv	Inverted
kb	Kilobases
kg	Kilogram(s)
LA	Luria-Bertani agar

Ū,

 $\dot{\beta}_{1}$

XX

· ()

ú

LB	Luria-Bertani broth
lođ	Logarithm of the odds
mA	Milliamps
ml	Millilitre(s)
mM	Millimolar
М	Molar
MPO	Myeloperoxidase glycoprotein (Gene)
mwt	Molecular weight
ng	Nanogram(s)
nm	Nanometer(s)
OD	Optical density
p	Short arm of chromosome
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PFGE	Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis
pg	Picogram(s)
PIC	Polymorphism information content
PWCR	Prader-Willi chromosomal region
PWS	Prader-Willi Syndrome
q	Long arm of chromosome
RFLP	Restriction fragment length polymorphism
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNase A	Ribonuclease A
rpm	Revolutions per minute
SAA	Serum amyloid A (Gene)
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SCH	Somatic cell hybrid(s)
SSC	Sodium citrate solution
SS DNA	Salmon sperm DNA
STS	Sequence tagged site
Т	Thymidine
TCA	Trichloroacetic acid
Tris	Tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane
TSB	Transformation and storage buffer

xxi

TYR	Tyrosinase (Locus)
Ty-pos OCA	Tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism
U	Units
UV	Ultraviolet
v	Volts
VEP	Visual evoked potential
WT	Wilms tumour (Locus)
YAC	Yeast artificial chromosome
μCi	MicroCurie
μg	Microgram(s)
μl	Microlitre(s)
%	Percentage

xxii

1

Ô

PUBLICATIONS

Publications arising as a result of this study: (Most publications are in the author's maiden name, Colman)

JENKINS T, HEIM RA, DUNN DS, ZWANE E, <u>COLMAN M-A</u>, RAMSAY M, KROMBERG JGR (1990) In quest of the tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism gene. <u>Ophthal Paediatr Genet</u> 11 (4): 251 - 254

<u>COLMAN M-A</u>, SEGALO P, RAMSAY M, JENKINS T (1991) A third TaqI allele is detected by the probe pTD3-21 (D15S10) in southern African chromosomes. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 19: 5097

COLMAN M-A, SHIBAHARA S, KWON B, JENKINS T (1991) Two allele Xbal RFLP at the catalase 2 locus. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 19: 960

CHINTAMANENI CD, RAMSAY M, <u>COLMAN M-A</u>, FOX MF, PICKARD RT, KWON BS (1991) Mapping the human CAS2 gene, the homologue of the mouse brown (b) locus to human chromosome 9p22-pter. <u>Biochem Biophys Res</u> <u>Commun</u> 178: 227-235

RAMSAY M, <u>COLMAN M-A</u>, STEVENS G, ZWANE E, KROMBERG JGR, FARRALL M, JENKINS T (1992) The tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism locus maps to chromosome 15q11-q12. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 51: 879-884

<u>COLMAN M-A</u>, STEVENS G, RAMSAY M, KWON B, JENKINS T. Exclusion of two candidate pigment loci, c and b, a chromosomal region, part of 11p, and 33 random polymorphic markers as the locus for tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism. <u>Hum Genet</u> (in press) MARQUES I, <u>COLMAN M-A</u>, STEVENS G, JENKINS T, RAMSAY M. Genetic variation at seven polymorphic loci in southern African populations. (In preparation)

<u>KEDDA M-A</u>, STEVENS G, RAMSAY M, VILJOEN C, JENKINS T. The tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism gene on chromsome 15q11-q13 shows locus homogeneity and evidence of multiple mutations in South African Negroids. (In preparation)

ų į

CHAPTER ONE

-]

r.

ċ

0

()

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Albinism is a heterogeneous group of conditions, characterised by a distinctive phenotype, usually involving generalised hypopigmentation and ocular abnormalities. Of the ten encosomal recessive types of albinism, tyrosinasenegative (ty-neg) and tyrosinase-positive (ty pos) oculocutaneous albinism (OCA) are the most commonly described types occurring in Caucasoids and Negroids. The gene for tyrosinase-negative albinism has been mapped to the tyrosinase locus on 11q14-q21, but the gene for tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism, the commonest type of albinism, was not known until recently. Since tyrosinasepositive oculocutaneous albinism occurs with a high frequency in southern African Negroids, a search for the disease gene was greatly facilitated by the availability of affected individuals and their families. The first chapter of this dissertation includes a literature review of albinism and the rationale behind the investigation of linkage to tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism.

1.1 An historical overview

The observable racial differences in pigmentation which have been studied by anthropologists depend upon skin, hair and eye colour. Theories to explain the causes of distinctively different patterns of geographic variation in skin colour are numerous (Riley 1972). Although the evidence is indirect, it is likely that natural selection is important (Livingstone 1969) and it has been proposed that increased pigmentation in areas of high solar radiation protects the skin from burning and from the carcinogenic effects of this radiation (Ainsworth-Harrison 1973).

The classical work of Edwards and Duntley (1939), showed that melanin distribution affects skin colour. Since melanin is synthesised by melanocytes in the basal layer of the epidermis, the hereditary factors regulating melanin

1

 $\mathcal{E}^{\mathbf{b}}$

synthesis and melanocyte distribution must determine racial colour variation, although external environmental factors such as ultraviolet light must also have an effect on skin colour (Ainsworth-Harrison 1973; Ortonne 1990). It has b en postulated that 3 to 4 genes are responsible for racial differences between black and white skin (Stern 1970), although there may be more (Ainsworth-Harrison 1973), and it is likely that the genetics of normal skin colour may be best related to a polygenic model with several major gencs.

The human pigmentary system is a complex set of dynamic cellular interactions and within this system there are multiple sites for dysfunction, each potentially resulting in a disorder of pigmentation. Albinism comprises a heterogeneous group of heritable disorders of the melanin pigmentary system. All forms of albinism are characterised by hypoplasia of the fovea, translucent frides, photophobia, nystagmus, decreased visual acuity, absence of binocular vision due to abnormal decussation of optic neurons at the chiasm, and decreased melanotic pigment in the skin, hair and eyes (oculocutaneous albinism) or eye (ocular albinism) (Witkop *et al.* 1989).

Albinism has been observed and described in Africa for nearly 2000 years. In the first century AD, Pliny (1942), referred to the *Leucoaethiopes* living in north Africa. The term "albino" is derived from the Latin adjective "albus", meaning "white", and was first applied to white Negroes in Africa by Belthazar Tellez (cited in Witkop *et al.* 1989). The intense visual sensitivity of albinos to sunlight led the eighteenth century Swedish naturalist, Linnaeus, to describe Negroid albinos as "*Homo nocturnus*", confined to their huts until twilight (Robins 1991). There are references to albinos in the Bible and in 1908, Sir Archibald Garrod speculated that albinism was an inborn error of metabolism. By 1913, albinism was a well characterised condition (Pearson *et al.* 1913).

Albinos are often referred to as *nkau* ("monkey") in southern Africa and by other derogatory terms elsewhere in Africa (Okoro 1975), although the origins of many

of these terms are unclear. Myths surround albinos, suggesting that they never die, have special divine protection and have particular medicinal skills. In the past, infants considered to be handicapped were often killed and infanticide of albino infants has been widely practised in Africa (Kromberg *et ...*^{*} 1987). More recently, however, attitudes are changing and superstitions have decreased as albinos become more widely accepted.

Ten different disorders of albinism can be distinguished on the basis of clinical, ultrastructural and biochemical criteria, by their tyrosinase activity, by their genetic characteristics as determined by matings of albinos of different genotypes, and by distribution in various populations (Witkop *et al.* 1989).

1.2 Pigment cell biology

Figure 1.1 illustrates the epidermal cells in human skin, including the melanocytes, keratinocytes and various epidermal cell layers, which are associated with melanin distribution.

1.2.1 The melanocyte

The melanocyte, derived from melanocyte precursor cells (melanoblasts), is a dendritic cell in the skin in which melanin biosynthesis occurs. The pigmented cells of the retina originate from the optic cup of the forebrain and all other pigment cells are derived from precursor cells in the embryonal neural crest. These cells migrate during melanogenesis, prior to birth, into hair follicles in the skin and into the uveal layer of the eye. Melanocytes are found predominantly within the basal layer of the epidermis and the matrix of the hair follicle, but are also found in the dermis, mucous membranes, the leptomeninges, the retina and uveal tract of the eye, and the cochlear and vestibular laby inth of the ear (Witkop *et al.* 1989).

Ð





C

寮

c,

It has been established that the same genes are responsible for pigment formation in the skin and eyes (Silvers 1979). Melanin pigments are formed within melanosomes, in the cytoplasm of the melanocyte. Deposition of melanin in the retina occurs primarily during embryogenesis, but in the skin it is a continuous process (Bolognia and Pawelek 1988). In the human epidermis, each melanocyte supplies melanin to an average of 36 keratinocytes in an "epidermal melanin unit" (Figure 1.1). Melanosomes are transferred to the cytoplasm of the keratinocyte when it phagocytoses the dendritic tip of the melanocyte and skin pigmentation is primarily determined by the amount of melanin transferred to the keratinocyte (Bolognia and Pawelek 1988).

Structural studies have shown little difference in the distribution of melanocytes in black and white skin. The intensity of pigment produced by the melanocytes, rather than the number of melanocytes, is thought to determine racial pigmentation differences (Ruley 1972; Witkop *et al.* 1989).

1.2.2 The melanosome

The melanosome is a cytoplasmic organelle, in the melanocytes and keratinocytes of the epidermis, in which melanin pigment biosynthesis occurs.

Melanosomes contain tyrosinase and several structural matrix proteins. They are formed by the incorporation of tyrosinase, synthesised on the ribosomes, and structural proteins, synthesised in the rough endoplasmic reticulum, into small, membrane-bound vesicles, budding from the endoplasmic reticulum. 'the structural proteins form a lamellar matrix within the melanosome upon which melanin is deposited (Bolognia and Pawelek 1988). The marure melanosomes migrate into the dendritic processes of the melanocyte. There are four stages in melanosomal development as the melanosome progresses from the perinuclear area of the melanocyte to the dendrites (Witkop *et al.* 1989). Stage I melanosomes are spherical and contain filaments and show no evidence of melanin deposition. Stage II melanosomes are oval and have numerous parallel longitudinal filaments, with little or no melanin deposition. Stage III melanosomes show tyrosinase activity and the internal structure is partially obscured by melanin deposition. Stage IV melanosomes show dense melanin pigmentation. Darkly pigmented skin has been shown to have more numerous, larger, singly dispersed, darker melanosomes than lighter skins (Bolognia and Pawelek 1988; Robins 1991). Tanning in normally pigmented skin results from an increase in the size of the melanosomal complexes and an increase in the amount of melanin in the melanosomes.

In normally pigmented skin there are two types of melanosome associated with different melanin pigments. Spherical phaeomelanosomes contain red/yellow phaeomelanin and ellipsoid eumelanosomes contain brown/black eumelanin (Bolognia and Pawelek 1988)

1.2.3 Melanin biosynthesis

Melanin is present in all animal species, fungi, bacteria and higher plants and appears to have many functions. A primary function is photoprotection, protecting against UV radiation by dissipating light energy as heat. Other functions may include thermoregulation and protection of other cell metabolites from photodestruction.

Melanin, and the metabolic roles of its precursors, are known to affect a number of biochemical, developmental. physiological and sensory-neural systems (Creel 1980). The melanin biosynthetic pathway is shown in Figure 1.2. Tyrosinase catalyses the hydroxylation of tyrosine to 3,4 dihydroxyphenylaianine (DOPA) and the oxidation of DOPA to dopaquinone.

Dopaquinone is then further metabolised to either yellow/red phaeomelanin or to black/brown eumelanin (Hearing and Jimenez 1989). In addition to tyrosinase, a dopachrome conversion factor, converting dopachrome to 5,6 dihydroxyindole-2-carboxylic acid (DHICA), has been recognised (Barber et al. 1984; Jackson et al. 1992; Tsukamoto et al. 1992).

7

1.2.4 Tyrosinase

Tyrosinase (monophenol monooxygenase, EC 1.14.18.1) is a multifunctional, copper-containing monophenol dihydroxyphenyalanine: oxygenoxidoreductase enzyme, with a dual catalytic activity. It catalyses two major reactions within the phaeomelanin and eumelanin biosynthetic pathways (Halaban *et al.* 1988; Takeda *et al.* 1989), as illustrated in Figure 1.2.

Anagen hairbuibs contain a local concentration of melanocytes and can be incubated in L-tyrosine or L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-dopa) to stimulate *in vitro* tyrosinase activity. The tyrosinase activity in incubated hairbulbs of differently pigmented individuals can be measured quantitatively using an assay measuring the tyrosine hydroxylase activity of tyrosinase, by the rate of formation of ³HOH with the oxidation of L-tyrosine to L-dopa (King and Witkop 1976). Tyrosinase activity can also be measured qualitatively by measuring the degree of darkening of the incubated hairbulb (Van Dorp *et al.* 1982). Tyrosinase activity has been found to vary considerably among normal individuals, both with the same and with different hair colour.



Figure 1.2 The melanin biosynthetic pathway (Tsukamoto et al. 1992).

Tyrosinase assays are often used to distinguish different types of OCA. Ty-neg OCA hairbulbs show no tyrosinase activity while ty-pos OCA hairbulbs contain moderate to large amounts of tyrosinase. Quantitative tyrosinase assays show broadly overlapping values between variously pigmented individuals and are thus not always a reliable indicator of tyrosinase or pigmentation status. Similarly, the qualitative test is not a particularly accurate diagnostic tool since there is variation in the degree of darkening among anagen hairbulbs of the same patient (Kugelman and Van Scott 1968; Van Dorp *et al.* 1982). Therefore, the hairbulb test alone is insufficient for classifying albinos (Van Dorp *et al.* 1982).

1.3 Ocular Albinism (OA)

Ocular albinism usually only involves the eyes, but may be associated with generalised decreased pigmentation.

X-linked ocular albinism (XOA) is a relatively rare heriditary eye disorder, characterized by hypopigmentation of the retina, decreased visual acuity, iris translucency and foveal hypoplasia in affected males (Witkop *et al.* 1989). Heterozygous females frequently show a mottled pigmentation in the periphery of the fundus as a result of Lyonisation (Bergen *et al.* 1991; Schnur *et al.* 1991) and occasionally a female will be as severely affected as a male (Witkop *et al.* 1989). This condition is due to a hereditary inborn error of pigment cell melanogenesis and linkage analysis places the XOA locus in the Xp22.2-p22.3 region (Schnur *et al.* 1991)

Features of the autosomal recessive ocular albinism (AROA) syndrome occur in both males and females and include decreased visual acuity, hypoplasia of the fovea, photophobia, nystagmus, strabismus and asymmetric monocular visual evoked potentials. Skin pigmentation is usually light but within normal limits (Witkop *et al.* 1989). XOA and AROA are not allelic since a mating between a male with XOA and a female with AROA produced an X-linked heterozygote with normal pigmentation. An interstitial deletion of 6q13-q15 has been associated with AROA and may thus be a candidate region for this condition (Rose *et al.* 1992). It has been postulated that AROA in Caucasoids represents the same genetic defect as the brown OCA seen in Negroids (Witkop *et al.* 1989).

1.4 Oculocutaneous Albinism (OCA)

Ten different types of OCA have been described (Witkop et al. 1989), of which 9 are autosomal recessive conditions, including 4 syndromes associated with metabolic defects other than a biochemical defect in the melanin biosynthetic pathway. The Hermansky-Pudlak Syndrome (HPS) and Chediak-Higashi Syndrome (CHS) both present with lysosomal defects and OCA. The black locks, albinism and deafness syndrome (BADS) and Cross Syndrome are characterised by an absence of melanocytes. Autosomal dominant OCA may represent a melanosomal structural protein defect (Witkop et al. 1989). The most common autosomal recessive types of OCA are types I and II. Type II, or tyrosinasepositive, OCA occurs more frequently than type I (tyrosinase-negative OCA) in both Caucasoids and Negroids.

1.4.1 Type I OCA

1.4.1.1 <u>Type IA/Tyrosinase-negative oculocutaneous albinism (ty-neg</u> OCA)

This type of albinism represents the typical Garrodian phenotype, with no clinically detectable pigment, no tyrosinase activity and only stages I and II melanocytes. Most type IA OCA individuals are phenotypically similar and although this type of albinism is the second most common in type in Caucasoids, it is rare in southern African Negroids. Ty-neg OCA in

humans is allelic to c-locus albinism in mice (Section 1.6.2.1.5).

Type IA OCA results from deficient tyrosinase activity. Several human tyrosinase cDNAs have been cloned (Kwon *et al.* 1987; Shibahara *et al.* 1988; Bouchard *et al.* 1989; Giebel *et al.* 1991a) and the 529 amino acid sequence of the protein is known. The tyrosinase gene is located on human chromosome 11q14-q21 (Barton *et al.* 1988) and consists of 5 exons and 4 introns, spanning more than 50kb of DNA (Tomita *et al.* 1989; Giebel *et al.* 1991a). Genetic linkage has been demonstrated between the tyrosinase gene and ty-neg OCA in families with the condition (Giebel *et al.* 1990a).

A tyrosinase-related sequence on chromosome 11p contains the sequences corresponding to tyrosinase exons 4 and 5 and the surrounding noncoding regions, and shows 2.6% homology with the tyrosinase gene (Giebel *et al.* 1991a). This segment may be part of a gene expressed in cells other than pigmented cells, or it may be a truncated and translocated tyrosinase pseudogene (Giebel *et al.* 1991a).

Many mutations have been identified in the tyrosinase gene of patients with typical ty-neg OCA (Tomita *et al.* 1989; Giebel *et al.* 1990a; Kikuchi *et al.* 1990; Spritz *et al.* 1990a; Chintamaneni *et al.* 1991a; Giebel *et al.* 1991b; Oetting *et al.* 1991; Spritz *et al.* 1991; Oetting *et al.* 1992; Tripathi *et al.* 1992). Giebel *et al.* (1991c) and King *et al.* (1991), have described a novel type I OCA in which the tyrosinase is thermosensitive, losing activity at 35-37°C, causing melanin distribution to be correlated with local body tempe.ature. This phenotype appears to be the human nomologue of the Siamers and Himalayan phenotypes.

11

ŵ
Most mutations associated with type I OCA cluster in 2 relatively small segments of the tyrosinase gene, homologous to the positions of clusters of murine mutations (Muller *et al.* 1988; Oetting *et al.* 1992), suggesting that these 2 sites code for the catalytic sites of the polypeptide (Tripathi *et al.* 1992a). It has been shown that all mutations ssulting in type IA OCA occur within the evolutionarily conserved region of the tyrosinase gene and mutations resulting in decreased pigment production occur within less well conserved regions of the tyrosinase gene.

1.4.1.2 Type IB oculocutaneous albinism/Yellow mutant

Type IB OCA was first descibed in an inbred Amish kindred (Nance et al. 1970). Affected individuals have yellow/yellow-red hair and mildly tanning, cream coloured skin, with decreased tyrosinase activity and melanin production. The hairbulb test is usually minimal and stage III melanocytes show little, uneven pigmentation (Witkop et al. 1989). The existence of type IA/IB compound heterozygotes and the occurrence of ty-neg OCA and yellow mutants within a single pedigree, suggested that these types are allelic (Hu et al. 1980; Giebel et al. 1991d) and tyrosinase gene RFLP analyses confirmed allelism of these types of albiaism. Sequence analysis of unrelated type IB albinos showed different tyrosinase alleles associated with this condition, producing "leaky" in vivo phenotypes, with greatly decreased tyrosinase activity (Giebel et al. 1991d).

1.4.1.3 Type IC oculocutaneous albinism/Minimal pigment/Platinum mutant

The minimal pigment (King et al. 1986) and platinum (Witkop et al. 1989) conditions are probably identical. Affected individuals are characterised primarily by a type IA phenotype, with the development of minimal amounts of iris pigment and phaeomelanin pigments in the hair with

increased age. Electron microscope studies show stage II premelanosomes with normal morphology. Tyrosinase activity is absent, so it has been postulated that a further allele at the tyrosinase locus is responsible for this phenotype, resulting in altered tyrosinase function and melanin distribution in the iris and hair (King *et al.* 1986).

1.4.2 Brown oculocutaneous albinism

Brown OCA is an autosomal recessive condition occurring in Negroids, and is characterised by a distinctive brown coloured skin which tans, brown hair and blue or brown eyes (Kromberg *et al.* 1990), and the ocular features of albinism. Little pigment accumulates with age in these individuals and hairbulb tyrosinase is normal, indicating that this condition is distinctly different from type I OCA. The melanocytes are structurally normal, although stage IV melanosomes contain reduced amounts of melanin. The phenotype and melanosome morphology suggest a block in the distal eumeianin pathway. It has been suggested that brown OCA in Negroids may be allelic to AROA in Caucasoids (Witkop *et al.* 1989).

1.4.3 <u>Rufous oculocutaneous albinism</u>

Red or rufous albinism is a recessively inherited condition first described by Pearson (1913). This condition has been observed in New Guinca (Walsh 1971), Africa and in AfroAmericans (Witkop *et al.* 1989). It is characterised by distinctive brick-red to mahogany skin, hazel to brown eyes and fair, ginger to red hair. Nystagmus and photophob $_{\infty}$ are present in about 10% of red albinos and visual evoked potentials (VEPs) are generally normal. The prevalence of rufous albinism is reported to be 1 in 8580, but may be higher in southern African Negroids. These individuals have normal melanosomes and melanocytes on electron micrograph studies (S. Kidson personal communication). Basal cell carcinoma has not been described in these individuals (Kromberg et al. 1990). The rufous hairbulbs show tyrosinase activity and thus the condition is not expected to be allelic to ty-neg OCA.

1.4.4 Type II/Tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism (ty-pos OCA)

1.4.4.1 Clinical features of ty-pos OCA

Ty-pos OCA is the commonest type of OCA in Africa, characterised by fair skin and an accumulation of phaeomelanin pigments with age, to give yellow/tan hair and light hazel/brown eyes as pigment accumulates in the irides. These individuals often have esotropic strabismus, and always present with nystagmus and photophobia (Figure 1.3). Visual acuity is decreased but is usually better than in ty-neg OCA. Matings between typos albinos and ty-neg albinos are complementary, illustrating that ty-pos OCA and ty-neg OCA are not allelic (Witkop *et al.* 1970).

Ty-pos OCA individuals in southern Africa present with two distinctly different phenotypes. Affected individuals in a family will be characterised by the presence or absence of clearly demarcated, pigmented patches or ephelides, particularly on sun-exposed areas (Kromberg *et al.* 1989) The presence of ephelides has been correlated with a lower risk of developing skin cancer, presumably as a result of the presence of melanin pigments offering photoprotection (Kromberg *et al.* 1989). These phenotypes are illustrated in Figures 1.3 and 1.4.

Ü



15

 $\tilde{\chi} \gamma$

r.

17

Figure 1.3 A family with three affected ty-pos OCA individuals, illustrating the fair skin and cream coloured has, strabismus and light coloured eyes, as compared to the normal Negroid phenotype.

ł



Ĵ

Figure 1.4 Two phenotypically different ty-pos OCA individuals. The individual on the right has ephelides on the sun-exposed areas of skin, while the individual on the left has no cumelanin pigmentation, despite obvious sun exposure.

Ð.

Quantitative and qualitative hairbulb incubation tests show evidence of tyrosinase activity and frequently show a few discernible pigment grains in stage III melanosomes. Ty-pos OCA heterozygotes are not clinically or biochemically detectable, although skin reflectance studies suggest that typos OCA heterozygotes have lighter skins than normal controls. However, this test is also not sensitive enough to be applied in the diagnosis of the non-carrier state (Roberts et al. 1986). Tyrosinase assays show that normally pigmented ty-pos OCA heterozygotes may have markedly reduced or absent tyrosinase activity in hairbulb melanocytes. It is postulated that these individuals do not have soluble tyrosinase but that all the tyrosinase is membrane-bound and thus the heterozygous individual is normally pigmented (King and Witkop 1977), Ty-pos OCA heterozygotes cannot be identified reliably using the hairbulb tyrosinase assay, due to the overlap between normally pigmented controls and heterozygotes (Van Dorp et al. 1982; King and Olds 1985).

Until recently, the basic defect in ty-pos OCA was unknown. Serum copper levels and serum β -MSH levels are normal, as are the serum levels of tyrosine and phenylalanine. Tyrosinase activity in the hairbulb demonstrates normal uptake of the substrate by melanocytes and tyrosinase activities of hairbulbs range from normal to a 4-fold increase from hairbulbs of normally pigmented individuals (Witkop *et al.* 1989). If the defect is biochemical, it would appear to exist in the distal eumelanin pathway (King and Olds 1985).

1.4.4.2 Prevalence of ty-pos OCA

The overall prevalence of ty-pos OCA is approximately 1 in 3900 in southern African Negroids. The prevalence varies amongst populations, rising to as high as 1 in 2000 in the Tswana and the south Sotho, and to 1 in 4500 in the Zulu (Kromberg and Jenkins 1982). The high rates of

albinism in the Swazi and Sotho-Tswana people can be correlated with the high rate of consanguinity practised by these groups. In the Zulu people, consanguineous marriages are discouraged. Obligatory heterozygotes for ty-pos OCA are often lighter skinned than the general population and, since light skin colour is a desirable characteristic in some ethnic groups, carriers may be at a selective advantage. Grandparents of albinos have been shown to have slightly increased fertility, while albinos generally have lower fertility, which may be the result of physiological problems or due to difficulties with social acceptance (Kromberg 1987).

1.4.4.3 Visual anomalies

ŧ.

Individuals with ty-pos OCA have characteristic visual disturbances (Creel 1980), including congenital nystagmus, strabismus, photophobia and monocular vision (Apkarian *et al.* 1983). The monocular vision is secondary to abnormalities in the optic pathways connecting the retina and the geniculate nuclei. In vertebrates with binocular vision, there is an increase in the number of ipsilateral fibres from the temporal ratina, allowing impulses from corresponding points on the two retinas to project to the same area of the brain (Drager 1986). In vertebrates with all types of albinism, there is a decrease or absence of the homolateral fibres (Figure 1.5). Electrophysiological VEP tests (Creel *et al.* 1974; Apkarian *et al.* 1983; Kriss *et al.* 1990) reveal nondecussated optic tracts in albinos and may be used to confirm a diagnosis of albinism.

It has been postulated that embryonic optic routing in albinos may be affected by: an absence of the active role of melanin at the embryonic optic chiasm in optic development; an error in ontogenic timing when retinal ganglion fibres initially course through the chiasma; a lack of genetic control which is correlated with melanin pigment; chemical influences on the neurons in the optic stalk (Creel *et al.* 1990).



Figure 1.5 Schematic representation of i) normal routing of optic nerve fibres and ii) albino routing of optic nerve fibres (Creel et al. 1990).

 $\langle c \rangle$

Cats, heterozygous for the c (albino) gene, have similar decussation abnormalities as cats homozygous for this gene, thus it has been suggested that visual pathway anomalies in the presence of an albino gene may not be the result of hypopigmentation, but a pleiotropic effect of the gene. However, individuals with X-linked and autosomal recessive ocular albinism have identical visual pathway abnormalities to those in OCA, as do some Prader-Willi/Angelman Syndrome patients, suggesting that lack of pigment is the cause of fibre misrouting (Creel *et al.* 1990). The decrease in homolateral fibres in albinos is thought to occur as a result of lack of pigment in the optic stalk during embryonal development (Lund 1986; Creel *et al.* 1990).

Excess light scatter results in photophobia and the presence of hypoplastic fovea decreases visual acuity and causes nystagmus (Bolognia and Pawelek 1988). Retinal image quality is adversely affected by the presence of nystagmus, high refractive errors and intra-ocular light scatter, as well as neuroanatomical abnormalities, including increased spacing of the central cones, foveal hypoplasia and the misrouting of ganglion cell axons at the chiasma (Abadi *et al.* 1990; Creel *et al.* 1990; Guillery 1990). Stabismus is likely to occur as a result of misdirected ocular reflexes (Witkop *et al.* 1982).

Obligatory ty-pos OCA heterozygotes seldom, if ever, have detectable visual anomalies, despite the finding that these carriers have significantly lighter skins than normal controls (Castle *et al.* 1988). Visual acuity is reduced in ty-pos OCA and although visual function within a family is usually consistent, it may have variable expression, and thus homozygous affected relatives may not always be identified by reduced visual acuity and nystagmus (Summers *et al.* 1991).

1.4.4.4 Auditory anomalies

There are many cases of an association between congenital abnormalities of the inner ear and abnormal body pigmentation (Creel 1980), including a report of a mild case of Angelman syndrome, light pigmentation and sensorineural hearing loss (Williams *et al.* 1989a).

Human albinos have abnormal auditory evoked potentials, localised to the brain stem relays of the auditory pathway (Creel 1980) and the nerve cells in the albino brain stem relays are abnormally small (Guillery 1990). It is not known whether the absence of melanin affects auditory pathway development (Witkop *et al.* 1982) or whether the auditory abnormalities are a pleiotropic effect of the ty-pos OCA gene.

1.4.4.5 Skin cancer

Apart from optical and auditory disorders, the major medical problems for the African albino are associated with hypopigmented skin and the consequent suseptibility to basal and squamous cell carrinomas (Okoro 1975; Kromberg *et al.* 1989). Susceptibility to skin cancer in southern Africa increases with age, with over 31% of albinos exhibiting lesions by the end of the second decade and 42% by the end of the third decade (Kromberg *et al.* 1989). The risk in sub-Saharan Africa appears to be less than at the equator. In Nigeria, it was found that every albino over 20 years of age had premalignant or malignant lesions (Okoro 1975).

1.4.4.6 Counselling issues

Psychosocial attitudes of southern African albinos appear to be reasonably positive and they seem to be well accepted in the present day communities. However, few albinos ever marry (Kromberg and Jenkins 1984) and some have psychosomatic symptoms, possibly related to their appearance differing from their normally pigmented contemporaries. The birth of an albino infant is often emotionally upsetting for the mother and it may take up to 2-3 months for bonding to occur between the mother and the albino child (Kromberg *et al.* 1987). It is widely believed among Negroid peoples that albinos do not die, but simply vanish. This myth may be related to the special signifiance some local Negro groups attach to the colour white (Kromberg and Jenkins 1984). Despite poor vision, the intelligence level of the ty-pos albino is normal (Kromberg 1987).

Counselling should include descriptions of the basic genetic defect, details of the phenotype including poor vision and possible skin lesions, and inheritance. Myths and superstitions should be discussed, along with community an social attitudes (Kromberg and Jenkins 1984). Clinics should encourage the use of anti-actinic cream, particularly to sun-exposed areas, the use of hats and long-sleeved clothes and trousers and avoidance of direct sunlight, in order to reduce the risks of skin cancer (Kromberg *et al.* 1989).

1.4.4.7 Prenatal diagnosis

Prenatal diagnosis of albinism may be based upon hairbulb fetoscopy between the 16th and 20th weeks of pregnancy, and detection of melanosome development. In the case of ty-neg OCA, it could be done by direct tyrosinase gene analysis and for ty-pos OCA, by linkage analysis to markers on chromosome 15. It is important to establish which type of OCA is present since there is locus heterogeneity of ty-pos OCA in Caucasoids (Tripathi *et al* 1992). In Australia, prenatal diagnosis has been requested and would presumably lead to termination of pregnancy in some cases, should an affected foetus be found (Haynes and Robertson 1981). In southern Africa, the cultural views on prenatal diagnosis and abortion

would have to be taken into accornt and investigated in some detail should the diagnostic test become available. However, with appropriate counselling and care, albinos should be able to live relatively normal lives (Taylor 1987) and prenatal diagnosis may not become a regular requirement.

1.5 Chromosomal localisation of a gene locus

The human haploid genome $(^{2}x10^{9})$ nucleotides) is thought to contain 50 000 to 100 000 functional genes (Bodmer 1981). In an attempt to identify these genes, the human gene mapping project (the Human Genome Project) was initiated. The final goal of this project is to determine the sequence of the genome (Watson 1990), beginning with genetic maps and physical mapping and eventually generating the entire DNA sequence (Dawson and Singer 1990).

To date, the chromosomal positions of more than 4000 genes are known (Watson 1990) and recombinant DNA technology has enabled the cloning and analysis of a few hundred disease genes within the last 15 years. Most of the genes were isolated either by "functional cloning" or "positional cloning" (previously known as the "reverse genetics" approach). "Functional cloning" depends upon the availability of information about the protein product and/or function(s) of the responsible gene and mapping of this gene follows cloning. "Positional cloning" and determination of gene function occur after the gene has been mapped (Collins 1992).

Gene identification by positional cloning begins with the collection of pedigrees in which the gene responsible for a distinct phenotype segregates with a known pattern of inheritance. These families are studied with multiple polymorphic markers until linkage is found with one or more of these markers. Additional fine mapping with other markers in the region further defines the position of the locus. Then, using closely linked markers, a physical map may be generated using pulsed field electrophoresis (Wicking and Williamson 1991), and eventually the gene of interest will be identified.

31

Positional cloning is often a time-consuming process (Friedmann 1991). The development of new techniques, such as cosmid and YAC cloning, have greatly increased the size of cloned sequences for analysis and thus decreased the time needed to find a gene. Coding sequences may be detected by cross-species homology, northern blotting and cDNA library screening. Once a coding sequence is identified, the DNA sequence can be determined and it will be possible to search for mutations or functionality, based upon previously sequenced genes.

1.5.1 Polymorphism in the human genome

Genetic polymorphism has been defined as the occurrence together in the same locality of two or more discontinuous forms of a species in such proportions that the rarest of these cannot be maintained merely by recurrent mutation (Ford 1940, cited in Harris 1980). More recently, the term has been defined as the occurrence of multiple alleles at a locus, where at least two alleles appear with frequencies greater than 1% (Bodmer and Cavalli-Sforza 1976). Alleles occurring with a frequency of less than 1% are called rare variants (Meisler 1983). Locus variation may have selectional significance, or be selectively neutral and over 2300 polymorphisms have been described in the human genome (Williamson *et al.* 1991).

The study of human variation provides information on our evolutionary history and is essential for genetic analysis (Bowcock and Cavalli-Sforza 1990). To date, most work on human evolution has been carried out on "classical" or non-DNA polymorphisms, including blood groups, serum proteins and red cell enzyme polymorphisms. Variability in human DNA can be in the form of single nucleotide substitutions or involve more nucleotides in insertion/deletion rearrangements. It is often assumed that, since coding regions of the genes are conserved, most variation detectable at the DNA level occurs in the noncoding regions and is genetically neutral. Advantageous mutations are more likely to be fixed by natural selection. Therefore, the more variability found in a sequence, the less likely it is to be of functional importance (Bowcock and Cavalli-Sforza 1990).

Botstein *et al.* (1980), proposed that differences in the DNA sequence behave like allelic variants of a gene and may therefore be used as genetic markers. Using the technique described by Southern (1975), these differences can be detected by the use of restriction enzymes, cutting the DNA at specific sites and resulting in DNA fragments of different lengths which will migrate differentially on electrophoresis. These fragments are seen as bands in different positions, representing different alleles. Polymorphisms obtained in this manner are called restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs). Most RFLPs presumably have no physiological functions and are thus wellsuited for use as genetic markers (Ott 1991). RFLPs are generally caused by single nucleotide changes, resulting in the loss or gain of a restriction endonuclease recognition site, but may result frum a variable number of tandem repeats (VNTRs) of a relatively short oligonucleotide sequence (Nakamura *et al.* 1987a).

The human genome contains many repetitive DNA sequences which are polymorphic in length because of variability in the number of repeat units in a tandemly repeated sequence. Hypervariable regions with tandem repeats of more than two nucleotides are known as variable number tandem repeats (VNTRs) (Nakamura *et al.* 1987a) or isatellites (Jeffreys *et al.* 1985), by analogy to the larger, similarly structured segments of satellite DNA (Jarman and Higgs 1988). Hypervariable regions with tandem repeats of two

nucleotides are known as microsatellites or dinucleotide repeats (Litt and Luty 1989) or simple sequence length polymorphisms (Smeets et al. 1989).

Hypervariable regions have been shown to have a common core sequence with strong homology to a recombinational botspot in *E. coli* (Jeffreys *et al.* 1985) and in mouse (Steinmetz *et al.* 1986). It is postulated that variability at minisatellite loci is generated by a recombination signal based on the minisatellite core sequence, promoting unequal crossing-over in mitosis and meiosis (Wolff *et al.* 1988). It is not clear to what extent interallelic unequal exchange is involved in generating variability. Unequal sister chromatid exchange and replication slippage may also result in minisatellite mutation (Jeffreys *et al.* 1985; Jeffreys *et al.* 1990).

Tandem repetitive minisatellite regions in human DNA frequently snow substantial allelic variability in the number of repeat units and thus provide highly informative genetic markers. Allele patterns at several different minisatellite loci can be used to generate a DNA "profile" of an individual.

The usefulness of VNTRs (or short tandem repeats with a repeat unit of more than two nucleotides) is limited by the fact that they are not randomly distributed in the human genome, but are preferentially located in the telomeric regions of chromosomes, where there are high rates of recombination (Nakamura *et al.* 1988).

Microsatellites (or dinucleotide repeats) are evenly distributed throughout the human genome and each locus may show up to 99% informativity (Wong *et al.* 1987). Each microsatellite consists of a variable number of the dinucleotide repeat units $(dC-dA)_n$, or $(dG-dT)_n$, where n ranges from 10 to 60. Approximately 50 COO-100 000 copies of these repeats are proposed to exist in the genome and, on average, are distributed every 30-60kb. Polymorphisms due to variable numbers of the CA dinucleotide, were first

described by Weber and May (1989) and Litt and Luty (1989). Alleles differ by 2bp and can be s a polyacrylamide gels after PCR amplification. Generally, the longer the CA repeat, the greater the probability that it is polymorphic and the higher the heterozygosity at that locus (Wolff *et al.* 1988; Weber 1990).

S.

 \sim

The role(s) of CA repeats are unknown, but they may be involved in gene conversion and chromosomal rearrangements and they are postulated to determine the formation of Z DNA (Hamrda *et al.* 1984). Since tracts of $d(GA)_n.d(TC)_n$ are evenly distributed in most eukaryotic genomes, they may play a role in various biological processes, including replication or recombination (Wahis *et al.* 1990), transcription or chromatin organisation (Yee *et al.* 1991). These sequences may mediate their biological function *in vivo* by the formation of triple-stranded DNA structures or through direct DNA-protein interactions (Yee *et al.* 1991).

Hypervariable loci have been found to have high mutation rates, and minisatellite loci with heterozygosities of 99% have been reported to have mutation rates of up to 5% between 2 generations (Jeffreys *et al.* 1988b). CA repeat sequences may change due to the loss or gain of a dinucleotide or the insertion/deletion of a longer segment. Actual evolutionary mutation rates in CA repeat sequences may be deceptively low (Bowcock and Cavalli-Sforza 1990), depending if recurrent mutations give rise to identical alleles. However, some groups postulate that CA repeats may in fact be stable through evolution and are thus useful for population studies and in forensic applications (Sherrington *et al.* 1991).

Pc', morphisms have been traditionally detected using serological and Southern blotting techniques. Recently, RFLPs and VNTRs have been shown to be more rapidly and accurately detected by the polymerase chain reaction (PCR), where high fidelity amplification of a single locus is possible (Jeffreys

et al. 1988a, 1990),

The PCR is an *in vitro* method of selectively amplifying many copies of a specific nucleic acid sequence in a reaction mixture, first described by Saiki *et al.* (1986). The amplification reaction involves denaturation of double-stranded DNA to separate the strands, annealing of the primers and extension of these primers by the DNA polymerase. These steps are repeated for many cycles, resulting in a linear accumulation of intermediately lengthed template and an exponential accumulation of the target sequence. such that only the latter is detected once the reaction is completed. It has been shown that fragments up to 3000 nucleotides are easily amplified under standard conditions, however, with longer extension steps, fragments as large as 10 200 nucleotides have been produced (Jeffreys *et al.* 1988a). PCR is designed to show great specificity to its intended target sequence and simultaneous use of multiple primer pairs allows for coamplification of multiple products (Bloch 1991).

Since PCR theoretically only requires a single molecule of DNA for successful amplification, it has been shown to have many varied uses, often with low quality, low concentration DNA samples, and the products can be visualised directly on both agarose and polyacrylamide gels after amplification. Disadvantages of PCR include the necessity of having known target flanking sequences, easy amplification of contaminants and infidelity of the *Taq* polymerase enzyme, which results in 0.3-0.8% accumulated nutations after 20-30 cycles (Keohavong and Thilly 1989). The latter is only of particular importance if the PCR product is to be used for cloning, although it may also be significant in the detection of CA repeat polymorphisms.

1.5.2 Genetic linkage analysis

The use of genetic data to determine linkage is a scientific inference procedure which draws information about the relative distance between two loci on a chromosome from the segregation of alleles in nuclear families or pedigrees (Tai and Song 1991).

If two alleles at two loci on a single chromosome are inherited independently of one another, then offspring receiving these two alleles in the same order in which they occurred in a single grandparent, are referred to as *nonrecombinants*. If two different grandparents contribute one allele at each of the two loci, then the offspring is called a *recombinant*. If these two loci appear to be genetically coupled, in other words, they are passed from grandparents to following generations with the same combination of alleles more frequently than expected, these loci are said to be genetically linked, or in linkage disequilibrium (not segregating at random within the population).

The extent of genetic linkage is measured by the recombination fraction, which is the probability that a gamete produced by a parent is a recombinant. The recombination fraction is traditionally referred to as Θ (*theta*). Loci segregating independently are *unlinked* and are characterised by a recombination fraction of $\Theta=0.5$, whereas *linked* genes are characterised by $\Theta<0.5$. Theta approaches zero for closely linked genes, when recombination occurs rarely between them.

Genetic linkage analysis investigates the genetic distance between disease genes and polymorphic marker loci (genetic entities following a Mendelian mode of inheritance) and requires i) linkage analysis in related individuals over several generations ii) informativity at a locus, where parents are heterozygous at that locus iii) distinctions between male and female recombination fractions, due to different recombination rates between the two sexes, where crossing-over is usually more frequent in the homogametic (female, XX) sex (Haldane 1922, reviewed in Ott 1991).

A linkuge group is defined as a set of loci in which each locus is linked with at least one other locus in the same set. Loci located on the same chromosome are said to be syntenic. In meiosis, homologous chromosomes pair and exchange genetic material in the process of crossing-over, to result in recombinant chromosomes which will be passed to the offspring. The occurrence of crossing-over is semi-random and can be used to construct genetic maps. The further apart two loci occur, the more likely they are to recombine. The genetic map distance (in units of Morgans) between two genes is defined as the expected number of cross-overs occurring between the two genes. Recombinations are the observable effects of crossing-over and may therefore be counted as cross-overs. Thus the recombination fraction between two loci is approximately equal to the distance (in Morgans) between them, for example if the recombination fraction is 6%, $\Theta = 0.06$, then the joci are approximately 0.06 Morgans apart, or 6cM apart. Theta cannot be additive as a distance measure between multiple loci, as multiple cross-overs are likely to have occurred between these loci. Since map distance is a genetic distance, it is a measure of the observed number of cross-overs between two loci and does not necessarily correlate directly with physical distance.

A marker's usefulness for linkage analysis depends upon the number of its alleles and their frequencies (its degree of polymorphism). The degree of polymorphism may be measured in terms of *heterozygosity* (H), when

$$H = 1 - \Sigma p_i^2$$

and where p is the population frequency of the ith allele and H gives the probability that a random individual is heterozygous for any two alleles at a locus with allele frequencies p_i .

Another measure of the degree of polymorphism is the polymorphism information content (PIC) value (Botstein et al. 1980), calculated as

PIC = $2 \Sigma_i \Sigma_j p_i p_j$ (i - $p_i p_j$) where Σ_i is the sum of i from 1 to n-1 and Σ_j is the sum of i+1 to n, p is the population frequency of the ith and jth allele and the PIC is the probability that the marker genotype of a given offspring will allow deduction of which of the two marker alleles of the parents it has received.

The number of families required to find linkage to a disease marker can be calculated using the various characteristics of the disease genotype, including mode of inheritance and penetrance. The number of meioses for which the phase is known and which will provide evidence for linkage, can be calculated knowing the mode of inheritance of the trait (Ott 1991). Unknown phase adds one offspring to each sibship and marker heterozygosity determines the frequency with which a parent is potentially informative for linkage (Ott 1991).

1.5.2.1 Two-point linkage analysis

The statistical techniques used in current linkage analysis are mostly based on maximum likelihood (Z) estimation and likelihood ratio testing (Ott 1991). The phenotypes in a pedigree imply the underlying genotypes in such a way that the recombination events can be scored unambiguously. If the parental phases are unknown, then the recombination fraction can be estimated using the maximum likelihood method (Ott 1991). This method calculates the probability of occurrence of the data for a variety of assumed values of Θ and selects that Θ value associated with the highest likelihood as the best estimate or odds for linkage. It is usually convenient to work with the logarithm of the likelihood or odds (*lod*) rather than the likelihood ratio. Linkage programs permit relatively easy calculations of lod scores and take into account all variables, such as multiple alleles at a single locus, multigeneration pedigrees, varying penetrances and missing information. The first generally available program to compute likelihoods numerically in large pedigrees was LIPED (for LIkelihood in PEDigrees) (Ott 1974), which is based on the Elston-Stewart algorithm (cited in Ott 1991) and allows for the calculation of two point lod scores.

The LINKAGE programs (Lathrop et al. 1984) which were originally developed for gene mapping use the Elston-Stewart algorithm and are presently available for general pedigree analysis (Ott 1991). The MLINK program calculates likelihoods by stepwise variation of the recombination fraction in one of the interlocus intervals and it computes genetic risks. The number of loci which can be jointly analysed is limited by the memory of the computer and, under MS-DOS available 00 microcomputers, only allows for analysis of a total of 12 alleles simultaneously (Ott 1991). A major difference between the LL TD and LINKAGE programs is in the definition of penetrance. LIPED uses penetrance in a general sense, while in LINKAGE penetrance is the probability of being affected given a genotype (Ott 1991). These programs differ also in the use of male and female recombination fractions, with LIPED using both parameters directly and LINKAGE outputting both male and female thetas required.

Positive lod scores indicate evidence for linkage and negative lod scores indicate absence of linkage. When linkage exists, the lod scores are cummulative with the addition of more families. The critical value said to convey significant evidence for linkage is denoted by the maximum likelihood, Z=3 (Morton 1955). Two loci for which the lod score is less than or equal to -2 are not considered to be linked, in other words, linkage between these loci is excluded.

Traditionally, linkage analyses have been carried out as a sequence of pairwise (two-point) comparisons between a trait locus and each of a number of marker loci. However, with the linkage map becoming denser, the simultaneous use of several loci (multipoint analysis) is gaining importance. With many loci, the order of the loci is important and the number of parameters considered increases. The order of the loci is defined by the map distances cr recombination fractions among them and the most likely order of the loci within a linkage group can be calculated. This ordering may be done by two point linkage analysis for each locus pair and the addition of new loci in a stepwise fashion (Ott 1991). Multipoint linkage is often limited by micro-computer capacity.

1.5.3 Gene Mapping

1.5.3.1 Genetic linkage maps

Genetic linkage maps are based on the coinheritance of allele combinations across multiple loci. Using two-point linkage data generated by the LINKAGE program, a genetic linkage map can be constructed around closely linked loci. This map is based upon the number of recombinations between the loci, which can be correlated with the genetic map distance between them (Section 1.5.2). Since a genetic linkage map is based upon recombination fractions, it may not necessarily correlate directly with physical maps, since some regions of the genome may be associated with higher rates of recombination than others, generating socalled "recombinational hotspots" (Ott 1991). Since the number of crossovers is roughly correlated with the distance between two loci, increased recombination between these loci will place them genetically further apart than will a physical map. Thus genetic and physical maps should be constructed simultaneously in order to define a region accurately.

.33

Once the position of a gene is known, the frequency of the alleles of the closest markers may be catendated in order to determine whether there is allelic association. Edwards (1980), has proposed the term fallelic association" for a deviation from gametic phase equilibrium for alleles in linkage disequilibrium. Tight linkage between a narker and a disease locus will maintain linkage disequilibrium. Linked loci tend to show allelic association when the recombination fraction between them is less than 2% (Ott 1991).

Closely linked polymorphic markers are inherited together in a certain physical order. The pattern of inheritance of alleles at these markers is called a *haplotype*. Haplotypes generated using RFLP markers around the ty-pos OCA locus in affected individuals, assuming these markers are selectively neutral and situated close together, may be used to assess whether the mutation *z*. locus arose once in a relatively recent common ancestor (if a single or a few haplotypes occur with a significantly high frequency) or whether the mutation had multiple origins (many haplotypes associated with the mutant allele). The latter may also represent a single mutation which arose in the distant past and around which the surrounding markers have since undergone more mutations, generating many different haplotypes associated with the original mutation.

Haplotypes increase the information content of a chromosomal region, as in the study of the cluster of polymorphisms surrounding the cystic fibrosis mutation (Estivill *et al.* 1987) and the polymorphic restriction sites in the vicinity of the β -globin gene cluster (Antonarakis *et al.* 1985). The sickle cen mutation, associated mainly with three β -globin haplotypes in Africa, has been used to show the multicentric origin of the sickle cell haemoglobin gene (Pagnier *et al.* 1984) and association with a single major haplotype in the Bantu-speakers provided the first biological evidence for the common ancestry of these people (Ramsay and Jenkins 1987).

34

1.5.3.2 Physical Maps

1.5.3.2,1 Use of somatic cell hybrids

The construction of a physical map of the human genome has been dramatically aided by the isolation of moderately sized regions of DNA within interspecific somatic cell hybrids (SCH) containing a single human chromosome or part of a chromosome. These hybrids are useful for DNA library construction from chromosomal regions (Warburton *et al.* 1990). Monochromosomal rodent-human hybrids often use aneuploid human cell lines as donors, although the human chromosomal complement must be carefully characterised, especially if rearrangements are present. Lymphoblastoid cell lines are good donors of human chromosomes, and do not undergo chromosomal rearrangements (Warburton *et al.* 1990).

In order to map a marker to a chromosome, a panel of SCH with overlapping and unique chromosomal complements is required. Hybridisation of restriction enzyme-digested DNA from this panel of SCH with the marker of interest, will show rodent-specific hybridisation patterns as well as human-specific hybridisation patterns. Using well-characterised SCH lines, a process of deduction will enable the marker to be localised to a particular chromosome. Once the chromosome of interest has been identified, hybridisation of the marker to SCH containing different, known parts of this chromosome can be used to further define the subchromosomal region to which it maps. Similarly, if the marker is thought to map within a syntenic region on a particular chromosome, SCH containing the whole chromosome or known parts thereof can be used to confirm or negate this theory.

1.5.3.2.2 Other mapping techniques

Physical maps can be cytogenetically or molecularly based. Cytogenetically based maps order loci with respect to visible banding patterns or relative position along the chromosome by SCH data and use of *in situ* hybridisation. Molecularly based maps directly characterise large regions of DNA by establishing molecular landmarks such as restriction endonuclease recognition sites or sequence tagged sites (STSs). These maps are usually constructed from data generated by pulsed field gel electrophoresis or other techniques which enable sizing and ordering of large restriction fragments of DNA. Characterisation of cloned DNA (in YACs or cosmids) results in the establishment of overlapping assemblages of large clones, called contigs (Stephens *et al.* 1990), which enable physical analysis of larger pieces of DNA, thus generating more information with less preparative work.

1.6 Approaches to the chromosomal localisation of the ty-pos OCA locus

When this study was initiated, the ty-pos OCA locus had not yet been localised and since the biochemical defect was unknown, a linkage study was undertaken. Three different linkage approaches were used: searching for linkage between typos OCA and random serogenetic and DNA markers; determining linkage between candidate pigment genes and the ty-pos OCA locus; establishing linkage between candidate chromosomal regions and ty-pos OCA. Although the number of potential candidate cDNAs may be relatively small, the candidate gene approach often reveals the gene of interest without necessitating physical and genetic mapping (Collins 1992). Once linkage had been found between ty-pos OCA and any marker or chromosomal region, genetic and fine physical mapping would follow and, ultimately, the gene would be cloned.

The presence of visible cytogenetic rearrangements which interrupt or delete a disease locus greatly facilitate gene mapping of that locus (Wicking and Williamson 1991). Ty-pos OCA has been reported in an individual with a balanced translocation, 46, XY, t(2;4)(q31.2;q31.22), and it was postulated that there may be a locus for ty-pos OCA in the q31 region of either chromosome 2 or chromosome 4 (Walpole and Mulcahy 1991).

Gene mapping is often facilitated by the concurrence of two conditions within a single individual or within a family, which may indicate that the two conditions are genetically linked. It has been postulated that linkage exists between albinism and schizophreniform psychosis, on the basis of the concurrence of the conditions in a single family (Baron 1976). The occurrence of cerebellar ataxia and albinism in a single family may suggest that the genes responsible for these conditions are in synteny with one another (Bamezai *et al.* 1987). The oculocerebral syndrome (Cross Syndrome) and generalised hypopigmentation have been found to occur together in single individuals, suggesting that these conditions may be genetically linked (Castle *et al.* 1989; Pessagno *et al.* 1992). However, these conditions have not yet been mapped and it is not always clear which type of OCA was associated with each condition. Thus the association between the conditions and ty-pos OCA is still vague.

1.6.1 Random markers

Often, a linkage study will be initiated using random polymorphic markers scattered throughout the genome, in an attempt to establish linkage to a chromosome containing any of these markers. If linkage is found between a random marker and a disease, other markers in the region will be used, in an attempt to fine map the region surrounding the gene. With the introduction of the ty-pos OCA linkage study, several random serogenetic and DNA markers from different chromosomes were studied in the ty-pos OCA families.

37

1.6.2 Comparative mapping

17

~

Mutations in mice have been instrumental in the identification of a number of structura¹ and regulatory genes involved in various aspects of human development, including pigmentation (Searle *et al.* 1989). Genes affecting coat colour and pigmentation in mice were among the first to be studied for Merdelian inheritance. More than 150 mutations at more than 50 pigment loci have been described in the mouse (Silvers 1979) and human pigmentation may be equally complex.

Those loci associated with dec eased pigmentation in mice, and for which the phenotype could be correlated with the ty-pos OCA phenotype, include the pink-eyed dilute (p), agouti (A), extension (E), dilute (d), albino (c), brown (b) and slaty (Slt) loci (Silvers 1979). The proteins encoded by the last three genes (c, b, Slt) form a tyrosinase protein family (Jackson *et al.* 1992). The pigment genes follow a Mendelian pattern of inheritance and produce a wide range of specific effects on features including the origin and development of melanoblasts, the shape and size of melanosomes, the biosynthesis of tyrosinase and melanosome transfer (Robins 1991). The human homologues of all these genes may thus be investigated for their role, if any, in the ty-pos OCA phenotype.

1.6.2.1 Candidate loci

1.6.2.1.1 Pink-eyed dilution (p)

The *pink-eyed dilution* locus (p) is defined by one of the carliest known coat-colour mutations in the mouse. The wild-type allele (+) generates intense pigmentation in both the coat and eyes. At least 13 recessive alleles at this locus reduce eumelanin pigmentation in the coat and eyes, with little effect on phaeomelanin pigmentation (Silvers 1979). In

addition to pigmentation, some p allele. Affect reproduction, development and behaviour. It has been suggested that these pleiotropic effects may occur as a result of multilocus deletions altering both the p gene and other genes adjacent to it (Lyon *et al.* 1992). A nested set of deletions around the p locus has been characterised and used in complementation studies to construct a functional map of the region (Lyon *et al.* 1992).

 $\langle \rangle$

A syntenic relationship has been demonstrated between gene markers closely linked to the p locus on mouse chromosome 7 and human chromosomes 11 and 1" (Figure 1.6, Section 1.6.2.2.1) (Searle et al. 1989; Saunders and 'eldin 1940; Chaillet et al. 1991; Nadeau et al. 1991). The p region is of particular interest as a result of its homology with the Prader-Willi/Angelman Syndrome (PWS/AS) region on human chromosome 15q11-q13 (Nakatsu et al. 1997), since these syndromes are often associated with hypopigmentation (Section 1.6.2.2.2) The region of homology includes the GABRB3 gene mapped close to the p locus in mouse and in the PWS/AS region in man (Wagstaff et al. 1991). If the genes mediating the pleitropic effects of certain p mutations in mouse have homologues in a conserved linkage group on human chromosome 15g11-g13, they may also be involved in some of the ple otropic effects of the PWS/AS regime, including the common neurological features (Lyon et al. 1992). Myladons at the human homologue of the mouse p locus have been proposed to result in a ty-pos OCA phenotype (Brumbaugh et al. 1979; Witkop 1985; Brilliant et al. 1991; Nakatsu et al. 1992; Ramsay et al. 1992; Rinchik et al. 1993).

The p-unstable (put) allele

The *p*-unstable (p^{un}) allele apparently only affects pigmentation and produces a phenotype consisting of areas of dilute and intense pigmentation, which seem to occur as a result of a spontaneous reversion to wild-type at a relatively high frequency in all stages of development (Silvers 1979; Brilliant *et al.* 1991).

Brilliant *et al.* (199.,, found the p^{un} mutation to be associated with a DNA duplication. Loss of this duplication resulted in a reversion of the p^{un} phenotype to the wild-type phenotype, suggesting that the p^{un} duplication disrupts the coding sequence of the *p* locus. Removal of the duplication restores the linear array of genetic information at this locus and leads to a reversion of phenotype (Brilliant *et al.* 1991). This ophenotype may be correlated with that of ty-pos OCA with pigmented patches or ephelides (Ramsay *et al.* 1992).

1.6.2.1.2 Agouti (A)

The agouti locus is localised to mouse chromosome 2, in a region with synteny to human chromosome 15 (Searle *et al.* 1989). Seventeen alleles at this locus control the banding pattern of individual coat hairs by regulating a switch between euror lanter and phaeomelanin production (Silvers 1979). Some mutations at the A locus are associated with viral insertions (Hearing and Jimenez 1989). Allelomorphic agouti systems are present in most mammalian orders and the gene may therefore have a fundamental role in mammalian development (Barsh and Epstein 1989).

Heterozygotes for the lethal yellow mutation (A^{ν}) produce only phaeomelanin in hair follicle melanocytes, giving uniformly yellow hair

40

Ĕ.

(Hearing and Jimenez 1989), a phenotype which may be correlated to that of ty pos OCA. The human homologue of the A locus has not yet been mapped, but may occur on human chromosome 15.

1.6.2.1.3 Extension (E)

The E locus on mouse chromosome 8 determines the phaeomelanic nature of melanin products, resulting in uniform yellow hairs, a phenotype which may again be correlated with that of ty-pos OCA. studies on these yellow mice have shown that the activity of the dopachrome converion factor (DCF) is significantly reduced (Lamoreux *et al.* 1986). It is known that the locus for the DCF is on mouse chromosome 14, however the gene product of the E locus and the DCF may be functionally and physically related, resulting in the phaeomelanic phenotype of E/E mice.

1.6.2.1.4 <u>Dilute (d)</u>

The *d* locus on mouse chromosome 9 dilutes intense pigmentation and affects melanosome production and distribution (Silvers 1979). It has been associated with viral insertions (Hearing and Jimenez 1989). A recombinant cDNA from the *d* locus has been cloned and encodes a novel myosin heavy chain protein, affecting melanosome shape and pigment distribution (Mercer *et al.* 1991). This locus occurs in a region with synteny to human chromosome 15 (Searle *et al.* 1989), but as the melanosomes in ty-pos OCA skin and hair appear to be normal (Sue Kidson, personal communication) it is unlikely that the *d* locus is the mouse homologue of the human condition,

1.6.2.1.5 Albino (c)

f(___,

The albino or c-series of alleles is characterised by a deficiency or alteration in the structure of tyrosinase and phenotypically characterised by a severe decrease in pigmentation or complete absence of pigment (Section 1.4.1). The c locus has been localised to mouse chromosome 7 and the wild-type allele (C) results in full tyrosinase activity, dominant over all other alleles. The c locus on mouse chromosome 7 is homologous to the tyrosinase locus on human chromosome 11q. The p and c loci on mouse chromosome 7 constituted the first linkage group identified in mammals (Haldane *et al.* 1915, reviewed in Muller *et al.* 1988). Radiation-induced deletions surrounding the c locus have been useful in constructing detailed functional maps of a 6 to 11cM region on mouse chromosome 7 (Schmid *et al.* 1985; Tonjes *et al.* 1991).

Albino (c/c) mice have no pigment in their skin or eyes, since the genes at all other vigment loci (for example *agouti* and *brown*) are masked. These mice (c/c) produce amelanotic melanocytes, while other c alleles (for example, c^{CH} chinchilla), have reduced pigmentation due to altered tyrosinase activity (Silvers 1979). Alleles of the black wild-type C include c, albino; c^{CH} , chinchilla; c^{H} , himalayan; and c^{e} , extreme dilution. Mice beterozygous for these alleles have tyrosinase levels intermediate between those those of C/C and c/c mice.

Several independent mouse cDNA clones encoding tyrosinase and generated by alternative splicing of a single transcript have been isolated (Yamamoto *et al.* 1987; Muller *et al.* 1988; Shibahara *et al.* 1988; Kwon *et al.* 1988, 1989; Terao *et al.* 1989). It was shown by deletion mapping that the full-length isolated gene was localised to the c locus (Kwon *et al.* 1987). Muller *et al.* (1988), used a human tyrosinase cDNA (Section 2.2.1.1) to isolate a mouse cDNA which,

when transfected into albino cells, coded for functional tyrosinase. The mouse and human cDNAs show 78% DNA sequence homology and the proteins encoded by these show 80% homology (Muller et al. 1988). Beerman et al (1990) and Mintz and Bradi (1991), constructed a human tyrosinase minigene (Beerman et al. 1991; Mintz and Bradl 1991) which was injected into fertilised eggs of an albino mouse, several of which developed into transgenic mice with pigmentation in both skin and eyes. The hair pigmentation often occurred in patterns of transverse dorsovent al migration of melanoblasts. stripes. demonstrating Homozygous descendants of these mice were darker than the hemizygotes and transmitted the basic pattern through many generations (Mintz and Bradl 1991). This rescue of the albino phenotype proved the hypothesis that the c locus encodes the structural gene for tyrosinase.

Other workers have rescued the albino phenotype in vitro in albino melanocyte cell lines, transfecting the cells with different full-length cDNAs and producing pigmented cells (Yamamoto et al. 1989; Larue and Mintz 1990). Differences in the expression and characteristics of tyrosinase from different C allele homozygous murine melanocytes strains grown in culture, also prove that the albino locus in mice encodes the structural gene for tyrosinase. Since most cell lines from mice with c locus alleles have similar amounts of tyrosinase mRNA, it has been postulated that all these mutants have decreased pigmentation due to abnormal post-transcriptional or post-translational modification of the enzyme (Halaban *et al.* 1988).

N.

1.6.2.1.6 Brown (b)

Four mutations have been assigned to the b locus on mouse chromosome 4, where the wild-type B produces black pigment and bresults in pale eumelanin deposition in small, round melanosomes (Silvers 1979). The b locus alleles are unlikely to have a demonstrable influence on phaeomelanin synthesis (Silvers 1979) and since tyrosinase activity is usually above normal in b/b mice, this condition cannot be allelic to the c locus.

Shibahara et al. (1986), isolated a pigment cell-specific mouse cDNA, pMT4, and provided evidence suggesting that it encoded tyrosinase. It had n 1y 40% homology with a tyrosinase cDNA, but Muller et al. (1988), showed that pMT4 cDNA-transfected cells did not show tyrosinase activity. Jackson (1988), demonstrated that pMT4 maps to the brown (b) locus and termed the protein which it encodes, tyrosinase-related protein 1 (TRP1) (Zdarsky et al. 1990; Chintamaneni et al. 1991b). The b locus gene is approximately 15-18kb long and is organised into 8 exons and 7 introns (Jackson et al. 1991; Shibahara et al. 1991). The protein encoded by this gene is a glycoprotein (gp75) with catalase activity (Halaban and Moellmann 1990), homologous to the human melanoma antigen, GP75 (Vijayasaradhi et al. 1990). The b protein has also been shown to have tyrosine hydroxylase and dopaoxidase activities by immunorecognition of specific peptides (Hearing and Jimenez 1989). The human homologue of the mouse brown locus has been mapped to human chromosome 9 (Abbott et al. 1991; Chintamaneni et al. 1991b; Murty et al. 1992) and has been termed CAS2, CATB and TYRP (McKusick 1992).

The light allele at the *brown* locus (B^n) is dominant over the wild type B. This mutation results in the hair being pigmented at the tip and very

little at the base. The light base gets more extensive as the mouse ages. It is postulated that this phenotype occurs as a result of premature melanocyte death following pigment synthesis. Melanin production from tyrosinase involves potentially cytotoxic intermediate compounds, such as 5,6 dihydroxyindole. If the mutant *light* TRP1 protein is bound to the lumenal membrane of the melanosome, it may cause loss of membrane integrity, allowing spillage of toxic metabolites and resulting in melanocyte death (Johnson and Jackson 1992).

1.6.2.1.7 Slaty (Slt)

Jackson et al. (1992) and Tsukamoto et al. (1992), reported a cDNA clone with homology to pMT4 (brown cDNA) and tyrosinase, but encoding a different protein, termed TRP2. This protein has dopachrome tautomerase (DT) activity and has also been called a dopachrome conversion factor, dopachrome oxidoreductase (Barber et al. 1984) and dopachrome isomerase (Jackson et al. 1992). The gene is located on mouse chromosome 14 at the slaty locus. A single base pair change within one of the copper-binding sites of the protein results in a 3- to 4-fold increase in DT activity and a change in coat colour to dark grey/brown with an excess of eumelanin.

1.6.2.1.3 The tyrosinase protein family

Two immunologically cross-reactive molecules are expressed specifically in the melanocyte and map to the c and b loci (Shibahara *et al.* 1991). The conservation of the primary sequences between the proteins encoded by the c and b loci is striking, showing 40-52% amino acid homology (Zdarsky *et al.* 1990; Jackson *et al.* 1991). Fifteen of the 16 cysteine residues and 7 of the 8 tryptophan residues are conserved. This homology has also been maintained in the human tyrosinase gene. The 2 potential copper-binding sites are highly homologous, as are the signal sequences, transmembrane spanning domains and the glycosylation sites (Hearing and Jimenez 1989). This strong sequence homology indicates a common evoir y ancestor (Zdarsky et al. 1990; Jackson et al. 1991).

The tyrosinase protein family (tyrosinase, TRP1 and TRP2) appears to be an old one, since the genes are dispersed and located on different chromosomes in mouse and man. A comparison of the gene structures suggests that there was an ancient duplication and the only existing gene homology is that giving amino acid homology (Jackson *et al* 1992). Jackson *et al.* (1992), propose that all 3 proteins colocalise at the inner melanosomal membrane and form a multienzyme complex which is responsible for eumelanin synthesis. Thus if any one of these proteins was functionally altered, eumelanin synthesis would be affected.

1.6.2.2 Candidate chromosomal regions

Use of mouse genome maps and determination of which chromosomal segments are conserved in the human genome, may enable predictions about where mutations are localised in one species and will map in the other (Nadeau 1989). Comparative mapping of candidate chromosomal regions is thus useful for developing mouse model systems to study human genetic diseases.

A second set of candidate chromosomal regions include those regions known to contain genes for diseases sometimes found to be associated with another phenotype, in this case involving pigmentation. Pigmentary defects and, occasionally, albinism, have been found to be associated with several phenotypically distinct conditions, including Prader-Willi syndrome and Angelman syndrome and some psychiatric disorders (Section 1.6.2.2.2).

46 ||

1.6.2.2.1 The Hbb. c and p linkage group

It has been postulated that the c and p loci in lower mammals are equivalet.) the ty-neg and ty-pos OCA loci in humans (Witkop 1985). In the rat, cat, mouse, deermouse and rabbit, it has been shown that the c and p loci are linked to the haemoglobin B locus (Hbb) and occur within linkage group 1 (French *et al.* 1971; Stole and Gill 1983; Roderick and Davisson 1984; O'Brien *et al.* 1986; Sandberg and Anderson 1987). There is strong evidence against linkage between typos OCA and the β -globin gene cluster on human chromosome 11p (Heim *et al.* 1988), suggesting either that the c, p and Hbb syntenic group has not been conserved in humans, or that ty-pos OCA is not linked to any of these loci on chromosome 11 in man.

Mouse chromosome 7 has a number of genes with homologues found on both the short and long arms of human chromosome 11, and on the long arm of chromosome 15 (Figure 1.6). The human chromosome 11 homologues are mostly clustered towards the telomeres, interrupted by the chromosome 15 linkage gr. sp. A single human 11p homologue (Hras-1) occurs between loci occurring on human chromosome 15q11q13, and the tyrosinase locus, for which the human homologue occurs on chromosome 11q, is situated between two chromosome 15q homologues (Saunders and Schin 1990). Thus the linkage groups are not well conserved between mouse and man and the human homologue of the p locus may be in a region of synteny on either chromosome 11 or 15.

.
Figure 1.6: Linkage map of mouse chromosome 7 and homologous genes on human chromosomes 11 and 15. Mouse locus [human locus] locus name: Tph [TPH] tryptophan hydroxylase; Ldh-1 [LDHA] lactate dehydrogenase A; Myod-1 [MYOD1] myogenic differentiation 1: Saa-1 [SAA1] serum amyloid A; D15F32S1h [MN7]; D7Hms1 [D7PWS]; D15S12h/D7Nic1 [DN10]; Gabrb-3 [GABRB3] γ -aminobutyric acid β 3 receptor; p [7] pink-eyed dilution; D15S9h-1 [pML34]; Hras-1 [HRAS] Harvey rat sarcon₄a oncogene; lgf1r [IGF1R] Insulinlike growth factor 1 receptor; Fes [FES] Feline sarcoma oncogene; Tyr [TYR] tyrosinase; Idh-2 [IDH2] isocitrate dehydrogenase 2, mitochondrial; Calc [CALCA] calcitonin; Pth [PTH] parathyroid hormone; Hbb [HBB] haemoglobin, β -chain; Th [TH] tyrosine hydroxylase (Searle *et al.* 1989; Saunders and Seldin 1990; Chaillet *et al.* 1991; Nadeau *et al.* 1991; Nicholls *et al.* 1992).

					· •
				83 	
				POSITION	49
MO	DUSE	$\sum_{i=1}^{n} (i - 1) = i$	÷	ON	· · ·
CHROM	MOSQ	ME	HUMAN	HUMAN	· · ·
•	7		LOCUS	CHROMOSOME	·
		Time	TPH	11p14.3-p15.1	
		Ldh-1	LDHA	11p14-p15.1	9
		• .			7 .
1. v				and the second s	
		Myod-1	MYOD1	11p15.4	-
		Saa-1	SAA1	11p14-p15.1	
· .				19.11 1 4	
		D15F32S1n	MN7	- 15q11-q15	· ·
		D7Hms1	D7PWS	15011-012	•
	—	D15512n (D70%-1)	DNLJ	12011-013	· · ·
s.		(D/NIC1)	CABDD2	18-11 -12	
		GabiDo	GADEDS	15411-412	
•		÷	.4	9	
			÷ .	•.	
		· .		·	
		D1589b-1	nML34	15011-013	
			Promo -	- The Ass.	
	·	Hras-1	HRAS1	11015.5	
		lgf1r	IGF1R	15g25-gter	
	ļ	Fes	FES	15u25-gter	
				•••	
10 - 11 1					
		Tyr (c)	TYR	11q14-q21	
		•		- •. 	
		Idh-2	IDH2	15q21-qter	
				·.	e .
	ļ	Calc	CALC	11p15.4	
		Pth	PTH	11p15.5-pter	
		Hbb	HBB	11p15.5	· .
	1				
	\vdash	Th	TH	11p15	
	1			• •	

с.

 \odot

1.6.2.2.2<u>The Prader-Willi/Angelman</u> <u>Syndrome chromosomal region</u> (PWCR/ANCR)

Prader-Willi Syndrome (PWS) is generally sporadic and is characterised by infantile hypotonia, early onset childhood obesity, mental deficiency, short stature, small hands and feet, hypogenitalism and a characteristic face. Fifty to 60% of patients have a cytogenetically visible deletion of 15q11-q13 (Butler 1990). Hypopigmentation is a relatively newly appreciated feature of the PWS (Hittner et al. 1982; Butler et al. 1986; Pettigrew et cl. 1987; Wiesner et al. 1987; Pembrey et al. 1989; Butler 1989, 1990; Magenis et al. 1990; Trent et al. 1991) and it has been reported that about half PWS patients with a 15g deletion are hypopigmented (Wiesner et al. 1984; Butler et al. 1986; Wiesner et al. 1987; Butler 1989), often with low tyrosinase levels (Wiesner et al. 1984). Three cases of PWS and OCA have been reported: Wiesner et al. (1984), reported a single case with slightly decreased tyrosinase levels, another report (Phelan et al. 1988) described a Negroid female with OCA and PWS and ar interstitial deletion of 15q11,2 and Wallis and Beighton (1989), reported concurrence of these conditions in a Chinese girl with a normal karyotype.

The Angelman Syndrome (AS) is characterised by mental retardation, microcephaly, paroxysms of laughter and seizure disorders, ophthalmic abnormalities, a prominent jaw, large mouth, absent speech and characteristic "puppet-like" gait and other movements (Angelman 1965). Forty to 60% of AS patients have a 15q11.2-q13 deletion (Pembrey *et al.* 1989; Hamabe *et al.* 1991). Recently, hypopigmentation has been recognised as a common feature of AS (Pembrey *et al.* 1989; Williams *et al.* 1989b) and a case of deletion 15q11.2-q13 AS with OCA has been described (Shapiro Fryburg *et al.* 1991). This patient had low hairbulb tyrosinase activity. Although apparently similar deletions occur on chromosome 15 in both the PWS/AS, the syndromes are generally clinically distinct, suggesting that the deletions may have some region of overlap but are not identical. It has been found that paternally derived deletions give rise to a PWS phenotype, while maternally derived deletions cause AS (Zori et al. 1990; Smeets et al. 1992), suggesting that differential gene expression or imprinting occurs in this region (Knoil et al. 1990; Magenis et al. 1990; Williams et al. 1990; Gregory et al. 1991; Hulten et al. 1991; Izumikawa et al. 1991; Knoil et al. 1991; Malcoim et al. 1991; Naritomi 1991; Hall 1992; Wagstaff et al. 1992).

A causal link between PWS/AS and hypopigmentation is the association of optic misrouting and defective retinal and optic tract pigmentation in many PWS/AS patients (Creel *et al.* 1986). If a gene with a role in melanin biosynthesis does occur in this region and is deleted in about 50% of PWS patients, it would result in a hemizygous state of this gene and PWS/AS deletion patients may be hypopigmented (Wallis and Beighton 1989; Butler 1990). It is interesting to note that obligate heterozygotes for both ty-pos OCA and ty-neg OCA are, however, normally pigmented.

11

Several polymorphic loci have been localised in the 15q11-q13 region and DNA markers in the PWS/AS region have been available for several years, but detailed molecular characterisation of the region has been difficult due to the relatively low polymorphism content for most markers. The physical mapping and ordering of loci in this region. . as primarily based upon deletion analysis of PWS/AS patient DNA using RFLP and quantitative Southern blot analysis. However, often several of these markers are deleted together, making definitive ordering difficult by deletion analysis alone (Kuwano *et al.* 1992). Multicolour fluorescence *in situ* hybridisation (FISH) analysis of interphase loci has been combined with YAC contig information to provide a physical order of the markers in this region: centromere-D15S9-D15S11-D15S13-D15S10-GABRB3-D15S12-D15S24-telomere (Kuwano *et al.* 1992).

1.7 Aims of This Study

The aims of this study were:

i) To search for linkage between ty-pos OCA and several random polymorphic markers, candidate pigment loci and candidate chromosomal regions, in affected indiv. Is from Negroid families in southern Africa.

ii) Once linkage had been established between any marker(s) and ty-pos OCA, more polymorphic markers in the same chromosomal region would be examined for linkage in order to determine the closest flanking markers and to increase the genetic information about the region.

iii) To construct a genetic linkage map of the region around the ty-pos OCA gene, using as many linked markers as possible.

iv) To test for ailelic association between the closest linked marker(s) and the mutation(s) determining ephelus status in individuals with ty-pos OCA and to construct haplotypes of normal and affected chromosomes in an attempt to determine whether the ty-pos OCA mutation had a single origin or multiple origins.

The high prevalence of ty-pos OCA in southern Africa has provided many families who could participate this linkage study, thus generating statistically acceptable linkage results. This project has involved the use of several polymorphic markers, including blood groups, serum proteins, RFLPs and the recently characterised hyp.rvariable VNTR and dinucleotide repeat markers. Many of these markers have previously only been characterised in Caucasolds and with their use in the Negroid families in this study, have been shown to detect new alleles and, in some cases, increased the polymorphism information content in this population group.

The linkage project was initiated in the Department of Human Genetics in 1985 and some of the data obtained in the search for linkage between ty-pos OCA and random markers were reported in the PhD^o thesis of Ruth Heim (1988) and have been published (Heim *et al.* 1989). The project has been an ongoing one in the Department and the data presented in this dissertation include practical results obtained by the author, Uwynneth Stevens (another PhD student) and Prashiela Manga (an MSc student). When information was produced by a person other than the author, this is clearly stated. All data were analysed by the author. Presently, Gwynneth Stevens and Prashiela Manga are continuing with their studies on characterisation of the ty-pos OCA gene.

(‡

53

a. **(***

 $\langle \gamma \rangle$

CHAPTER TWO

.

-[#]

0

2. SUBJECTS, MATERIALS AND METHODS

A list of the abbreviations used is given on page xix. Appendix A, on page 176, gives the sources of the reagents used. Appendix B, on page 178, gives the composition and preparation of media and other solutions used.

2.1 Subjects

The subjects of this study were southern African Negroids from 41 nuclear families, ranging in size from 3 to 16 individuals, with at least one affected ty-pos albino member each. Some of these families were from Boputhatswana, but the majority were from the large urban satellite town of Soweto and from the Johannesburg and Pretoria environs, as well as from elsewhere in the Transvaal. Some families were traced through affected individuals at the Blind School in Katlehong and from the Cancer Clinic at Hillbrow Hospital. Where possible, blood from both parents and unaffected sibs was also collected. With the current social climate, family members were often widely dispersed and difficult to locate, resulting in the study of smaller family units. Family pedigrees were obtained in as much detail as possible when families were interviewed.

2.1.1 Identification of affected individuals

Individuals with the ty-pos OCA phenotype were identified by Dr George Nurse, Professor Trefor Jenkins, Prof ssor Jennifer Kromberg and Sister E Zwane, of our unit, on the basis of the clinical features described by Witkop *et al.* (1989).

The chiefdom affiliation of each family was recorded and the clinical features of each affected individual were noted in detail. These features included hair colour, visual acuity and the occurrence of nystagmus and photophobia, the presence or absence of ephelides and the evidence of any promalignant or malignant lesions on sun exposed areas of skin. Where possible, the ages of all available members of each family were recorded at the time of clinical investigation. Anagen hairbulbs were collected from some families for hairbulb incubation tests and electron micrograph studies to be conducted in Cape Town, in order to confirm that the condition was ty-pos OCA.

2.2 DNA markers

In this linkage study, two cardidate pigment loci, the tyrosinase and brown loci, four markers in a candidate region on chromosome 11p thought to be the position of a syntenic region containing the human equivalent of the mouse p locus, and 10 random DNA markers, were tested. A candidate region on chromosome 15q, the PWS/AS region, was also examined, using the probes pTD3-21 and pTD189-1. Once linkage between these markers and ty-pos OCA had been established, another \therefore markers on the proximal long arm of chromosome 15 were tested.

The practical work on thirteen of the markers tested was done by Gwonneth Stevens and on three of the markers, by Prashiela Manga. The details of these markers and the results obtained with them were used in the linkage analysis and are included in this thesis to complete the linkage data. In a study previously completed in this department, linkage analysis was carried out with 15 serogenetic markers and 7 DNA markers (Heim 1988; Jenkins *et al.* 1990). Although the results obtained with these markers are included in this study, the details of the markers have not been included and may be found in Heim (1988).

55

CZ.

2.2.1 Characterisation of candidate pigment loci

The DNA probes used in this linkage study, are outlined in Table 2.1.

2.2.1.1 Pmel 34 (TYR)

This probe was isolated from a cDNA derived from a Agt11 human melanocyte cDNA library screened with antibodies against hamster tyrosinase. The deduced protein was found to be consistent with the structure of tyrosinase, which is a glycoprotein containing two copperbinding domains. Southern blot analysis of DNA derived from newborn mice carrying lethal albino deletion mutations revealed that Pmel34 mapped near or at the albino (c) locus, the position of the structural gene for tyrosinase (Kwon et al. 1987). This tyrosinase cDNA was used to map the human tyrosinase locus (TYR) to chroniosome 11q14-q21 by Southern blotting analysis of SCH DNA and by in situ hybridisation to metaphase chromosomes (Barton et al. 1988). It was also found to detect tyrosinaserelated sequences on the short arm of chromosome 11 (p11.2-cen) (Barton et al. 1988; Takeda et al. 1989). Pmel34 has been found to detect a Bg/II polymorphism (Spritz and Strunk 1990b), which was used in this study. It also detects a 2 allele Tagl RFLP in Caucasoids (Spritz et al. 1988) which was not informative in the Negroid families studied,

This probe was kindly supplied by Professor Byoung Kwon.

56

Table 2.1 Non-chromosome 15 DNA probes

PROBE	LOCUS	POSITION	YECTOR	INSERTION SITE ¹	INSERT SIZE (kb)	ENZYME DETECTING RFLP	ALLELE SIZES ² (kt;	REFERENCES
CANDIDATE LOCI	· <u>-</u>			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
Pmei34	TYR	11q11-q21	pGEM	EcoRI	1.85	БgП	5.8/5.6	Kwon et al. 1987 Spritz et al. 1990b
pMT4	Brown	MOUSE 4	O-B ³	РикП	0.25	XbaI	10/8.6	Shibahara et al. 1986
Humm cDNA	CAS2	9p22-pter	pGEM	<i>Eco</i> RI	2.0	Xbal	10/8.6	Coiman et al. 1991E Chintamaneni et al. 1991b Cohen et al. 1990
CHROMOSOME 11 N	<u>lakkers</u>				đ		<u>.</u>	· · · · ·
pHC36	CALCA	1 ip14-qter	pBR322	PstI	0.66	Taql	8.0/6.5 3/2.3(c)	Hoppener et al. 1984
pSAA82	SAA	11p-pter	pBR322	?	0.58	HindIII	4.6/2.8 3.6/1.1(c)	Kluve-Beckerman et al. 1986
рDH3.2 (р [^] ү)	HBB	11p15.5	pBR322	<u>HindIII</u>	3.2	HindIII	^G γ 7.8/7.1 ^γ 3.4/2.8	Tuan et al. 1979
RANDOM LOCI	· .							
DQα	HLA	6p21	pDCH1	Pstĭ	0.80	Taqī	1a-2.6 1b-5.8 1c-6.2 2-4.3 3-5.3	Bidwell et al, 1988
DXα	HLA	6p2i	pDCH1	Pstī	0.80	Taql	Upper Low	Bidwell et al. 1988

1 - All probes were $\operatorname{sup}^{\mathbb{R}}$ and $\operatorname{tet}^{\mathbb{S}}$ 2 - c "constant"

3 - Okayama-Berg Vector (Okayama and Berg, 198.)

2.2.1.2 CAS2/brown locus

In humans, this locus is also known as CATB and TYRP (McCusick 1992), but will be referred to as CAS2 for convenience. Two different cDNA probes were received, detecting the mouse *brown* locus and the human homologue. Primarily, the mouse probe was used to detect polymorphisms in the human DNA. Once the human probe had been received, it was used in the linkage study.

The mouse probe, pMT4, was isolated from a cDNA clone derived from a B16 mouse melanoma cDNA library by differential hybridisation. This DNA was originally thought to encode mouse tyrosinase by virtue of the fact that the gene product cross-reacted with monoclonal antibodies, TMH-1 and TMH-2, produced against mouse tyrosinase (Shibahara *et al.* 1986). However, it was found that pMT4 had only 40% homology with a cDNA found to encode a functional tyrosinase protein and it was postulated that it was a tyrosinase isozyme, with dopa oxidase activity (Shibihara *et al.* 1988). The protein encoded by pMT4 has since been found to map at or close to the mouse *brown* (*b*) locus on mouse chron.osome 4 and has been provisionally termed tyrosinase-related protein 1 (TRP1) (Jackson 1988). The gene product has been found to be homologous to the human melanoma antigen GP75 (Halaban and Moellmann 1990; Vijayasaradhi *et al.* 1990).

Cohen *et al.* (1990), presented the nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequence of the cDNA coding for the human homologue of the mouse b locus. The cDNA was also isolated by B. Kwon (Chintamaneni *et al.* 1991b). This gene had not yet been mapped in humans, but it was known to be on mouse chromosome 4, for which there is a syntenic group on human chromosome 9. A SCH panel and chromosome 9-specific hybrids, as well as *in situ* hybridisation, were used to localise the gene to 9p22-pter

(Abbot et al. 1991; Chintamaneni et al. 1991b; Murty et al. 1992).

Both the human and mouse *b*-protein cDNAs were kindly supplied by Professor Byoung Kwon.

DNA polymorphisms detected by these probes were unknown in both mouse and human. Human DNA samples were thus screened with several restriction enzymes in order to search for a polymorphism in the Negroid population. A 2 allele *XbaI* RFLP was found to be detected by these probes in Negroids (Colman *et al.* 1991a).

2.2.2 Characterisation of markers on human chromosome 11p

Conservation between markers on mouse chromosome 7 and human chromosome 11 (Figure 1.6, Section 1.6.2.2.1) suggests that the mouse p locus (mouse chromosome 7) may occur within a syntenic region on human chromosome 11p (Silvers 1979). Markers in this region were analysed for evidence of linkage to ty-pos OCA.

The practical work on pHC36 and pSAA82 was completed by Gwynneth Stevens.

2.2.2.1 pHC36 (CALCA)

Calcitonin (CT) is a polypeptide hormone secreted by the C-cells of the thyroid. A small molecular probe from part of the human CT cDNA was used to assign the CT gene to 11p14-qter by SCH analysis. A Sau961 fragment of the gene was shown to detect a 2 allele TaqI polymorphism (Höppener et al. 1984).

This probe was provided by Dr Sue Chamberlain, from St Mary's

Hospital Medical School, UK.

2.2.2.2 pSAA82 (SAA)

A human serum amyloid A (SAA) cDNA was used as a probe in chromosomal SCH mapping studies to position this locus in the 11p-pter region. Screening of the human DNA from unrelated individuals by Southern analysis, using this probe, revealed *Hind*III and *Pst*I RFLPs. A 2 aliele *Hind*III polymorphism occurring within intron 2 of the SAA2 locus was detocted in Caucasoids, Negroids and San (Kluve-Beckerman *et al.* 1986) and another, Negroid-specific, 2 allele *Hind*III polymorphism, associated with the SAA1 locus, has been described (Stevens *et al.* <u>Hum</u> <u>Genet</u> in press). Haplotypes generated from the closely linked *Htnd*III polymorphisms were used to determine linkage between this locus and typos OCA.

This probe was provided by Dr Sue Chamberlain, from St Mary's Hospital Medical School, UK.

2.2.2.3 <u>pDH3.2 (p^Aγ) (HBB)</u>

In a previous study in this department (Heim 1988), the γ -globin/HindIII RFLP (Tuan *et al.* 1979) was analysed in 20 families. The remainder of the families have since been typed with this probe in an attempt to increase the linkage information on 11p.

This probe is a genomic probe isolated by J. Wainscoat (personal communication) and includes the $^{A}\gamma$ -globin gene and flanking sequences. The $^{A}\gamma$ -globin gene has extensive sequence homology with the $^{O}\gamma$ -globin gene and the pHD3.2 probe detects 2 *Hind*III polymorphisms, one in each gene (Tuan *et al.* 1979). 2.2.3 Characterisation of random DNA probe DQa/DXa

A previous study (Jenkins *et al.* 1990) showed a positive lod score between ty-pos OCA and Bf at 6p21.3 (1.58 at $\Theta = 0.1$). Thus the polymorphic DQc probe, also localised to 6p21, was used in an attempt to confirm or refute linkage to a marker in this region of 6p.

The molecular organisation of the human class II major histocompatibility complex genes on human chromosome 6p has been studied extensively and Southern blot analysis has been used to interpret the allele-specific hybridisation patterns (allogenotypes) detected by the DQ α probe (Auffray *et al.* 1984). This probe has homology with and cross-hybridises to the DX α gene and thus detects two separate allele systems with a single hybridisation (Bidwell 1988). DQ α detects five DQ α -specific alleles (DQ α 1a, 1b, 1c, 2 and 3) and two alleles of the cross-hybridising DX α gene, DX α Upper (U) and DX α Lower (L).

This probe was purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC).

2.2.4 Characterisation of chromosome 15-specific DNA probes

The chromosome 15-specific DNA probes used are outlined in Table 2.2.

Probes pTD3-21, pTD189-1, pML34, pIR4-3R and pIR10-1 are cDNA segments from the proximal long arm of chromosome 15, isolated from a λ phage Charon 21A library, constructed from *Hind*III-digested DNA obtained from flow-sorted inv dup (15) chromosomes (Donlon *et al.* 1986) and subcloned into plasmids (Nicholls *et al.* 1989). The single copy inserts were initially mapped to chromosome 15 by hybridisation to DNA from Chinese hamster-SCH lines containing chromosome 15 as their only common human

chromosome. They were then mapped more precisely to 15q11-q13 by in situ hybridisation (Donlon et al. 1986).

All these probes were purchased from the ATCC.

The practical work on probes pIR10-1 and CMW-1 was completed by Gwynneth Stevens and on probes pIU221 and pDP151, by Prashiela Manga.

2.2.4.1 pTD3-21 (D15S10)

ĩ À

pTD3-21 was found to hybridise with reduced intensity in a PWS patient with a cytogenetically visible deletion of chromosome 15q11.2, indicating that this probe was deleted from one homologue of the patient and thus mapped to this region (Donlon *et al.* 1986; Tantravahi *et al.* 1989). pTD3-21 detects a two allele *TaqI* polymorphism in Caucasoids (Nicholls *et al.* 1989) and a third, Negroid-specific, *TaqI* allele (Colman *et al.* 1991b).

2.2.4.2 pTD189-1 (D15S13)

Probe pTD189-1 is polymorphic for many enzymes, however most enzymes (for example SacI and TaqI) show an identical restriction fragment pattern and size difference between alleles, suggesting that a 2 allele insertion (+) or deletion (-) polymorphism is detected by this probe. BgliI and some other enzymes, display a reversed pattern of alleles compared to most enzymes, as well as heterogeneous size differences. Genomic mapping was used to show that these results can be explained by the presence of recognition sites for these enzymes within a 1.8kb insertion in the (+) allele detected by pTD189-1 (Nicholls *et al.* 1989). The 2 allele TaqI RFLP detected by this probe was used in this study.

PROBE	LOCUS	POSITION	VECTOR	INSERTION SITE ¹	INSERT SIZE (kb)	ENZYME DETECTING RFLP	ALLELE SIZES (kb)	REFERENCES
pTD3-21	D15S10	15q11-q12	pBR322	HindIII	2.2	Taql	9/8.2/3.0	Nicholls et al. 1989 Colman et al. 1991b
pTD189-1	D15813	15q11-q12	pUC18	EcoRI/ HindIII	0.9	Taql	3.5/2.1	Nicholls et al. 1989
pML34	D1589	15q11-q12	pBR322	HindⅢ	6.2	Scal	6.5/6.3/ 6.1	Nicholls et al. 1989
pIR4-3R	D15511	15q11-q12	pUC18	BamHI/ Hindlli	0,4	RsaI	1.2/1.0	Nicholls et al. 1989
pIR10-1	D15S12	15q11-q12	pUC18	BamHI/ HinđIII	0.8	Scal	17.5/16/ 12.5	Nicholls et al. 1989
CMW-1	D15S24	15pter-q13	pUC18	<i>Eco</i> RI	3.8	<i>Eco</i> RI	4.2-3.0 >6 alieles	Rich <i>et al.</i> 1988
рЈU201	D1583	15	pBR328	EcoRI/ HindIII	?	<i>Eco</i> RI	1.9/1.8/ 2.1/1.7	Cooper et al. 1985
pDP151	D15S2	15q15-q22	pBR322	EcoRI/ Hindill	2.6	Ēcoki	11/9	Brissenden et al. 1986

Table 2.2 Chromosome 15-specific DNA probes

1 - All probes amp^{R} and tet^s (except pJU201 - amp^{R} tet^R)

 \mathcal{G}

2.2.4.3 pML34 (D15S9)

pML34 was shown to detect a 2 allele Scal RFLP in the Caucasoid population (Nicholis *et al.* 1989) and was used to screen the ty-pos OCA families.

2.2.4.4 pIR4-3R (D15S11)

pIR4-3R was found to detect a two allele RsaI RFLP in Caucasoids (Nicholls et al. 1989) which was used in the linkage study.

2.2.4.5 pIR10-1 (D15S12)

Nicholls *et al.* (1989), reported a three allele RFLP detected by pIR10-1 with *ScaI* digests of Caucasoid DNA, which was also tested in this study. This RFLP is likely to result from two closely linked, independent *ScaI* site RFLPs (Nicholls *et al.* 1989). Heteroduplex analysis of the original λ IR-10 insert, showed that it contained small inverted repeated segments, consistent with its belonging to the *Alu* family. These inverted repeat elements may explain many of the deletions and rearrangements involving band 15q11.2 in PWS, resulting from unequal sister-chromatid exchange or looping out of DNA around these repeats (Donlon *et al.* 1986).

2.2.4.6 <u>CMW-1</u> (D15S24)

CMW-1 was isolated from a flow-sorted library cloned in Charon 21A, in the Los Alamos National Laboratory. It was mapped to 15q13 using a SCH regional mapping panel. Coordinate variation using multiple enzymes suggested that it detects a variable number of tandem repeats (Rich *et al.* 1988). The *Eco*RI RFLP detected by CMW-1 was used in the linkage study.

 a^{ρ}

Ð

This probe was purchased from the ATCC.

2.2.4.7 pJU201 (D155?)

pJU201 was isolated from flow-sorted chromosoches which had been digested to completion with *Bam*HI, cloned into phage and subcloned into the mid pBR328. The clone was shown to map to chromosome 15 using a panel of human-rodent SCH. pJU201 was originally reported to detect a 2 allele *Eco*RI polymorphism in Caucasoids (Cooper *et al.* 1985). It has also been shown to detect a third allele in Negroids and San. and a fourth allele in Negroids (data submitted to the Genome Database, Baltimore).

This probe was made available by Dr Sue Chamberlain, from St Mary's Hospital Medical School, UK.

2.2.4.8 pDP151 (D15S2)

pDP151 is a random D A fragment isolated from a human genomic library (Lawn et al. 1978) and subcloned into the plasmid pBR322. Hybridisations of pDP151 to DNA from SCH showed it to map to chromosome 15. It was shown to detect a 2 allele *Eco*RI RFLP in Caucasoids (Brissenden et al. 1986).

This probe was made available by Dr Sue Chamberlain, from St Mary's Hospital Medical School, UK.

2.2.5 Characterisation of PCR markers detecting RFLPs

The random PCR markers used in this study detected both RFLPs and dinucleotide repeats and are detailed in Table 2.3.

The practical work on markers ALB, pMP6d and pJ3-11 was completed by Gwynneth Stevens.

2.2.5.1 ALB

The published sequence of the albumin (ALB) gene (4q11-q13) was used to select two 20mer oligonucleotide primers for PCR. These primers amplified a genomic fragment which contained a polymorphic *HaeIII* site in intron VII, in Caucasoids, Negroids and San (Moolman *et al.* 1991).

2.2.5.2 pMF6d-9 (D7S399)

HindIII/Mspl subciones of pMP6d-9 (7q31) were sequenced to obtain oligonucleotides suitable for detection of an Mspl RFLP by PCR (Auth et al. 1989).

2.2.5.3 pJ3.11 (D7S8)

A subclone of a cosmid cloned from a human genomic library, using the pJ3.11 probe, was sequenced and oligonucleotides were designed to enable detection of *PstI* and *MspI* RFLPs by PCR. These RFLPs were originally described in unrelated Caucasoids (Northrup *et al.* 1989) and the *PstI* RFLP was used in this study.

Table 2.3 PCR markers

MARKER	LOCUS	LOCATION	ENZYME DETECTING RFLP	PRODUCT SIZE ¹ (bp)	DETECTION TECHNIQUE ²	REFERENCES
<u>RFLPs</u>					· ··· ·	
ALB	ALB	4o11-q13	HaeIII	G1 418 G2 347 + 71 256 (c)	PAGE	Moolman et al. 1991
pMP6d-9	D7S399	7q31	Mspl	377 204 + 173	COMPOSITE GEL	Huth et al. 1989
pJ3.11	D758	7q31	PstI	380 230 + 150	COMPOSITE GEL	Northrup et al. 1989
TYR/MboI	TYR	11q11-q21	Mbol	334 247 + 87 177 (c)	COMPOSITE GEL	Giebel and Spritz 1990b
<u>CA REPEATS</u>	· :					· ·
2D9-1	D1S116	1p31.2	-	±97	PAGE	Sharma et al. 1991
Mfd3	APOA2	1q21-q23	-	±137	PAGE	Weber and May 1989
Mfd61	D6S105	бр	-	<u>+</u> 131	PAGE	Weber et al. 1991
716/718	WT 1	11p13	-	±144	PAGE	Little (pers comm)
Mfd15	D17S250	17q11.2-q12	+	±162	PAGE	Weber et al. 1990a
мро	MPO	17q21-q23	-	±110	PAGE	Polymeropoolos et al. 1991
335/334	D215168	21q22.3	-	±110	PAGE	Guo et al. 1990

25.5

1 - c "constant" 2 - PAGE "polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis" (6% gels); COMPOSITE "4% Nusieve:HGT (3:1) gel"

 \circ

Ť

3

c

2.2.5.4 TYR/Mbol_RFLP

Two 20 mer oligonucleotides derived from exon 1 of the human tyrosinase gene (11q14-q21) were used to amplify DNA from this gene. *MboI* was found to detect a nonpathological 2 allele polymorphism within codon 192 of the amplified portion of the gene in Caucasoids (Giebel and Spritz 1990) and in Asians and Afrocarribeans, but not in Orientals (Johnston *et al.* 1992). To determine whether southern African Negroids are polymorphic at this site, and thus whether this polymorphism was potentially informative for the linkage study, 32 unrelated Negroids were screened for the presence or absence of the *MboI* site polymorphism.

2.2.6 Characterisation of PCR markers detecting dinucleotide repeats

2D9.1, Mfd3, Mfd61, Mfd15, MPO AND 335/334 are randomly distributed PCR markers, WT-1 is another marker on chromosome 11p.

The practical work on markers Mfd15, MPO and WT-1 was completed by Gwynneth Stevens.

2.2.6.1 2D9-1 (D1S116)

DNA sequences flanking a GT repeat in an AluI subclone (2D9-1) of a cosmid obtained from a flow-sorted chromosome 1 library, were used to design PCR primers. The cosmid was localised to chromosome 1p31,2 by *in situ* hybridisation and was shown to reveal 7 alleles in Caucasoids (Sharma *et al.* 1991).

Ð

2.2.6.2 Mfd3 (APO A2)

The sequences used to design the two 20mer Mfd3 primers, flanking a CA repeat on 1q21-q23, were taken from GenBank (Version 54). The primers amplified a locus which had 6 alleles in Caucasoids (Weber and May 1989).

c)

2.2.6.3 Mfd61 (D6S105)

PCR primers were constructed from the sequence of clone Mfd61, a human genomic Sau3AI fragment cloned into np19 and selected by hybridisation to poly(dC-dA).poly(dG-dT). Clone Mfd61 was assigned to 6p using DNA templates isolated from panels of SCH. A panel of 6p radiation hybrids gave the order of tested markers as pter-D6S88-D6S108-D6S105(Mfd61)-HLA-cen. Mfd61 was thus used as another marker on 6p near the HLA locus. When tested in Caucasoids, Mfd61 revealed 10 alleles (Weber *et al.* 1991).

2.2.6.4 716/718 (WT-1)

The locus for Wilm's Tumour maps to 11p13 and was thus used to increase the information on human chromosome 11.

The primer sequences flanking a CA repeat in the Wilms Tumour gene, were kindly supplied by Dr Melissa Little (personal communication). The primers are: 716 5' AAT GAG ACT TAC TGG GTG AGG 3' 718 5' TTA CAC AGT AAT TTC AAG CAA CGG 3'

'n

2.2.6.5 Mfd15 (D17S250)

These primer sequences were obtained from human genomic DNA fragments cloned into m13 and selected by hybridisation to poly(dC-dA).poly(dG-dT). This clone was assigned to chromosome 17q11.2-q12 using DNA templates isolated from panels of chromosomal and subchromosomal SCH. The primers were found to amplify 10 alleles in unrelated Caucasoids (Weber *et al.* 1990).

2.2.6.6 MPO

A polymorphic CA repeat was found in the human gene of light and heavy chains of the myeloperoxidase glycoprotein (MPO) (17q21-q23). Flanking primer sequences were designed to amplify this polymorphism and detected 4 alleles in unrelated individuals (Polymeropoulos *et al.* 1991).

2.2.6.7 <u>335/334 (D218168)</u>

These primers were designed from the sequences flanking a GT repeat within an *AluI* subclone of a cosmid, derived from a flow-sorted human chromosome 21-specific library. PCR of genomic DNAs from a SCH panel indicated localisation of the marker to 21q22.3. In Caucasoid DNA samples, 8 polymorphic alleles were reported (Guo *et al.* 1990).

2.2.7 Characterisation of chromosome 15-specific CA repeat polymorphisms

Details of the chromosome 15-specific PCR markers are shown in Table 2.4.

The practical work on markers D15S11, 635/636 and THBS1 was completed by Gwynneth Stevens and on marker MS14, by Prashiela Manga.

MARKER	LOCUS	LOCATION	PRODUCT SIZE (bp) (±2bp)'	REFERENCES ²
D15810	D15810	15q11-q13	±179	Lindeman et al. 1991
GABRB3	UABRB3	15q11-q13	±189	Mutirangura et al. 1992a
D15511	D15 \$11	15q11-q13	±255	Mutirangura et al. 1992b
MS14	D15897	15ct1-q13	±178	Bowcock (pers comm)
635/636	ACTC	15q11-qtor	±88	Litt and Luty 1989
THBSI	THBS	15q15	±165	Polymeropoulos et al. 1990
Mfd49	D15887	15	±87	Woher et al. 1990h

Table 2.4 Chromosome 15-specific PCR markers

- 1 All products were detected by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis on 6% gels
- 2 pers comm = personal communication

ŋ

2.2.7.1 <u>D15\$10</u>

The probe pTD3-21 (15q11-q13) (Section 2.2.4.1) was used to screen a *Bam*HI-digested genomic library in λ EMBL3. A subclone of a positive phage clone, which hybridised to poly(dC-dA).poly(dG-dT), was identified, sequenced and used to design PCR primers flanking a CA repeat. In unrelated Caucasoid samples 2 alleles were found (Lindeman *et al.* 1991), thus the marker was used to screen the ty-pos OCA families in an attempt to increase the informativity of this locus and to construct haplotype information from the 2 markers at the locus for linkage studies.

2.2.7.2 GABA, receptor *B*3 (GABRB3)

These PCR primers were designed from sequences flanking a CA repeat element in a subclone of a YAC, containing a human genomic clone complimentary to the rat Gabrb3 cDNA. Localisation of the clone on chromosome 15 was confirmed by PCR and SCH analysis and finer localisation to the PWS/AS region at 15q11-q13 was confirmed by *in situ* hybridisation. The marker was originally found to detect 11 alleles (Mutirangura *et al.* 1992a).

2.2.7.3 D15S11

An STS (sequence tagged site) was generated from the probe pIR4-3R (Section 2.2.4.4) and used to screen a total human YAC library. A positive clone was screened for CA repeats and subcloned. Fragments containing CA repeats were sequenced and then used to design PCR primers flanking these sequences. The localisation of the YAC to chromosome 15 was confirmed by *in situ* hybridisation and the dinucleotide repeat was confirmed to be on chromosome 15 by PCR of SCH. PCR with these primers revealed 10 alleles in unrelated individuals (Mutirangura *et al.* 1992b). This marker was used to increase the amount of information obtained from this locus and to construct haplotypes from the two markers at the locus.

2.2.7.4 MS14 (D15S97)

The MS14 primer sequences were developed by Nick Dracoplis and kindly supplied by Anne Bowcock. The primer sequences are:

MS14-R 5' TCT CCC TCC AAT AAT GTG AC 3' MS14-L 5' TGA GTC AAT GAT TGA AAT TAC TG 3'

This marker maps close to GABRB3 on 15q. It was not known whether it mapped proximal or distal to GABRB3 at 15q11-q13, nor how many alleles it revealed. Thus the marker was screened in the ty-pos OCA families and the most likely position of MS14, relative to both the ty-pos OCA gene and to GABRB3 was determined.

2.2.7.5 <u>635/636 (ACTC)</u>

The human cardiac muscle actin gene locus (ACTC) maps to 15q11-qter (Gunning *et al.* 1984). The published sequence (Hamada *et al.* 1982) and the GenBank DNA sequence database were used to generate primers flanking a GT repeat in intron 4 of the gene (Litt and Luty 1989; Watkins *et al.* 1991). The primer sequences constructed by Litt and Luty (1989), revealed 12 alleles in unrelated individuals. (Mutirangura *et al.* 1992b). This marker was used to increase the amount of information obtained from this locus and to construct haplotypes from the two markers at the locus.

2.2.7.4 <u>MS14 (D15S97)</u>

The MS14 primer sequences were developed by Nick Dracoplis and kindly supplied by Anne Bowcock. The primer sequences are:

MS14-R 5' TCT CCC TCC AAT AAT GTG AC 3' MS14-L 5' TGA GTC AAT GAT TGA AAT TÁC TG 3'

This marker maps close to GABRB3 on 15q. It was not known whether it mapped proximal or distal to GABRB3 at 15q11-q13, nor how many alleles it revealed. Thus the marker was screened in the ty-pos OCA families and the most likely position of MS14, relative to both the ty-pos OCA gene and to GABRB3 was determined.

2.2.7.5 <u>635/636 (ACTC)</u>

The human cardiac muscle actin gene locus (ACTC) maps to 15q11-qter (Gunning *et al.* 1984). The published sequence (Hamada *et al.* 1982) and the GenBank DNA sequence database were used to generate primers flanking a GT repeat in intron 4 of the gene (Litt and Luty 1989; Watkins *et al.* 1991). The primer sequences constructed by Litt and Luty (1989), revealed 12 alleles in unrelated individuals.

2.2.7.6 THBS1

PCR primers flanking a polymorphic CT repeat in intron A of the human thrombospondin gene (THBS1) revealed 9 alleles in unrelated individuals (Polymeropoulos *et al.* 1990).

2.2.7.7 Mfd49 (D15S87)

Mfd49 primer sequences were designed from a human genomic Sau3AI fragment (Mfd49) cloned into mp19 and selected by hybridisation to poly(dC-dA).poly(dG-dT). The fragment was assigned to chromosome 15 by using DNA templates isolated from panels of SCH. PCR analysis revealed 11 alleles in Caucasoid samples (Weber *et al.* 1990b).

2.3 Preparation of probe DNA

2.3.1 Transformation

Two different methods of transformation were used. Originally, the Mandel and Higa (1986) method of transformation was used and, more recently, the Chung and Miller (1988) method of transformation was used.

When recombinant plasmid DNA was received, it was transformed into *E. coli* HB101, using one of two methods. Both methods require *E. coli* HB101 cells in log phase. *E. coli* HB101 cells from -70°C stocks were streaked out on a Luria agar (LA) (Appendix B) plate, and incubated at 37°C overnight. A single colony was used to inoculate 2ml of Luria-Bertani broth (LB) (Appendix B), which was then incubated overnight at 37°C with vigorous orbital shaking. One ml of this overnight culture was used to inoculate 100ml of LB, which was then incubated at 37°C with vigorous shaking for 2-4 hours, until the optical density (OD) at a wavelength of 550nm was 0.5 (the culture

was in log phase).

For the Mandel and Higa (1986), or heat-shock method, the HB101 culture was chilled on ice for 15 minutes, prior to a 10 minute centrifugation at 3000rpm. The cells were resuspended in 10ml of ice-cold CaCl₂:TrisHCl (50mM;10mM) solution by gentle pipetting pp ...d down. CaCl₂ is thought to be responsible for a change in the cell wall of the bacterial ceil, which improves DNA binding efficiency (Brown 1986). This mixture was placed on ice for 5 minutes and then centrifuged for a further 10 minutes at 3000rpm. The pellet was again resuspended in 1ml of ice-cold CaCl₂:TrisHCl solution and then aliquoted into 100µl amounts in labelled 1.5ml plastic Eppendorf tubes for use in the transformation procedure. The competent cells were kept for use for up to 48 hours at 4°C.

Approximately 5ng of recombinant plasmid DNA was mixed with a 100μ l aliquot of competent *E. coli* HB101 cells and placed on ice for 30 minutes. The cells were then heat-shocked at 42°C for two minutes. Heat-shocking stimulates the movement of DNA into the competent cell by an unknown mechanism (Brown 1986). The samples were returned to ice for at least 10 minutes before the contents of the transformation mix were added to 3ml of LB and incubated at 37°C with vigorous shaking for 3 hours. One hundred microlitres of this culture were then plated onto appropriate antibiotic-containing selection LA plates and incubated overnight at 37°C.

For the Chung and Miller (1988) method of transformation, the *E. coli* HB101 cells were pelleted by centrifugation at ± 2750 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. These cells were resuspended in one tenth volume of transformation and storage buffer (TSB) (10% PEG [mwt 3350]; 5% DMSO; 20mM Mg²⁺ [10mM MgCl₂ + 10mM MgSO₄]; dissolved in LB [pH 6.1]). Polyethylene glycol (PEG) is a long chain polymeric compound which, in the presence of salt, absorbs water and thus concentrates the cells (Brown 1986; Sambrook

et al. 1989). This solution was placed on ice for 10 minutes and then aliquoted into 100μ l amounts in cold 1.5ml Eppendorfs. These competent cells could be used immediately for transformation or could be stored at -70°C for future use.

les:

For transformation, approximately 100pg of plasmid DNA was added to 100μ I of competent cells, which were then placed on ice for 5-30 minutes. These cells were added to 900μ I TSB + glucose (20mM) and were grown at 37°C with vigorous shaking for 60 minutes. The transformed cells were plated and grown overnight at 37°C on LA plates containing the appropriate antibiotic for selection of transformants.

2.3.2 Isolation of plasmid DNA

In plasmid DNA preparation, it is essential to separate plasmid DNA from the bacterial chromosomal DNA which is also present in the cells. Several methods are available for removal of bacterial DNA during plasmid purification. These methods are based upon the physical differences between plasmid and bacterial DNA, including size and conformation (Brown 1986). The procedures used in this study utilise these differences and combine different methods, based on the protocols outlined in Sambrook *et al.* (1989).

2.3.2.1 Large-Scale plasmid DNA preparation

A single colony from the plated transformants was streaked out onto a second antibiotic-containing plate and incubated overnight at 37° C to be used to inoculate 100ml of L. directly, or used to inoculate 10ml of LB containing the appropriate antibiotic, and incubated overnight at 37° C with vigorous shaking. This broth culture was then used to inoculate 100ml of LB selection media which was again incubated overnight at 37° C with vigorous shaking.

76

The culture was centrifuged at 3000rpm for 20 minutes and the pellet resuspended in 6ml of lysozyme solution (25mM TrisHCl pH 7.5; 10mM EDTA; 15% sucrose; 2mg/ml lysozyme (Boerninger Mannheim) by gentle pipetting up and down, and placed on ice for 10 minutes. Treatment with EDTA and lysozyme is carried out in the presence of sucrose, which prevents spontaneous cell lysis and results in the formation of spheroplasts, retaining an intact, cytoplasmic membrane. Addition of 12ml NaOH:SDS (0.2M;1%) and gentle mixing, induces cell lysis (Brown 1986). This mixture was placed on ice for 10 minutes, then 7.5ml of 3M sodium acetate (pH 4.6) (20mM) was added, mixed by inversion and the solution placed on ice for a further 20 minutes to bring down the ceiter tebris, protein and chromosomal DNA.

 σ^{x}

The mixture was then centrifuged at 15000rpm for 15 minutes at room temperature to precipitate the cellular debris. The supernatant, containing the plasmid DNA, was transferred to another tube and 5μ l of 1mg/ml RNase A was added to remove the RNA. The solution was placed at 37°C for 20 minutes to maximise the RNase action.

The solution was deproteinised by extracting the supernatant twice with phenol: chloroform: isoamylalcohol [25:24:1] and once with chloroform: isoamylalcohol [24:1]. Phenol (BRL) was melted at 65°C and equilibrated at least three times with 0.1M TrisHCl (pH 8.0), until the pH of the aqueous phase was approximately 7.0. Hydroxyquinolinol (0.1%) was added and the phenol was stored at 4°C for up to two weeks. The DNA was precipitated by addition α 2 volumes of ice-cold absolute ethanol. The solution was placed at -70°C for 30 minutes (or at -20°C overnight) and centrifuged at 3000rpm for 20 minutes. The pellet was washed with 70% ethanol, dried briefly at room temperature and dissolved in 1ml of TE (pH 8.0).

Ø

Plasmid DNA was purified by centrifugation to equilibrium in a caesium chloride-ethidium bromide gradient. Density gradient centrifugation is an important method for separating supercoiled plasmid DNA from linear bacterial DNA. Exactly 4.4g of CsCl were weighed into a plastic tube and dissolved in 3ml of TE (pH 8.0). The plasmid DNA solution was added to the tube and mixed gently but thoroughly by inversion. To this mixture $320\mu l$ of ethidium bromide (Boerhinger Mannheim) (to a final concentration of $740\mu g/m l$) was added and mixed by inversion. The final density of the solution was 1.55g/m l with a refractive index of 1.3860 (Sambrook *et cl.* 1989). The solution was then transferred to a Kwik-Seal centrifuge tube (Beckman, USA) and was centrifuged to equilibrium at 45000rpm in a VTi65 rotor at 20°C for 16-18 hours.

 $\langle \rangle$

The high centrifugal force pulls the caesium and chloride ions towards the outside of the tube, creating a density gradient in which macromolecules will band at their buoyant density. Ethidium bromide binds to DNA molecules by intercalating between adjacent base pairs, causing partial unwinding of the double helix and thus decreasing the buoyant density of linear chromosomal DNA, while little ethidium bromide intercalates supercoiled plasmid DNA (Brown 1°86). After centrifugation, two bands were evident: the upper band of bacterial chromosomal DNA and the lower band of plasmid DNA. The lower band was removed with a syringe inserted into the side of the tube.

The ethidium bromide was removed from the plasmid solution by repeated extractions with equal volumes of isoamylalcohol. The aqueous phase was stored at 4°C in CsCl, since DNA is thought to be more stable in CsCl at lower temperatures. When required for radiolabelling, 100μ l was dialysed against TE buffer (pH 8.0) on a type VS: $\phi 0.025\mu$ m, 2.5cm Millipore filter for 1 hour.

78

٧Ľ,

91

The amount of plasmid DNA present was then estimated on an agarose gel by running a small amount of DNA against a marker of known concentration.

2.3.2.2 Small-scale plasmid DNA preparation

If small amounts of concentrated plasmid DNA were required, a smallscale plasmid preparation (or mini-preparation) procedure was followed.

A single transformant colony was selected and used to inoculate a 10ml overnight culture in LB selection medium. One and a half ml of the culture was centrifuged in an Eppendorf tube in a microfuge (Hägar designs, RSA) at 4°C for 5 minutes and the supernatant removed. The pellet was resuspended in 200µl ice-cold solution I (50mM glucose: 25mM TrisHCl, pH 8.0: 10mM EDTA) by pipetting thoroughly and then allowed to stand at room temperature for 5 minutes. Then 400μ l of solution II (0.2M NaOH: 1% SDS) was added, mixed by inversion and the Eppendorf placed on ice. After 5 minutes, 300µl of ice-cold solution III (3M KOAc: 30mM NaAc) was added, mixed by inversion and the mixture placed on ice for 5 minutes. The solution was centrifuged in a microfuge at 4°C for 5 minutes and the supernatant was extracted twice with phenol: chloreform: isoamylaicohol [25:24:1] and once with chloroform: isoamylalcohol [24:1]. The DIJA was then precipitated with Iml of icecold absolute alcohol and centrifuged at 4°C for 10 minutes. The pellet was resuspended in an appropriate volume of TE (pH 8.0).

The amount of plasmid DNA present was then estimated on an agarose gel by running a small amount of DNA against a marker of known concentration.

2.3.2.3 Commercial mini-preparation

The Magic Minipreps DNA Purification System (Promega, RSA) provides a simple and reliable method for rapidly isolating plasmid DNA, using the techniques of Sambrook *et al.* (1989).

Each miniprep started from a 3ml overnight culture of transformed cells. These cells were pelleted by centrifugation of 1.5ml of culture in an Eppendorf tube for 5 minutes, removal of the supernatant and addition of a further 1.5ml of culture which was again centrifuged for 5 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and the cell pellet was resuspended in 200µl of Cell Resuspension Solution (50 mM TrisHCl, pH 7.5: 10mM EDTA: 100µg/ml RNase A) by gentle pipetting up and down. To the resuspended cells 200µl of Cell Lysis Solution (0.2M NaOH: 1% SDS) was added and mixed by inverting the tube several times until the cell suspension became clear. Then 200µl of Neutralisation Solution (2.55M KOAc, pH 4.8) was added to the tube and mixed by inversion. The solution was then centrifuged at 12000g for 5 minutes and the supernatant transferred to a clean Eppendorf to which Iml of Purification Resin was added and mixed by inversion. For each Miniprep, 1 Minicolumn was attached to a 3ml syringe. The Resin/DNA mix was pipetted into the syringe and pushed into the Minicolumn. The DNA in the Minicolumn was washed with 2ml of Column Wash Solution and the Minicolumn transferred to a 1.5ml Eppendorf which was centifuged at 12000g for 20 seconds to dry the Resin. The Minicolumn was transferred to a new Eppendorf and 50µl of TE was added to the Minicolumn for 1 minute. The DNA was eluted by centrifuging the Minicolumn at 12000g for 20 seconds.

The amount of plasmid DNA present was then estimated on an agarose gel by running a small amount of DNA against a marker of known concentration.

a

2.3.3 Restriction analysis of plasmid DNA

2.3.3.1 Checking the integrity of the human DNA insert

The size of the DNA insert in the plasmid was checked by digestion of $1\mu g$ of the plasmid DNA with the restriction enzyme used for insertion of the human DNA into the plasmid. The restricted DNA was then electrophoresed over a short distance against uncut plasmid DNA and a visible molecular weight marker, to determine the size of the insert.

2.3.3.2 Isolating the human DNA insert

In some cases it was found necessary to utilise the buman DNA insert as the DNA probe, if the entire plasmid gave poor hybridisation results. A small amount $(5\mu g)$ of plasmid DNA was digested with the appropriate restriction enzyme in order to release the human DNA insert. The restricted DNA was then electrophoresed on a 1% low melting point agarose gel (Scaplaque, FMC, Benmore Hospital Suppliers, RSA) at 4°C and at 80V, against uncut plasmid and a visible molecular weight marker The gel was visualised over a UV transilluminator (Spectroline UV Transilluminator, Model TC-312A) and the insert was cut out of the gel, with as little excess agarose as possible. The gel slice was transferred to a preweighed 1.5ml Eppendorf tube. Water was added to the tube at a ratio of 3ml of water per gram of gel. This mixture was boiled for 3-5 minutes and aliquots of approximately 10-60ng of DNA were stored at -20°C until required for radiolabelling.

If it was found necessary to purify the DNA insert further and to remove the agarose, a phenol-freeze method of purification was used. 3
Approximately 300µl of agarose containing DNA insert was placed in a 1.5ml Eppendorf to which 500μ l of phenol was added. This mixture was vortexed until all the agarose was in solution and then frozen rapidly in either liquid nitrogen or in an ethanol-NaCl ice bath for 2 minutes, before spinning in a microfuge at 4°C for 5 minutes. The vortexing, freezing and spinning steps were repeated twice more and then the aqueous top phase, containing insert DNA, was removed and placed in an Eppendorf. To this solution an equal volume of chloroform: isoamylalcohol [24:1] was added and the mixture/was vortexed and spun in a microfuge for 5 minutes at 4°C. To the aqueous phase, one tenth volume 3M sodium acetate and 2 volumes absolute ethanol were added. The DNA was precipitated overnight at -20°C or for 1 hour at -70°C and spun in a microfuge at 4°C for 15 minutes. The supernatant was removed and the DNA pellet washed and spun in 70% ethanol for 15 minutes at 4°C. The ethanol was then removed and the dried pellet was resuspended in an appropriate volume of TE. The amount of plasmid DNA present was then estimated on an agarose gel by running a small amount of DNA against a marker of known concentration.

2.4 Venous blood sample collection and extraction of high molecular weight human genomic DNA from white blood cells

DNA was extracted from peripheral blood leucocytes. Thirty to 60ml of blood was taken by venipuncture, after informed consent, into vacutainer tubes (Radem Laboratory Equipment, RSA) containing acid citrate dextrose (ACD), as an anticoagulant. Approximately 5ml was taken into a plain vacutainer tube resulting in a clotted sample. The blood was centrifuged at 3000rpm for 10-15 minutes at 4°C in order to separate the different blood phases. Serum was removed from the clotted sample and used to test polymorphic serum markers. Plasma was removed from the ACD tubes and approximately 5ml was stored at -70°C for plasma protein studies. One or 2 ACD tubes from each individual were

used for EBV transformation, in the Cytogenetics Unit, in order to produce permanent cell lines for use should the DNA extracted from the leucocytes be finished. The buffy coats, or leucocytes, were collected into two plastic tubes and stored at -20°C until required for DNA extraction. The remaining red blood cells were mixed with an equal volume of preserving fluid (Appendix B) and stored at -20°C. When required for DNA extraction, one buffy coat sample from each individual was thawed at room temperature.

•)

The method of Sykes (1983), with some modifications, was used for human DNA extraction. This technique requires freezing of the buffy coat before the extraction procedure is performed. Thawed samples were poured into 50ml plastic centrifuge tubes (Nunc) and an equal volume of 0.2% Triton X-100: 0.9% NaCl (vol/vol) was added and mixed thoroughly. Triton X-100 is a non-ionic detergent and lyses the cells by removing lipids from the membrane and releasing the cell contents into solution. The mixture was centrifuged at 3000rpm at 4°C for 15 minutes. The pellet was then resuspended in 30ml of fresh saline solution and respun at 4°C at 3000rpm to produce a whiter pellet after removal of the supernatant. If the pellet was too red, the Triton A-100: NaCl wash was repeated.

<u>}</u>

The pellet was then dispersed with a large diameter, sterilised glass rod in a few drops of lysing buffer (7M urea: 0.3M NaCl: 10mM EDTA: 10mM TrisHCl, pH 7.5). The pellet was gradually worked into the lysing buffer using the glass rod. Further small amounts of lysing buffer were added and the solution made up to a final volume of 10ml. Two ml of 10% SDS (Merck) was then added to the solution and the mixture was placed at 37°C for 10 minutes to maximise the lysis.

The proteins and cellular debris were removed using two organic solvents. Phenol and chloroform denature and precipitate proteins efficiently, leaving the nucleic acids in aqueous solution. Some RNA, especially mRNA, will also be removed by phenol treatment, but most will be retained in the aqueous layer

(Brown 1986). This RNA did not appear to interfere with the DNA analysis.

Deproteinisation was carried out by adding 10ml saturated phenol and 5ml chloroform: isoamylalcohol [24:1], followed by vigorous shaking and centrifugation at 3000rpm for 15 minutes. The aqueous phase was retained and the extraction repeated until the aqueous phase was clear. The aqueous phase was mixed with 10ml chloroform: isoamylalcohol [24:1] and centrifuged at 3000rpm for 10 minutes in order to remove the remaining protein and phenol from the solution.

DNA was then precipitated by addition of two and a half volumes of ice-cold absolute ethanol, and was spooled onto a sterile glass rod or removed with a sterile pipette. The alcohol was allowed to evaporate and the DNA³ was dissolved in 1ml TE (pH 8.0) for at least 24 hours.

The approximate DNA concentration of the samples was determined on an agarose gel by running small volumes $(1-5\mu l)$ against known concentrations of lambda DNA. Aliquots of the DNA samples were then stored at 4°C for immediate use and the remainder at -70°C for more permanent storage.

2.5 Analysis of human genomic DNA

100

Molecular hybridisation of nucleic acids to membrane-bound DNA is perhaps the most common means of qualitatively assessing the presence of a particular polynucleotide sequence in a mixture of nucleic acids (Cannon *et al.* 1985). This is commonly achieved by the restriction endonuclease digestion of total human genomic DNA, agarose gel electrophoresis of the fragments, denaturation of the DNA, transfer to nylon membranes by Southern blotting, hybridisation with a specific radioactively labelled probe, and autoradiography.

2.5.1 Restriction endonuclease digestion of genomic DNA

The restriction endonucleases used in this study fell into the category of type II restriction endonucleases (Fuchs and Blakesley 1983). They are listed in Table 2.5, along with their recognition sequences and the manufacturers from whom they were purchased. The restriction enzymes chosen in the search for restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs) include those previously shown to reveal a high frequency of RFLPs in human populations (Barker et al 1984; Wijsman 1984; Feder et al. 1985).

Restriction enzyme digestions of the human DNA were carried out in 1.5ml plastic Eppendorf tubes. Approximately 5-10 μ g of each DNA sample was digested in a final reaction volume of 50 μ l, according to the manufacturer's specifications, using 2-3 units of enzyme per 1 μ g of DNA, and the apy-opriate buffer. Spermidine trihydrochloride (Sigma) was added to the restriction mixture to a final concentration of 4mM if the buffer solution used had an NaCl concentration below 50mM.

Reactions were incubated between 4 and 24 hours, after which approximately one tenth of the total volume was electrophoresed for a short distance at 60-80V on an agarose gel to assess whether it had digested to completion. The gel was visualised under UV light and a completely digested sample was represented by an even smear of DNA.

Reactions were stopped by placing the samples at 4°C or by the addition of one tenth volume of bromophenol blue loading dye. The chelation of Mg^{2+} by EDTA in the loading dye is an effective means of terminating cleavage.

ENZYME	RECOGNITION SEQUENCE ¹	SUPPLIER
BamHI	G/GATCC	Boerhinger Mannheim
BglU	A/GATCT	Anglian
EcoRI	G/AATTC	Anglian
EcoRV	GAT/ATC	Boerhinger Mannheim
HaeIII	GCGC/	Boerhinger Mannheim
HpaI	GTT/AAC	Anglian
HindIII	A/AGCTT	Anglian
Mbol	/GATC	Bethsheda Research
· · ·	1	Laboratories
MspI	C/CGG	Promega
PstI	CTGCA/G	Boerhinger Mannheim
Rsal	GT/AC	Boerhinger Mannheim
Scal	AGT/ACT	Boerhinger Mannheim
Taqi	T/CGA	Boerhinger Mannheim
Xbal	T/CTAGA	Boerhinger Mannheim

ł٠,

<u>َرْ</u> 86

Table 2.5 Type II restriction endonucleases

1. / indicates the position of enzyme cleavage.

2.5.2 Agarose gel electrophoresis of DNA restriction fragments

Following restriction endonuclease digestion, DNA fragments were separated according to molecular weight by electrophoresis through horizontal submarine agarose gels. Agarose creates a matrix which acts as a filter, allowing small fragments to travel further than larger fragments which are slowed down. The migration of fragments is inversely proportional to the logarithm of the molecular weight. Fragments ranging from one to approximately 30kb can be effectively separated in agarose gels, whereas fragments smaller than 1kb are more effectively separated by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (Southern 1975).

Seakem HGT (FMS Bioproducts) agarose was used, the concentration ranging from 0.7% to 1%, depending upon the sizes of the restriction fragments to be separated. The agarose was dissolved in 1xTBE (Appendix) B) buffer while stirring or a magnetic hot plate. When sufficiently cooled, ethidium bromide was added to a final concentration of 0.3µg/ml to facilitate visualisation of the DNA fragments after electrophoresis, just prior to pouring the gel into a horizontal perspex plate mould, 20cm by 18cm, to a depth of 1cm. The wells were made to be approximately 0.5cm wide and 1mm thick. The gel was submerged in 1xTBE running buffer and samples were loaded sequentially into the wells. Marker lanes were loaded with approximately 20ng of marker DNA, to enable fragment size determination. The marker DNA included bacteriophage lambda C1857 digested with HindIII, or EcoRV and HindIII, and was mixed with salmon sperm DNA (SSDNA) (10 μ g), which increased the volume and density of the marker solution so that the fragments ran through the gel at the same rate as the human DNA fragments in the other lanes. The gels were electrophoresed at 30-50V for 12-18 hours, depending upon the sizes of the fragments to be visualised. The DNA was visualised over a UV transilluminator and photographed on Polaroid Type 667 (positive) film, using a yellow filter,

2.5.3 Southern transfer of DNA fragments to a nylon membrane

The most common method of transferring DNA fragments from an agarose gel to a membrane is by capillary action or "Southern blotting". Originally, nitrocellulose membranes were used, however, there are several disadvantages associated with nitrocellulose, including membrane fragility. Thus several manufacturers have developed alternate hybridisation support matrices, including the nylon or chemically modified membranes (Cannon *et al.* 1985).

In this study, the method of Southern (1975) was slightly modified and used for the transfer of DNA fragments to a Hybond-N (Amersham) nylon membrane. The instructions supplied by the manufacturers of Hybond-N were used to produce high resolution and low background in the hybridisation reactions undertaken.

After the gel was photographed over the UV transilluminator, following electrophoresis, the Lel was rinsed with distilled water to remove any remaining running buffer. The DNA in the gel was then denatured by the addition of denaturing solution (1.5M NaCl: 0.5M NaOH) and gentle orbital shaking at room temperature for 30 minutes. The denaturing solution was discarded and the gel rinsed with distilled water. The gel was neutralised in neutralising solution (1.5M NaCl: 0.5M Tris base) (pH 7.0) with gentle agitation for a further 30 minutes. The neutralising solution was discarded and the gel rinsed once more with distilled water. The gel was placed in 20xSSC (Appendix B) prior to blotting.

Hybond-N was cut to the same measurements as the gel. Approximately 500ml of 20xSSC was poured into a plastic container, a glass plate was placed across this container and a single sheet of Whatmann 3M filter paper was spread over the glass, ..., with both ends in the solution, to act as a wick

for the salt solution. Any air bubbles under the wick were pressed out with a plastic pipette. The gel was placed on top of this wick and any air bubbles trapped underneath were rolled out. The Hybond-M membrane was carefully smoothed onto the gel with a pipette, excluding any air bubbles. The filter paper surrounding the gel was covered with plastic wrap to ensure that the salt solution passed only through gel. Two pieces of filter paper, cut to the size of the gel and soaked in 20xSSC, were placed on top of the Hybond-N membrane and four dry pieces were layered on top, followed by approximately 8cm of folded paper towels. A glass plate was placed over the paper towels with a 0.5-1kg weight to distribute the mass evenly over the gel area.

The transfer proceeded for 6-24 hours. Once complete, the paper towelling, filter paper, plastic wrap and gel were discarded and the membrane was labelled for orientation. The membrane was rinsed in 2xSSC, placed between dry filter papers and baked at 80°C for 1-2 hours. The blot was then stored, in the filter paper, in an air-tight plastic bag until required for use.

2.5.4 Radiolabelling of DUA probes

The most efficient method used to label DNA probes was found to be oligolabelling, using hexanucleotide primers (Feinberg and Vogelstein 1983). ³²P deoxycytidine This procedure used triphosphate $(10mC_1/m_1)$ 3000Ci/mmol, Amersham, RSA) as the labelled nucleotide to be incorporated. Oligolabelling was used to label both whole plasmid (Pmel34, pMT4, Human *b*-protein cDNA, DQ α , CALC, SAA, β -globic, pTD3-21 and pTD189-1) and restriction fragments (pML34, pIR4-3R, pIR10-1, CMW-1, pJU201 and pDP151), as described in Section 2.5.2. Specific activities of 10⁹ dpm/µg may be attained using oligolabelling (Feinberg and Vogelstein 1983) and it is possible to attain up to 90% incorporation of the label under optimal conditions. The DNA to be labelled is first denatured by boiling for

3 minutes. Fragments in agarose were placed in a heating block (Hägar Designs, RSA) at 37°C to prevent the agarose solidifying.

The labelling reaction was performed in a total volume of 50μ l. Up to 60ng of plasmid DNA was added to 50μ Ci of ³²P dCTP with oligolabelling buffer (Amersham), 5μ l of primer solution (Amersham), and 2μ l of enzyme solution (provided by Amersham). The mixture was incubated at 37°C for 5 minutes, after which time 1μ l of 0.1M spermidine was added. The solution was then incubated for a further 15 minutes before the percentage incorporation was determined.

Incorporation was checked by spotting 0.5μ of reaction mixture onto a 2.5cm Whatman GF/C filter and total counts were measured using a scintillation meter (Series 900 mini-monitor, Weil Organisation, RSA). The filter was washed over a Millipore manifold attached to a vacuum pump, once with 10% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) and 3 times with 5% TCA. The acid precipitable counts were measured and the percentage incorporation was calculated as follows:

Percentage= TCA precipitable countsx 100%incorporationTotal counts

Incorporation of greater than 50% was acceptable for labelling whole plasmid, while incorporation above 30% was acceptable for smaller fragments due to the greater specificity of hybridisation of the inserv. The reaction was stopped by placing the mix on ice.

In order to separate labelled DNA from unincorporated nucleotides, spun column chromatography was used. This method has advantages over conventional drip column chromatography and several samples can be handled simultaneously.

The spin columns were set up as described by Sambrook et al. (1989). The bottom of a Iml disposable syringe was plugged with a small amount of sterile nylon fibre, or glass wool, which was firmly pressed into place. The syringe was filled with Sephadex G-50 (Fine: 20-80µm, Sigma), inserted into a 15ml disposable plastic tube and centrifuged (IEC Clinical Centrifuge, Company, USA) for 5 minutes at room International Equipment temperature. More sephadex was then added and the column recentrifuged until the volume of the packed column was approximately 0.9ml. The column was equilibrated by adding 100µl of TE (pH 8.0) and recentrifuging for a further 5 minutes. The volume of the probe mix was made up to 100μ l with TE (pH 8.0) and applied to the column. The column was then centrifuged for 5 minutes and the effluent was collected into a decapped 1.5ml Eppendorf tube. Another 100µl of TE (pH 8.0) was applied to the column and recentrifuged into the same Eppendorf, to remove any remaining labelled DNA. The eluted DNA was then transferred to a capped 1.5ml Eppendorf tube and the volume made up to 1ml with TE (pH 8.0).

Prior to hybridisation, the probe was denatured by boiling for 5 minutes and placed on ice for at least 10 minutes before being added to the hybridisation solution.

2.5.5 <u>Hybridisation of Hybond-N membranes</u>

Hybond-N requires only a single solution for both prehybridisation and hybridisation. Prehybridisation is necessary to prevent non-specific binding of nucleic acids to the membrane containing the digested DNA, thus decreasing background hybridisation. Prior to prehybridisation, the membranes were soaked in 2xSSC. They were then praced in plastic bags, with 1-3 blots per bag, to which 10-20ml of 1xprehybridisation solution (10xSSPE; 10xDenhardtr solution; 1% SDS; 400 μ g/ml SSDNA), containing 50% deionised formamide, was added. Formamide is a chaotropic agent and

91

£

ń٩.

lowers the temperature at which DNA-DNA duplex formation occurs (Cannon *et al.* 1985) from 65°C to 42°C. The hybridisation solution contains SSPE sait solution (Appendix B), which masks the natural repulsion between the two highly charged DNA strands and thus enhances hybridisation (Meinkoth and Wahl 1984), and Denhardt's solution (Appendix B), which blocks non-specific DNA binding sites and acts with SSDNA which is added for the same purpose.

Membranes were incubated for 1-24 hours at 42°C with gentle orbital shaking before the labelled probe and labelled λ marker was added to the bag. Incubation was again carried out at 42°C, with gentle shaking for 18-48 hours.

After hybridisation, the membranes were removed from the bags for posthybridisation washes and the hybridisation solution was either discarded or retained for use as a rehybridisation solution. To reuse the hybridisation solution, it was heated to 70°C to denature the DNA and then cooled on ice just prior to use.

2.5.6 Post-hybridisation washes of Hybond-N membranes

After hybridising, the membranes were washed to remove non-specifically bound probe, leaving only stable DNA-DNA duplexes on the blot. For normal strigency washes, the blots were washed twice in 2xSSPE: 0.1% SDS at room temperature for 15 minutes each wash, then washed twice in 1xSSPE: 0.1% SDS at 65°C fc 30 minutes each wash, followed by rinsing in 0.1xSSPE at room temperature to remove any SDS which may cause background. If the signal was too faint, less stringent washes were used (increased salt concentration, for shorter wash times) and if there was background signal, more stringent washes were used (lower salt concentration, for ionger wash times). The membranes were then sealed into plastic bags and set up for autoradiography.

2.5.7 Autoradiography

The sealed bags containing the nylon membranes were placed in Okomoto X-ray cassettes with Trimax calcium tungsten intensifying screens. AGFA Curix X-ray film was placed over the filter. The cassettes were placed at -70°C for 2-14 days, depending upon the expected intensity of the signal. The film was then removed and processed in Ilford (Phenisol) developer and fixed in Ilford (Hypam) fixer in an RP X-OMAT processor (Kodak).

2.5.8 Reuse of Hybond-N membranes

Hybond-N membranes can be successfully reused up to 20 times. In order to remove previously bound probe from filters, the filters were washed in denaturing solution (Appendix B) for 10 minutes, followed by two 10 minute washes in neutralising solution (pH 7.0) (special neutralising solution, Appendix B). Between each wash, the membranes were rinsed twice with distilled water. After the final wash the membranes were placed in 2xSSC until required for rehybridisation. If not used immediately, the filters were sealed singly in plastic bags and stored on a flat surface at 4°C.

2.6 PCR analysis of human genomic DNA

Where possible, the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was utilised to detect polymorphisms, particularly because this technique requires very small amounts of DNA and results can be obtained relatively quickly.

All PCR primers were synthesised at the Biochemistry Departments of the University of the Witwatersrand or the University of Cape Town.

The PCR was used to amplify genomic DNA in standard amplification, reactions in a Perkin-Elmer Cetus or Hybaid thermocycler. All reactions were carried out in Treff PCR tubes, under mineral oil (Sigma), to prevent evaporation of the reaction mix.

2.6.1 <u>RFLP analysis using PCR</u>

Reactions were carried out in a total volume of 25μ l containing: 25-50ng DNA, 5-50pmol each primer, 1.25mM each dNTP, 2U *Taq* polymerase (Promega), 2.5 μ l Promega buffer (10x), 0.5-1 μ l spermidine trihydrochloride (1 in 20 dilution of a 0.1M stock) (optional). Amplification was optimised for each primer set, for 25-30 cycles with denaturation at 94°C for 30-120 seconds, annealing at 47.62°C for 30-150 seconds, extension at 72°C for 60-120 seconds and a final extension at 72°C for 10 minutes.

Amplification products were digested by adding 5-10U of the restriction enzyme and buffer (10x) to the PCR tubes and incubating for 1-2 hours at the appropriate temperature. The restriction products were visualised on 4% Nusieve/HGT (3:1) agarose gels, run for 1-2 hours at 80V, against a visible molecular weight marker.

2.6.2 CA repeat analysis using PCR

Genomic DNA was amplified in a total volume of 25μ l containing: 50-500ng DNA, 50pmol each primer, 200 μ M each dATP, dGTP, dTTP, 2.5 μ M dCTP, 1-2 μ Ci α^{32} P[dCTP], 2U *Taq* polymerase (Promega, RSA), 2.5 μ l Promega buffer (10x). Amplification was optimised for each set of primers for 25-30 cycles with denaturation at 94°C for 30-120 seconds, annealing at 53-62°C for 30-150 seconds, extension at 72°C for 60-120 seconds and a final extension at 72°C for 10 minutes.

A volume of $1.5-3\mu$ of each of the products was added to 2μ of formamide dye (Appendix B), heated to 100°C for 2 minutes and loaded onto 6%

nondenaturing polyacrylamide (Appendix B) gels. End-labelled Hpalldigested pBR322 was used as a size marker in a single lane. Thereafter, a pre-sized reference sample was loaded in each run. Each gel was sequentially loaded 2-5 times and, depending upon the size of the amplified fragments, each loading was run for 30 minutes to 3 hours at 10-30mA (\pm 1200V).

Gels were transferred directly onto Whatman 3M filter paper, covered with plastic wrap and dried (Biorad M583 Dryer) under a vacuum (Savant RT100 Vacuum pump) for 15-30 minutes. The gels were autoradiographed at room temperature for 30 minutes to 5 days, depending upon the intensity of the signal.

2.7 Linkage studies

DNA was extracted from 245 individuals, representing 41 families. Affected sibs from 13 families had ephelides, 23 families had no ephelides and the ephelus status for 5 families was unknown. These individuals were typed for all markers. Details of the markers can be found in Section 2.2.

All data were entered into a data-base for easy access using the computer program DBase III Plus.

2.7.1 Linkage analysis

Linkage analysis was originally performed using the program LIPED, version 3 for personal computers (Ott 1974), by the computation of lod scores. The analyses in this study included the results obtained in two other studies (Heim 1988; Jenkins *et al.* 1990), which were also analysed using the LIPED program. All the results have been reanalysed using the MLINK program of the LINKAGE package (Lathrop *et al.* 1984). All pedigree data and marker data were entered into two separate MLINK files in the required binary

format, using an IBM compatible word-processing program. For linkage analysis between albinism and other markers, 100% penetrance in both sexes and an allele frequency of 0.001 was assumed for the disease trait. Allele frequencies were calculated for each marker. Since linkage to ty-pos OCA is established within each family for any marker, each family was scored separately for the hypervariable markers, irrespective of the actual allele sizes, in order to reduce the total number of alleles necessary for analysis. In this way it was possible to ensure that the computational capacity of the computer was not exceeded. All analyses were limited to a maximum of 12 alleles, irrespective of the number of loci, on the IBM-compatible microcomputer (with numeric processor).

2.7.2 Analysis of allelic association

Once the position of the ty-pos OCA gene was established, the frequency of the polymorphic alleles of the closest markers was calculated using the chisquare test in order to determine whether there was allelic association between these alleles and the ephelus-determining mutation(s) resulting in the absence or presence of ephelides.

It is assumed that a single locus is responsible for the ty-pos OCA phenotype and that different mutations at this locus give rise to the differences seen in the phenotypic manifestation of ty-pos OCA. One aspect of the phenotype which can be scored is the presence or absence of ephelides. When attempting to calculate the frequency of each of these mutations, using the phenotype to predict the genotype, then it is important to acknowledge that one of these allelic mutations may be dominant over the other and thus the true frequency of each of the mutations will be masked. For example, if the mutation(s) giving rise to a ph notype with ephelides is dominant over the mutation(s) resulting in an absence of ephelides, then both the homozygous and heterozygous carriers of the "ephelus mutation" will have ephelides. Only

those individuals homozygous for the mutation(s) giving rise to an absence of ephelides will have this phenotype, so the real frequency of each mutation will not be known as the number of heterozygotes cannot be calculated.

2.7.3 Haplotype analysis

Haplotypes were constructed for all families, using allele segregation in nuclear family units. The mark *s* used included those which had a known physical order and two or three alleles, as well as the closely linked, 12 allele GABRB3 CA repeat *m*, for which the alleles could be scored unambiguously. Haplotypes were generated for non-OCA chromosomes, using known heterozygous individuals, and for chromosomes associated with the ty-pos OCA mutation. The haplotype patterns for affected individuals with and without ephelides were analysed separately in order to test for conserved patterns and te "nguish any obvious differences between the two groups.

The haplotypes were used in an attempt to establish whether a single origin to the ty-pos OCA mutation in southern African Negroids could be postulated. This could be done if there was a conmon allele pattern, particularly at loci closest to the ty-pos OCA gene.

Most of the hypervariable VNTR and dinucleotide repeat loci were not included in the haplotype analysis because, primarily, they are difficult to size without ambiguity, especially by Southern blot analysis. Similarly, as a result of their hypervariability, they are poorly conserved evolutionarily and are likely to have changed since the original mutation(s) occurred at the ty-pos OCA locus. The large number of alleles at these loci and their higher mutation rate (more frequent than the loci with only 2 or 3 alleles), would thus generate a large number of haplotypes, which would be unlikely to show any single common pattern in affected individuals.

2.8 Chromosomal and regional assignment of human cDNA probes

A small amount of SCH DNA was received from Sue Chamberlain (St Mary's Hospital Medical School, UK) and Sue Povey (Galton Laboratory, UK). This DNA was used to assign the human CAS2 cDNA marker to a specific region on human chromosome 9. These lines, PK-87-9 and 640-63a12, were originally obtained from Cynthia Jackson (Rhode Island Hospital, USA) and Carole Jones (Eleanor Roosevelt Institute, USA), respectively, and both occurred on chinese hamster backgrounds. PK-87-9 had chromosome 9 as its only human chromosome (Warburton *et al.* 1990) and 640-63a12 contained 9cen-qter as its only human DNA (C. Jones, personal communication).

The parental cell line used to indicate rodent chromosomes, was propagated by colleagues in the Cytogenetics Unit of the Department of Human Genetics, University of the Witwatersrand (Dos Santos 1986). The rodent parental cells were from Chinese hamster permanent cell line wg3-h (HGPRT[-]). The chromosome composition of the hybrid cell lines were determined cytogenetically by sequential G-banding techniques.

2.8.1 Extraction of high molecular weight DNA from SCH lines

Rodent parent cell lines were cultured by colleagues in the Cytogenetics Unit and DNA was isolated from the cells 10-14 days after planting, once confluent growth was obtained.

The culture medium was poured off and each flask of monolayer cells was washed twice with 5ml of ice-cold PBS (0.14M NaCl: 5mM KCl: 20mM phosphate, pH 7.5). Proteinase K was added to the lysis buffer (10mM TrisHCl, pH 7.5; 5mM EDTA: 0.5% SDS) to a final concentration of 50μ g/ml. The flasks were arranged in piles of 3 each and 5ml of lysis buffer/proteinase K was added to the top flask in each pile. Each flask was

incubated flat in a 45°C waterbath for 10 minutes. The cells were poured off from this flask into the next flask in the pile. The incubation was repeated until all three flasks were lysed. The lysate was collected into a plastic 50ml tube (Nunc) and incubated at 68°C for 30 minutes, followed by a 90 minute incubation at 37°C. The solution was deproteinised by one phenol extraction and one phenol: chloroform: isoamylalcohol [25:24:1] extraction and two chloroform: isoamylalcohol [24:1] extractions. DNA was precipitated from the aqueous phase by addition of 5M NaCl, to a final concentration of 0.3M, and two and a half volumes of ice-cold ethanol. The DNA was spooled onto a glass rod, dried briefly and dissolved in an appropriate volume of TE (pH 8.0). Approximately 500-1000 μ g of DNA was isolated from 3 large confluent flasks.

2.8.2 <u>Preparation of Southern transfers and hybridisations to DNA from</u> <u>SCH lines</u>

Ten to $20\mu g$ of hybrid DNA was digested with restriction enzymes *TaqI* and *XhaI*, along with $10\mu g$ of DNA from normal human male and female controls and DNA from the rodent parental cell line. Digested DNA was electrophoresed on a 0.8% agarose gel, with a molecular weight marker, and was denatured and transferred onto a nylon Hybond-N membrane using the method of Southern blotting, as described in Section 2.5.3.

The probes to be mapped, pMT4 and its human homologue, human CAS2 cDNA, were radiolabelled with ³²P by oligolabelling, and were hybridised sequentially to the SCH DNA on the Southern blots. After autoradiography, the specific lanes of hybrid DNA to which each probe hybridised were noted and compared with the parental cell lines. Details of the preparations of Southern blots, radiolabelling, hybridising and autoradiography are given in Section 2.5.

CHAPTER THREE

ļ]

ťΣ

3. RESULTS

3.1 Mapping the human CAS2 gene

The mouse *b* locus has been mapped to mouse chromosome 4, in a region with homology to human chromosome 9, thus it was likely that the human homologue, CAS2, would map to this human chromosome. The human CAS2 cDNA was hybridized to *TaqI* digests of human DNA, chinese hamster DNA and DNA from two chromosome 9 SCH. The hybridisation pattern is shown in Figure 3.1. Hybridisation revealed a 2 fragment (12kb and 10kb) pattern in human DNA, which wa absent from chinese hamster DNA, and only occurred in the digested DNA from SCH PK-87-9, which contains the whole of human chromosome 9. SCH 640-63a12, which only contains human chromosome 9q, did not have these two bands, suggesting that the CAS2 gene is on human chromosome 9p. This result was confirmed by *in situ* hybridisation, which further localised the gene to 9p22-pter (Chintamaneni *et al.* 1991b).

3.2 The linkage study

3.2.1 Negroid families with ty-pos OCA

Forty-one families participated in this linkage study, of which the affected individuals from 13 presented with ephelides and from 23 presented without ephelides. The ephelus status in 5 families was unknown. There was 100% concordance with respect to ephelus status within families where all affected children were over 10 years of age. The structure and size of each family involved in the study is shown in Table 3.1 and the family data are summarised in Table 3.2.





Ű5

Ô

Autoradiograph showing hybridisation of human CAS2 cDNA to a Southern blot of *Taq*I digested DNA. Lane (L) 1 is a λ *Hinc*III marker, for which the sizes are given to the left of the figure. Lane 7 is vastly overloaded, and contains a λ *Hind*III// II marker, for which accurate sizing was not possible. Lanes 2 and 3, respectively, contain human male and female genomic DNA. Lane 4 contains chinese hamster DNA. Lane 5 contains SCH PK-87-9 DNA and lane 6 contains SCH 640-63a12 DNA.

FAMILY CODE	sphelus Btatus	TOTAL NO INDIVE JUALS	NO OF GENERATIONS	NO APPECTED	NO UNAFFECTED SISS
ZAØA		10	3	3	4
ZABB	-	6	2	4	2
CABC		8	2	3	. 1
zabd	+ ·	9 .	2	3	3
ZABE	+	.7	3	3	1
ZABJ	-	ii	3	3	3 .
савн	•	, 13	3	4	6
ZABI		7	2	2	4
ZABI	3	6	2	1	1
ZABK		5	2	3	1
ZABN	•	7	. 2	:2	· 4
2 49 P	•.	4	1	1	1
ZABQ	+	13	3		5 3
ZABR	• ·	\$	3	1.4	1
2 48 1	•	a s - 2	3	i	1
BAN'R	•	4	٦	. L	6 ¹ 0
MCE	2 - ²⁸ F	5 -	3	2	l į
LACE	4, 7,	5 6	≥ 2	2	2
2467	1	4	2	2	0
CACO -	•	4	3	1	ž _
7.ACI	•	<u>्</u> य	2	, 1	2
ZACK		1 4	3	1	1
ZACL.	+	9	2	2	4
SACM	· . • ·	7	2	1	4
2ACO	•	_4	2	. 1	2
ACP		3	2	1	1
EAC\$	· +	3	2	ł	I V
ZADA	•	3	2	1	1
(ADC)	+	4	2	1	1
LADF	•	5	2	1	2 .
ALX1		16	3	4	i .
ANN	?	4	2	.*	ŧ
KIN .	,	3	2 .	1	Ø
LADI	+	. 4	2	4 5 - 199	1
CADL	•	٩	3	2	2
(Alk)		5	2	2	t
LN W		4	3	3	¢.
Ladx	-	۰.	2	3	• :
LADY		t	3	× 3	-) 0
NUA		, Б	2	2	2
		_			

Õ

f.

102

 $c_{ij}^{(j)}$

Table 3.2: Summary of families with ty-pos OCA

Ŷ

	FAMILIES			INDIVIDUALS				AFFECTED INDIVIDUALS				
EPHELUS STATUS	+	-	?	TOTAL	+	-	?	TOTAL	+	-	?	TOTAL
NUMBER	13	23	5	41	80	147	22	249	21	48	7	76

1 : + With ephelides - Without ephelides

? Ephelus status unknown
2 : Unaffected individuals from families where affected individuals present with (+) and without (-) ephelides

्ः]

3.2.2 Two-point linkage analysis with random polymorphic markers

All two-point linkage analysis was done using the MLINK package of the LINKAGE program. For linkage analysis between ty-pos (ICA and other markers, the following criteria were assumed for the disease trait: $\Theta_m = \Theta_f$, 100% penetrance and an allele frequency of 0.001.

3.2.2.1 Random serogenetic markers

Table 3.3 summarises the data obtained in two-point linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and 19 random serogenetic markers, on 10 different chromosomes, as well as the polymorphism information content of each system in the Negroid population. These data were previously analysed using the LIPED program (Jenkins *et al.* 1990). From the data generated using the LINKAGE program, close linkage can be excluded between typos OCA and PGM1, RH, PGD, FY ACP1, GPX1, TF, GC, GYPA, GYPB, BF, GLO, GPT1, CA2, ABO and PEPA (Z<-2 at θ =0.01). Equivocal results were obtained between ty-pos OCA and AK, PI and HP, which did not show significantly negative lod scores at θ =0.01 (-2<Z<3). At θ =0.2, only RH could be conclusively excluded from linkage to ty-pos OCA (Z=-2.67).

Slightly positive lod scores were obtained between ty-pos OCA and BF (Z=0.92, Θ =0.2), PI (Z=0.72, Θ =0.01) and HP (Z=0.42, Θ =0.2). However, these lod scores are not significantly positive (Z<3) and therefore do not suggest close linkage between the ty-pos OCA locus and any of these markers. The slightly positive lod score obtained for BF (Z=0.92, Θ =0.2) was consistent with the positive lod score obtained previously (Jenkins *et al.* 1990) and thus other markers on chromosome 6p were tested for linkage.

			LOD SCORES AT RECOMBINATION FRACTION 0							
MARKER	CHROMOSOME POSITION	NO OF FAMILIES ¹	PIC ^a	0.01	0.05	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4	
PGM1	1p22. 1	18	0.53	-9.67	-4.38	-2.38	-0.83	-0.26	-0.05	
AK	1p34	11	0.04	-0.003	-0.003	-0.003	-0.002	-0.001	0.00	
RH	1p34.3-p36.1	24	0.47	-20.84	-10.57	-6.37	-2.67	-1.00	-0.23	
PGD	1p36.13-p36.2	7	0.21	-3.09	-1.16	-0.47	-0. 01	0.07	0.03	
FY	1p21-q23	12	0.28	-5.85	-2.55	-1.31	-0.37	-0.07	-0.003	
ACPI	2р23-р25	17	0.43	-4.20	-2.08	-1.20	-0.45	-0.15	-0.03	
GPX1	3p13-p21.1	13	0.09	-2.23	-0.91	-0.43	-0.07	0.01	0.01	
TF	3q21-q26.1	24	0.15	-2.21	-C.90	-0.41	-0.07	0.01	0.01	
GC	4q12-q13	25	0.44	-13.12	-6.82	-4.18	-1.78	-0.66	-0.13	
GYPA (MN)	4q28-q31	32	0.37	-12.84	-5.56	-2.83	-0.79	-0,14	0.01	
GYPB (Ss)	4q28-q31	32	0,26	-7.52	-2.92	-1.24	-0.10	0.12	0.06	
BF	6p21.3	24	 .47	-2.86	0.11	0.90	0,92	0,50	0.14	
GLO	6p21.1-p21.3	16	0.32	-5.64	-1.60	-0.38	6.35	0,35	0.13	
GPT1	8q13-qter	16	0.22	-4.58	-2.45	-1.53	-0.67	-0.26	-0.06	
CA2	8q22	17	0.16	-4.39	-1.83	-0.92	-0.28	-0.08	-0.02	
ABO	9q34	33	0.42	-20.65	-9.74	-5.38	-1.83	-0.54	-0.11	
PI	14q32	32	0.17	0.72	0.68	0.61	0.45	0.26	0.08	
HP	16q22.1	23	0.51	-1.54	-0.24	0.22	0.42	0.28	0.08	
PEPA	18q23	14	0.20	-3.94	-1.95	-1.17	-0.50	-0.19	-0.04	

Table 3.3: Two-point linkage analysis between 19 random serogenetic markers and ty-pos OCA

1: Number of informative families 2: Polymorphism information content

3.2.2.2 Random DNA markers

Two-point linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and 15 random polymorphic DNA markers, on 8 different chromosomes, did not reveal any significantly positive lod scores (Table 3.4). At $\Theta = 0.2$, none of the markers showed significantly negative lod scores (all Z>-2) and the only positive lod scores obtained were between ty-pos OCA and RH52 (Z=0.38, $\Theta = 0.3$), DQ α (Z=0.44, $\Theta = 0.3$), Mfd61 (Z=0.71, $\Theta = 0.3$) and MR3 (Z=0.81, $\Theta = 0.1$). These results are not significantly positive (Z<3) and thus do not suggest evidence of linkage between ty-pos OCA and any of these random DNA markers. The slightly positive lod scores found between the serogenetic marker, BF, on 6p and ty-pos OCA, are also found with two f the other 6p DNA markers, DQ α and Mfd61. However, since these lod scores are not significantly positive (Z<3) these markers are not likely to be linked to ty-pos QCA.

3.2.3 <u>Two-point linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and 2 candidate loci,</u> and a candidate region on 11p

3.2.3.1 Tyrosinase locus

Table 3.5 summarises the results obtained with the human tyrosinase cDNA, Pmel34, showing a significantly negative lod score of -5.81 at θ =0.01. Thus tyrosinase can be excluded as a candidate locus for ty-pos OCA.

		LOD SCORES AT RECOMBINAT FRACTION 0								ON
MARKER	LOCUS	CHROMOSOME POSITION	NO OF FAMILIES ¹	PIC ²	<u> </u>	0.05	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4
2D9-1	D1 \$ 116	1p31.2	24	0.38	-13.23	-5.71	-3.04	-1.13	-0.47	-0.17
Mfd3	APOA2	1q21-q23.2	34	0.79	-29.59	-12.39	-6.14	-1.69	-0.37	-0.04
RH52	RH52	1	32	0.37	-9.62	-3.79	-1.67	-0.23	0.08	0,05
ALB	ALB	4q11-q13	35	0.36	-13.63	-5.97	-3.01	-0.80	-0.15	-0.01
DXα	HLA	6p21	31	0.37	-13.56	-5.66	-2.75	-0.6.	-0.08	0.01
DQα	HLA	6p21	32	0.77	-19.77	-7.11	-2.74	0.02	0.44	0.19
Mfd61	D6S105	бр	38	0.83	-32.52	-11.92	-4.68	-0.03	0.71	0.31
pMP6d9	D7S399	7q31	33	0.37	-15.51	-7.30	-4.05	-1.42	-0.42	-0.07
pJ3-11	D7\$8	7q31	31	0.35	-8.19	-3.46	-1.68	-0.42	-0,07	-0.01
pAW101	D14S1	14q32.1-32.2	6	0.69	-7.83	-3.29	-1.63	-0.42	-0.06	0.00
Mfd15	D178250	17q11.2-q12	29	0.89	-21.83	-9.66	-5.01	-1.46	-0.29	-0.01
мро	MPO	17q21.3-q23	38	0.72	-17.05	-6.42	-2.56	-0.03	0.36	0.15
MR3	MR3	17	14	0.37	-0,54	0.56	0.81	0.70	0.39	0.11
MR22	MR22	18	15	0.35	-5.48	-1.69	-0.41	0.31	0.31	0.11
335/334	D218168	21q22.3	22	0.75	-22.83	-9.74	-4.84	-1.18	-0.11	0.05

Table 3.4: Two-point linkage analysis between 15 random polymorphic DNA markers and ty-pos OCA

1: Number of informative families 2: Polymorphism information content

					LOD SCORES AT RECOMBINATION FRACTION 0						
LOCUS	MARKER	CHROMOSOME POSITION	NO OF FAMILIES ¹	PIC ²	0.01	0.05	0.1	0.2	0.3	6.4	
TYR	Pmel34	11q14-q21	14	0.20	-5.81	-2.83	-1.58	-0.53	-0.15	-0.02	
CAS2	CAS2	9p22-pter	27	0.09	-6.51	-2.75	-1.25	-0.13	0.12	0.06	

 $\cdot 2$

Table 3.5: Two-point linkage analysis between 2 candidate loc: and ty-pos OCA

1: Number of informative families 2: Polymorphism information content

108

3/33-25

In order to test for possible locus heterogeneity and to show exclusion of linkage to the tyrosinase locus in all families, the lod scores obtained at a recombination fraction $\Theta = 0.01$, were calculated for each family and are shown in Table 3.6. or each group, the summated lod score is negative, showing that there is no locus heterogeneity. The only positive scores obtained (families ZABK [Z=0.01], ZABN [Z=0.48], ZABR [Z=0.12] and ZACO [Z=0.12]), are not significantly positive and do not suggest locus heterogeneity. The relatively high lod score obtained for ZABN (Z=0.48), may be accounted for by a lack of information. No DNA was obtained from the father and the polymorphic alleles in the family are compatible with linkage, but also be explained by homozygosity in the absent father. Thus the tyrosinase locus is excluded from being the locus for ty-pos OCA in all groups.

The tyrosinase/MboI RFLP, present in Caucasoids, Asians and Afrocarribeans, but absent from Orientals, was not found in the 32 random Negroids screened for the polymorphism and is thus unlikely to be present in this population.

3.2.3.2 The CAS2 locus

Figure 3.2 shows the two allele Xbal RFLP detected by both the mouse b locus cDNA, pMT4, and the human CAS2 cDNA. In the Negroid population, the 10kb allele occurs with a frequency of 0.96 and the 8.6kb allele occurs with a frequency 0.04 (Colman *et al.* 1991a). Two-point linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and the human CAS2 cDNA is summarised in Table 3.5. At Θ =0.01, Z=-6.51, thus excluding the CAS2 locus as a candidate locus for ty-pos OCA.

PAMILIES WITHOUT EPHELIDES	LOD SCORES AT 0=0.01	FAMILIES WITH EPHELIDES	LOD SCORES AT Ə=0.01'						
ZABA	• .	(ABD	•						
ZABB	· 🖬	ZABE	<u>-</u> ·						
ZABC	- _{ii} .	ZABQ	-						
ZABG	- '	ZABR	0.12						
ZABH	. .	ZABT	-						
ZABI	-	ZABZ	-						
ZABK	0.01	ZACB	-1.32						
ZABN	0,48	ZACE							
ZABP	-0.01	⁰ ZACL	-						
ZACG	-1.28	ZACM	- ·						
ZACJ	-	ZACS	-0.17						
ZACK	-0.20	ZADC	-						
ZACO	0.12	ZADJ	-						
ZACP	-0.01	TOTAL	-1.37						
ZÁDA	-								
ZADF	•	FAMILIES OF							
ZADG	-	UNKNOWN STATUS	LOD SCORES AT 0=0.01 ⁱ						
ZADL	-								
ZADU	*	ZABJ	-0.32						
ZADW	-1.33	ZACF	-1.40						
ZADX	-	ZADH	-						
ZADY	-0.50	ZADI	•						
ZADZ		ZAFA	-						
TOTAL	-2.72	TOTAL	-1,72						
тот	TOTAL LOD SCORE FOR ALL FAMILIES = -5.81								

Table 3.6: Two-point linkage analysis between ty-posOCA and the tyrosinase locus in each familyat $\Theta = 0.01$

1 : "-"indicates family uninformative at this locus

ķ

Ï



111

Figure 3.2 An autoradiograph showing the two allele XbaI RFLP detected by hybridisation to the CAS2 cDNA in family ZACF. The shaded symbols represent affected individuals with ty-pos OCA (c - constant).

3.2.3.3 Linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and a candidate region on 11p

Two-point linkage analysis did not suggest evidence of linkage between ty-pos OCA and 4 markers on 11p, as shown in Table 3.7. At $\Theta = 0.05$, all the lod scores were significantly negative ($\mathbb{Z} < -2$) and at $\Theta = 0.2$, all the lod scores were slightly negative. These results exclude close linkage between four markers on 11p and ty-pos OCA.

3.2.4 Two-point linkage analysis between markers on 15g and ty-pos OCA

Positive lod scores were originally obtained when markers pTD189-1 (D15S13) and pTD3-21 (D15S10), on chromosome 15q11-q12, were tested for linkage to ty-pos OCA (Ramsay *et al.* 1992). Another 6 markers in the chromosome 15q11-q12 region and 2 markers in the chromosome 15q11-q13 region were also tested for linkage. Four markers in more distal 15q positions and a single marker, Mfd49, which had not been sublocalised on chromosome 15, were subsequently tested for linkage.

Figure 3.3 illustrates the inheritance of the 3 pTD3-21/TaqI alleles and Figure 3.4 shows the inheritance of the GABRB3 CA repeat, amplified by the PCR.

					LOD SCORES AT RECOMBINATION FRACTION 0						
MARKER	LOCUS	CHROMOSOME POSITION	NO OF FAMILIES	PIC ²	6.01	0.05	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4	
pHC36	CALCA	11p14-p15.5	31	0.37	-9.08	-3,83	-1.87	-0.45	-0.06	0.01	
pSAA82	SAA	11pi1-pter	34	0.58	-16.45	-7.18	-3.72	-1.14	-0.30	-0.06	
pDH3.2	HBB	11p15.5	32	0.60	-14.33	-6.29	-3.25	-0.99	-0.26	-0.04	
716/718	WTI	11p13	17	0.76	-14.11	-5.53	-2.41	-0.29	0.18	0.12	

Table 3.7: Two-point linkage analysis between the human chromosome 11p candidate region and ty-pos OCA

1: Number of informative families 2: Polymorphism information content

()

Ç





 λ_i^2

Inheritance of the pTD3-21/TaqI alleles in family ZABD. The 3.0kb allele is Negroid-specific (Colman *et al.* 1992). The shaded symbols represent affected individuals with ty-pos OCA. The alleles inherited by the second unaffected child illustrate a recombination between the disease locus and the marker locus since this individual has inherited the same pTD3-21/TaqI alleles as her affected sibs. The Θ_{max} between the pTD3-21 and ty-pos OCA loci is 0.1



Figure 3.4

Ĝ

Đ

Inheritance of CA repeat alleles at the GABRB3 locus in family ZADZ detected by PCR, denaturing polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and autoradiography. The darkest bands are the scored alleles (A) and the lighter bands on either side may represent products of slippage during replication or of *Taq* polymerase infidelity. The shaded symbols represent affected individuals. [GABRB3 is closely linked to the ty-pos OCA locus and thus the alleles inherited by the second child (first unaffected) illustrate an obligate cross-over in this individual. Both affected children have inherited bands 1 and 2, each of which must therefore segregate with the disease gene. Since the second child is unaffected, but also has alleles 1 and 2, there must be a cross-over between one of these alleles and the disease gene in this individual]. Table 3.8 summarises the results of two-point linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and a total of 15 markers on the long arm of chromosome 15, confirming linkage to the 15q11-q13 chromosomal region. Significantly positive lod scores were obtained between ty-pos OCA and markers pTD3-21 (Z=3.95, Θ =0.1), D15S10 (Z=6.50, Θ =0.05), D15S11 (Z=8.03, Θ =0.05), pIR10-1 (Z=7.87, Θ =0.01), GABRB3 (Z=12.17, Θ =0.05), MS14 (Z=7.65, Θ =0.05) and CMW-1 (Z=13.88, Θ =0.01). Positive lod scores were also obtained between ty-pos OCA and pIR4-3R (Z=2.64, Θ =0.1) and ACTC (Z=2.36, Θ =0.1).

Markers physically mapped to the 15q11-q13 region showed the most significantly positive lod scores, suggesting that the locus for ty-pos OCA is in or very near to this region. The THBS, D15S2, D15S3 and D15S87 loci did not show evidence of close linkage to ty-pos OCA (Z<2 at all Θ values). Table 3.9 shows the maximum lod scores (Z) and recombination values (Θ) between all closely linked chromosome 15 markers and ty-pos OCA, in the order of increasing recombination fractions (Θ).

The loci which did not show close linkage with ty-pos OCA - D15S2, D15S3, THBS and D15S87 - were \cdot t included in the maximum likelihood estimate table because of their insignificant lod scores (Z<2). In order to provide maximum linkage information, those markers which have been physically mapped to the same locus - pTD3-21 and D15S10, and pIR4-3R and D15S11 - have been analysed as haplotypes for the maximum likelihood analysis.

Ŷ
			<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	<u>en leinigin sieden a</u>	LOD SCORES AT RECOMF/INATION FRACTION 0					N
MARKER	LOCUS	CHROMOSOME POSITION	NO OF FAMILIES ¹	PIC ²	9. 01	9.05	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4
pTD189-1	D15S13	15q11-q12	20	0.34	-0.79	1.46	1.96	1.70	0.98	0.29
pTD3-21	D15810	15q11-q12	28	0.59	0.36	3.49	3.95	3.09	1.69	0.49
D15S10	D15S10	15q11-q12	38	0.80	3.82	6.50	6.34	4.34	2.15	0.58
pML54	D1589	15q11-q12	24	0.58	-1.75	0.77	1.41	1.33	0.78	0.25
pIR4-3R	D15911	15q11-q1 [^]	32	0.37	1.11	2.53	2.64	1.99	1.08	0.31
D15S11	D15S11	15q11-q12	40	0.85	4.43	8.03	8.00	5.66	2.88	0.76
pIR10-1	D15S12	15q11-q12	23	0.55	7.87	6.98	5.86	3.72	1.85	0.50
GABRB3	GABRB3	15q11.2-q12	41	0.83	10.71	12.17	11.12	7.60	3.94	1.13
MS14	D15897	15q11-q13	35	0.85	5 57	7.65	7.38	5.33	2.87	0.81
CMW-1	D15S24	15q13	38	0.86	13.88	12.45	10.58	6.85	3.54	0.95
635/636	ACTC	15g11-gter	40	0.80	-4.24	1.05	2.36	2.18	1.18	0.33
THBS1	THBS	15q15	40	0.75	-15.63	-3.92	-0.20	1.54	1.17	0.38
pDP151	D15S2	15q15-q22	5	0.37	0.61	0.58	0.52	0.38	0.22	0.07
pJU201	D15S3	15q26	12	0.75	-8.12	-2.99	-1.19	-0.03	0.16	0.07
Mfd49	D15S87	15	41	0.83	-25.44	-9.82	-4.24	-0.51	0.26	0.15

Table 3.8: Two-point linkage analysis between 15 markers on 15q and ty-pos OCA

1: Number of informative families 2: Polymorphism information content

 $^{\circ}$

*

S.

Table 3.9: Maximum likelihood estimates (Z) and recombination values (O) for linkage between chromosome 15 markers and ty-pos OCA

MARKER	LOCUS	CHROMOSOME POSITION	NO FAMILIES ²	"Z MAX	θ
pIR10-1	D15812	15q11-g12	23	8.09	0,00
CMW	D15524	15q13	38	14.18	0.001
GABRB3	GABRB3	15q11.2-q12	41	12.20	0,04
MS14	D15897	15q11-q13	35	7.70	0.06
D158113	D15\$11	15q11-q12	32	5.90	0.08
D155104	D15810	15q11-q12	32	8. 9 7	0.07
pTD189-1	D15813	15q11-q12	40	8.23	0.07
635/636	ACTC	15q11-qtor	40	2i	0.13
pML34	D1589	15q11-q12	24	1.49	0,14
THBS1	THBS	15q15	40	1.55	0.22

1 : Loci given in the order of increasing recombination fractions (Θ) 2 : Number of informative families

3 : D15S11 (CA repeat)/pIR4-3R RFLP haplotype

4 : D15S10 (CA repeat)/pTD3-21 RFLP haplotype

From genetic linkage analysis, the closest marker to the ty-pos OCA locus is D15S12 (pIR10-1) (Z=8.09, Θ =0.00). Since there are no obligatory crossovers between this marker and ty-pos OCA in southern African Negroids, the D15S12 locus is likely to be very close to, or form part of, the ty-pos OCA locus. Table 3.10 shows the lod scores obtained for each family with twopoint linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and pIR10-1 (D15S12), according to ephelus status. For each group, the summated lod score is positive, and the only negative lod scores obtained (ZABA [Z=-0.002], ZABI [Z=-0.01], ZABP [Z=-0.04] and ZACP [Z=-0.13]) are generated by a lack of data, rather than evidence for recombination, suggesting that there is no locus heterogeneity. Assuming D15S12 lies close to, or forms part of, the ty-pos OCA locus, then the closest flanking markers are GABRB3, in a proximal position, and D15S24 (CMW-1), positioned distal to the ty-pos OCA locus.

jħ,

From physical mapping, D15S24 (CMW-1) is likely to lie distal to the ty-pos OCA locus. Similarly, physical mapping places the THBS and D15S3 (pJU201) loci distal to the ty-pos OCA locus, lying further along the chromosome than D15S24 (CMW-1). The pDP151 (D15S2) marker was only informative in 5 families and thus the lod score obtained ($Z=0.61, \Theta=0.01$) is insignificant. Therefore, this score canno: be used as an estimate of genetic distance, especially since the marker has been physically mapped to 15015q22. Markers pTD3-21 and D15S10 (CA repeat) physically map to the same locus, however, from the two-point linkage analysis with ty-pos OCA, they appear to map approximately 3cM apart. These results may have been generated because the CA repeat system, D15S10, is more informative than the pTD3-21/Tagl RFLP system, thus providing more genetic information in two-point linkage analysis with ty-pos OCA. Markers pIR4-3R and D15S11 (CA repeat) also physically map to the same locus, but appear to map approximately 1cM apart from two-point linkage analysis with ty-pos OCA. The CA repeat, D15S11, is more informative than the pIR4-3R/Rsal RFLP, which may affect the analysis of the genetic linkage data generated.

FAMILIES WITHOUT EPHELIDES	LOD SCORES AT 0=0.01	FAMILIES WITH EPHELIDES	LOD SCORES AT 9=0.014		
ZABA	-0,032	ZABD	1.45		
ZABB	0.55	ZABE	-		
ZABC	0.09	ZABQ	0.33		
ZABO	•	ZABR	0.125		
ZABH	-	ZABT	0.125		
ZABI	-0.01	ZABZ	-		
ZABK	0.81	ZACB	0.73		
ZABN	-	ZACE	0.25		
ZABP	-0.04	ZACL	0.60		
ZACG	0.13	ZACM	0.12		
ZACJ	0.13	ZACS	•		
ZACK	0.13	ZADC	0.125		
2400	•	ZADJ	-		
ZACP	-0,13	TOTAL	3.87		
ZADA	0.13				
ZADF		FAMILIES OF			
ZADG	0.19	STATUS	AT 8=0.01		
ZADL	0.25				
ZADU	-	ZABI	0.07		
ZADW	0.15	ZACF	0.60		
ZADX	0.73	ZADH	-		
ZADY	0.14	ZADI	•		
ZADZ	-	ZAFA	0.30		
TOTAL	3.25	TOTAL	0.97		
TOTAL LOD SCORE FOR ALL FAMILIES = 8.09					

Table 3.10:Two-point linkage analysis between ty-posOCA and pEx10-1 (D15S12) in each family
at Θ =0.01

I : "-"indicates family uninformative at this locus

On the basis of the two-point linkage analysis and recombination values between ty-pos OCA and each of the markers on chromosome 15q, a genetic linkage map can be constructed and compared to the physical map, as shown in Figure 3.5.

3.2.5 Pairwise linkage analysis between all markers on chromosome 15g

Table 3.11 summarises the results of two-point linkage analysis between markers on chromosome 15q which show linkage to the ty-pos OCA locus [excluding D15S2 (pDP151), D15S3 (pJU201) and D15S2⁷ (Mfd49)], showing the recombination fraction (Θ) at the maximum likelihood (Z) for each marker-m₂ combination. Linkage analysis could only be carried out between markers with fewer than 6 alleles each, due to the limitations imposed by the LINKAGE program for personal computers. For markermarker analysis, the allele numbers were reduced for all systems with multiple alleles, while maintaining full linkage information in each family.

The informativity of one system relative to another is likely to affect the genetic distances between the markers generated by two-point linkage analysis. Thus two point marker-marker linkage analysis may generate a different genetic map of the positions of the markers on chromosome 15q, relative to one another, than two-point marker-disease linkage analysis. For example, using the known physical map (Kuwano *et al.* 1992), and assuming pIR10-1 (D15S12) maps close to or at the ty-pos OCA locus, then the genetic map generated from two-point linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and each marker (Table 3.9) should be: D15S9-D15S13-D15S10(CA)-D15S10(RFLP)-D15S11(CA)-D15S11(RFLP)-D15S97-GABRB3-(D15S12/TY-POS OCA)-D15S24-ACTC-THBS1.

		RECOMBINATION
LOCUS	MARKER	FRACTION (O)
CENT		
D1589	pML34	0.14
D15S11	pIR4-3R/CA	0.08
D15S13	pTD189-1	0.12
- D15810	pTD3-21/CA	0.07
(D15S97)	(MS14)	0.06
GABRB3	CA	0.04
D15512	pIR10-1	0.00
(POS OCA) D15S24	CMW	0,001
- (ACTC)	(ACTC)	0.13
THBS1	THBS1	0.22
TEL		

CHROMOSOME 15q

Figure 3.5 The physical map of chromosome 15q markers closely linked to typos OCA (Kuwano *et al.* 1992) and the recombination fractions between these markers and ty-pos OCA. Loci ACTC and D15S97 have not yet been physically mapped and have been provisionally positioned using the genetic distances (Θ) between each locus and ty-pos OCA. The D15S10 and D15S11 loci have been analysed as haplotypes. (1: CA = CA repeat polymorphism)

z Ø	D15512 pIR10-1	D15S24 CMW	CA ¹ GABRB3	D15897 MS14	D15SI1 pIR4-3R	CA ² D15S11	CA ² DI5S10	D15810 pTD3-21	D15813 pTD189-1	CA ¹ ACTC	D1589 pML34	CA' THESI
B15S12/pIR10-1		0.16	0.13	D.12	0.06	0.24	0.21	0.11	0.13	0.22	0.14	0.17
D15SZ4/CMW-1	1.19		ND	ND	0.06	ND	0.07	0.13	0.15	0.13	0.08	ND
GABRE3/CA2	3.43	ND		ND	0.05	ND	0.06	0.03	0.08	0.22	0.14	ND
D15S97/MS14	2.82	ND	ND		0.07	ND	0.08	0.05	0.05	0.21	0.19	ND
D15S11/pIR4-3R	2.22	3.99	9.23	2.99		0.04	C.0 9	0.05	0.04	0.26	0.09	0.24
D15S11/CA2	0,54	ND	ND	ND	7.67		0.09	0.05	0.03	0.19	0.09	ND
D15S10/CA3	0.91	8.90	16.58	9.76	3.08	9,36	· · ·	0.01	0.05	0.17	0.07	0.25
D15S10/pTD3-21	1.58	3.45	17.93	9.37	5.78	12.74	13.45		0.02	0.17	0.12	0.22
D15Si3/pTD189-1	1.31	1.16	7.10	5.47	3.64	7.04	5.26	7.53		0.30	0.04	-
ACTC/CA ³	1.11	5.39	4.77	2.11	0.70	3,28	3.39	2.62	0.12		0.17	0.18
D1559/pML34	0.62	3.74	3.14	0.85	2.75	4.58	3.01	2.09	2.27	1.23		0.22
TEBS1/CA ³	2.32	ND	ND	ND	0.96	ND	1.65	1.87	-	3.81	0.72	

Table 3.11: Pairwise recombination results (0) and maximum likelihoods (Z) between all markers on chromosome 15g¹

1: ND "Not done" (microcomputer analysis limited by number of alleles)
 "-" No genetic linkage (Z negative for all values of θ)

2:CA = CA repeat

Constraints

No.

However, pairwise linkage analysis between pIR10-1 (D15S12) and each marker (Table 3.11), generates another genetic map: D15S11(CA)-D15S10(CA)-D15S9-D15S13-GABRB3-D15S97-D15S10(RFLP)-D15S11(RFLP)-(D15S12/TY-POS OCA)-D15S24-ACTC-THBS1, presumably as a result of the varying informativity of each marker.

Marker-marker pairwise linkage analysis places D15S10 (CA repeat) and pTD3-21 only icM apart (Table 3.11), as compared to an apparent distance of 3cM genetic between them, generated by two-point linkage analysis between each marker and ty-pos OCA (Table 3.9). There is no detectable linkage between D15S87 (Mfd49) and D15S9 (pML34) (results not shown), and thus it is likely that D15S87 maps distal to the ty-pos OCA locus, closer to THBS1, although linkage analysis could not be carried out between D15S87 appear to be linked (Z=2.30, Θ =0.16) (results not shown) and thus it is unlikely that D15S87 would be linked to other markers in the 15q11-q12 region.

Two-point linkage analysis places markers D15S11 (CA repeat) and pIR4-3R approximately 4cM apart (an obligate cross-over was observed in ZADG). Marker D15S2 (pDP151) was only informative in 5 families and thus the pairwise linkage analysis between this marker and all the other chromosome 15q markers is unlikely to reach statistical significance, although it does show an equivocally positive lod score with GABRB3 (Z=1.74, Θ =0.901).

However, pairwise linkage analysis between pIR10-1 (D15S12) and each marker (Table 3.11), generates another genetic map: D15S11(CA)-D15S10(CA)-D15S9-D15S13-GABRB3-D15S97-D15S10(RFLP)-D15S11(RFLP)-(D15S12/TY-POS OCA)-D15S24-ACTC-THBS1, presumably as a result of the varying informativity of each marker.

Marker-marker pairwise linkage analysis places D15S10 (CA repeat) and pTD3-21 only 1cM apart (Table 3.11), as compared to an apparent distance of 3cM genetic between them, generated by two-point linkage analysis between each marker and ty-pos OCA (Table 3.9). There is no detectable linkage between D15S87 (Mfd49) and D15S9 (pML34) (results not shown), and thus it is likely that D15S87 maps distal to the ty-pos OCA locus, closer to THBS1, although linkage analysis could not be carried out between D15S87 appear to be linked (Z=2.30, θ =0.16) (results not shown) and thus it is unlikely that D15S87 would be linked to other markers in the 15q11-q12 region.

Two-point linkage analysis places markers D15S11 (CA repeat) and pIR4-3R approximately 4cM apart (an obligate cross-over was observed in ZADG). Marker D15S2 (pDP151) was only informative in 5 families and thus the pairwise linkage analysis between this marker and all the other chromosome 15q markers is unlikely to reach statistical significance, although it does show an equivocally positive lod score with GABRB3 (Z=1.74, Θ =0.001).

3.3 Allelic association between pIR10-1 (D15S12) and the ty-pos OCA mutation(s)

Since there was no observed recombination between the alleles at the D15S12 (pIR10-1) locus and ty-pos OCA in southern African Negroids, it may be assumed that D15S12 maps close to, or at, the ty-pos OCA locus. Thus there may be an association between one or more of the three alleles detected by the pIR10-1 (D15S12)/ScaI RFLP and different alleles of, or mutations at, the ty-pos OCA locus. There are assumed to be at least 3 different types of alleles or mutations at the ty-pos OCA gene - one associated with the normal or non-ty-pos OCA allele (determined from known carriers), one associated with ty-pos OCA without ephelides. Thus each of these groups of chromosomes is thought to be associated with a different ty-pos OCA gene sequence.

Table 3.12 shows the numbers and frequencies of the alleles detected by the pIR10-1/Scal RFLP in the three different groups. When using the chi-square test to compare the observed number of each pIR10-1 allele between these groups (Table 3.13), at the 1% significance level, only the numbers of the pIR10-1 alleles observed in the affected groups with and without ephelides differed significantly (p < 0.01). At the 5% significance level, a comparison of the numbers of each of the pIR10-1 alleles between the normal ty-pos OCA gene and those associated with a lack of ephelides, was significant (p < 0.02). The number of each of the pIR10-1 alleles observed between the normal and affected (with and without ephelides) were not significantly different.

	pIR (F)			
CHRÓMOSOME TYPE ¹	. 1	2	3	TOTAL
NON-OCA	31 (0.60)	13 (0.25)	8 (0.15)	5 2
OCA + EPHELIDES OCA - EPHELIDES TOTAL OCA (+/-)	14 (0.58) 33 (0.87) 56 (0.78)	3 (0.13) 4 (0.10) 7 (0.10)	7 (0.29) 1 (0.03) 9 (0.12)	24 38 72

Table 3.12: pIR10-1 (D15S12) allele frequencies

 $^{>} \mathfrak{v}$

 Table 3.13:
 Comparison of numbers of pIR10-1 (D15S12) alleles*

 ϕ

pIR10-1 ALLELES [®]	x ²	р	r°
Non-OCA vs OCA (+ and -)	4.237	0,120	0.136
Non-OCA vs OCA (+)	2,804	0.246	0.136
Non-OCA vs OCA (-)	8.295	0.016	0.215
OCA (+) vs OCA (-)	9.655	0.008	0.279

a : 2 degrees of freedom
b : OCA refers to ty-pps OCA
Ephelus status: + With ephelides

Without ephelides
Without ephelides

Ð

đ

These results suggest that there is an association between the alleles at the D15S12 locus and the mutation(s) determining the presence or absence of ephetides with ty-pos OCA. The number of observed alleles show that allele 3 is more frequently associated with the presence of ephelides (0.29), than with an absence of ephelides (0.03). Allele 1 is the commonest in \Im groups of chromosomes.

3.4 Haplotype analysis

Since D15S12 (pIR10-1) is very close to, or part of, the ty-pos OCA locus, and the physical order of all the closely situated 2 and 3 allele markers, and the 12 allele GABRB3 locus, has been established, haplotypes can be constructed using these markers. Haplotypes were constructed using D15S12 and 4 other markers, creating more complex haplotypes by the consecutive addition of each marker lying further from the ty-pos OCA locus (and closer to the centromere). The 2 and 3 allele markers were used in haplotype construction because the allele sizes could be scored unambiguously and the haplotypes generated were easily analysed. Ideally, CMW (D15S24) should be used in the haplotype analysis as a closely linked flanking marker, howe ", since it is a VNTR analyted using Southern blotting, the alleles could not be clearly determined between gels. Haplotypes were also constructed using the D15S12 locus and the GABRB3 CA repeat system, which is physically and genetically close to the ty-pos OCA locus and for which the allele sizes could be clearly scored.

Tables 3.14-3.17 illustrate the haplotypes generated using the physically ordered markers D15S12-D15S10-D15S13-D15S11-D15S9. With the addition of each marker to a haplotype, the pattern becomes more complex and the number of informative chromosomes becomes less, because results are not available for every system on every chromosome. Table 3.18 shows the haplotypes generated using the D15S12 and GABRB3 loci. The number and frequency of each haplotype associated with the normal ty-pos OCA gene and with the disease

Č۵

mutation(s) can be calculated. The numbers of each haplotype in these groups were compared using the chi-square test, with the Yates correction factor (for cells < 5).

The number of 2 marker haplotypes, using D15S12 and D15S10 (Table 3.14) only differs significantly at the 1% significance level, between the groups with and without ephelides (p=0.01), suggesting that these groups are associated with different haplotypes. The group without ephelides shows a cluster of haplotypes associated with allele 1 of the D15S12 RFLP, while the normal chromosomes and the group with ephelides show a spread of haplotypes. A' hough the studies of allelic association show that all 3 pIR10-1 (D15S12) alleles are represented on both ty-pos OCA chromosomes and non-OCA chromosomes, with haplotype construction, some data are lost when there is information missing for any system on every chromosome.

The number of 3 marker haplotypes, D15S12, D15S10 and D15S13 (Table 3.15), only differ significantly between the groups with and without ephelides (p < 0.02), with a clustering of haplotypes associated with allele 1 of the D15S12 RFLP in the group with ephelides, and a scatter of haplotypes associated with the normal chromosomes and the group with ephelides.

The number of 4 (D15S12-D15S10-D15S13-D15S11) (Table 3.16) and 5 (D15S12-D15S10-D15S13-D15S11-D15S9) (Table 3.17) marker haplotypes show no significant difference between any of the groups. There may be no significant difference because fewer informative chromosomes can be scored, reducing the number of haplotypes in each group to very small numbers.

The number of haplotypes using D15S12 and GABRB3 (Table 3.18), did not differ significantly between any of the groups, with a spread of haplotypes in each group.

HAPL	OTYPE	TY-POS OCA STATUS ¹				
D15812	D15812 D15810			N		
1	1	8 (0,50)	16 (0.53)	13 (0.30)		
1	2	2 (0.13)	11 (0.37)	10 (0.43)		
1	3		3 (0.10)	2 (0.05)		
2	1 ·	-	۰ ۹	2 (0.05)		
2	2	-	-	3 (0.07)		
2	3	1 (0.13)	· •.	1 (0.01)		
3	t	2 (0.13)	•	5 (0.12 <u>)</u>		
3	2	3 (0.19)	•	6 (0.14)		
3	3	-	•	1 (0.01)		
то	ľal	16	30	43		

Table 3.14: Haplotype analysis using loci D15S12 and D15S10

ò

Chi-square comparison

P.

0

x2	p (df)
15.03	0.010(5)
1.586	0.991(8)
8.356	0.400(8)
5.929	0.655(8)
	x ³ 15.03 1.586 8.356 5.929

1: + With ephelides, - Without ephelides, N Normal

<u>_</u>

1	HAPLOTYPE	Ç.	TY-POS OCA STATUS			
D15S12	D15810	D15S13	+	•	N	
1	1	. 1	6 (0.50)	6 (0.25)	7 (0.18)	
1	1	2	-	5 (0.21)	4 (0.11)	
1	2	1	•	5 (0.21)	4 (0.11)	
1	2	·s 2	1 (0.08)	5 (0,21)	4 (0.11)	
1	3	. 1	ut	1 (0.04)	*	
1	3	2	-	2 (0.08)	2 (0.06)	
2	1	1		•	2 (0.06)	
2	2	1	•	- .	2 (0.06)	
2	2	2	-	-	1 (0.03)	
2	3	2	1 (0.08)	-	1 (0.03)	
3	1	1	2 (0.17)	-	2 (0.06)	
3	1	2	-	-	1 (0.03)	
3	2	1	2 (0.17)	-	3 (0.07)	
3	2	2	-	*	2 (0.06)	
3	3	2	-	-	1 (0.03)	
	TOTAL		12	24	36	
li-square co	mparison				Q.	
	status	~ v ž	p (df)			
+ vs - ephel	ides	18,75	0.016 (8)		
Normal vs + ephalides		4.21	0.989 (1:	3)		
Normal vs -	epholides	2.803	0.999(14	9		
Normal va a	ffected	3.442	D. 998/1/	6		

Table 3.15: Haplotype analysis using loci D15S12, D15S10 and D15S13

ſ)

Ċ

5	131

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	HAPL	OTYPE	·····	TY-	POSOCASTA	TUS
D15512	D15810	D15S13	D15511	+	•.	N
1	1	1	1	2 (0.20)	4 (0.20)	2 (0.07)
1 1	1	1	2	3 (0.30)	2 (0.10)	3 (0.09)
1	1	2	1	-	1 (0.05)	-
1	L	2	2	-	1 (0.05)	4 (0.13)
1	2	1 ¹	ı	•	3 (0.15)	2 (0.07)
1	2	1	2	· 🕳	1 (0.05)	2 (0.07)
1	2	2	1	1 (0.10)	1 (0.05)	1 (0.04)
1	2	2	2	**	4 (0.20)	-
1	3	I	2	-	1 (0.05)	-
t	3 .	2	2	.+	2 (0.16,	2 (0.07)
2	i	i	² 1	-	Ni 🖷	1 (0.04)
2	1	1	- 2	- .	-	1 (0.04)
ູ 2	2	1	1	•	-	i (0.04)
2	2	1	2	-	-	1 (0.04)
2	2	2	1	•	-	1 (0.04)
2	3	2	2	•	-	1 (0.04)
3	ĩ	1	1	1 (0,10)	-	2 (0.08)
3	1	1	2	1 (0.10)	-	
3	1	2	1	-	-	1 (0.04)
3	2	1	1	2 (0.20)	۳.	1 (0.04)
3	2	2	2	-	-	1 (0.04)
3	3	2	1			1 (0.04)
	TO	TAL		10	20	28

Chi-square comparison

÷.

 ϕ

Ty-pos OCA status ¹	<u>х</u> 2	p (df)
+ vs - ephelides	16.35	0.176(12)
Normal vs + ephelides	5.293	0.998(18)
Normal vs - ophelides	5.623	0.999 (20)
Normal vs affected	4.21	1 (21)

1: + With ephelides, - Without ephelides, N Normal

HAPLOTYPE					TY-POS OCA STATUS		
D15812	D15810	D15S13	D15\$11	D1589	+	-	N
1 .	1	1	1	1	•	1 (0.06)	•
1	1	1	· 1	2	2 (0.24)	1 (0.06)	•
1	1	1	ĩ	3	-	-	1 (0.05)
1	1	1	2	1	1 (0.13)	1 (0.06)	1 (0.05)
1	1	1	2	2	1 (0.13)	1 (0.06)	
1	1	2	1	3	. .	•	1 (0.05)
1	1	2	2	1	-	-	2 (0.10)
1	1	2	2	2	-	-	1 (0.05)
1	2	1.	1	2	~	3 (0.20)	2 (0.10)
1	2	1	2	1	-	-	1 (0.05)
1	2	1	2	2	-	1 (0.06)	1 (0.05)
1	2	2	1	2	1 (0.13)	1 (0.06)	-
1	2	2	2	1	-	2 (0.13)	1 (0.05)
1	2	2	2	2	-	2 (0.13)	-
1	3	1	2	2	-	1 (0.06)	-
1	3	2	2	1	-	1 (0.06)	2 (0.10)
t	3	2	2	2	*	1 (0.06)	-
2	1	1	2	2	-	*	1 (0.05)
2	2	1	1	2	-	-	1 (0.05)
3	1	ŧ	1	2	-	-	1 (0.05)
3	1	1	1	2	1 (0.13)	+	-
3	1	2	1	2	-	-	1 (0.05)
3	2	1	1	2	-	•	1 (0.05)
3	2	1	٠	3	2 (0.24)	-	
3	2	2	3	1	-	-	1 (0.05)
3	3	2	1	2		•	1 (0.05)
		TOTAL			8	16	20

Table 3.17: Haplotype analysis using loci D15S12, D15S10, D15S13, D15S11 and D15S9

Chi-equare comparison

Ty-pos OCA status ¹	Ľ	<u>p</u> (df)
+ vs - epholides	14.25	0.357(13)
Normal vs + ephelides	7.875	0.996(21)
Normal vs - ophelides	2.025	1 (23)
Normal vs affected	3.636	1 (25)

1: + With enhelides, - Without enhelides, N Normal

Table 3.18: Haplotype analysis using	loci
D15S12 and GABRB3	

HAPLOTYPE		TY-POS OCA STATUS		
D15812	GABRB3	+	u	N
ì	1		3	t
1	2	. •	3	1
1	3	5	3	4
1	4	1	3	. 8
1	5	3	3	3
ŧ	6	1	4	1
1	7	٠	3	4
1	8	4	7	6
1	9	•	2	2
i	10	•	2	1 L
1	n		2	3
L I	12	-	ı	-
2	2		2	2
2	3	-	2	· 1
2	4	•	*	1
2	5	•	-	3
2	1	•	•	1
2	8	3	٠	2
2	9	-	٠	1 .
3	£	•	-	2
3	2	-	-	1
3	3	-	٠	3
3	4	1	~	t
3	5	3	1	3
3.	6	1	٠	2
3	7	٠	•	2
3	. 8	2	-	I
3	9	-	•	1
3	11	#		1
TOTAL		24	42	62
Chi-square a	ometricon			
Ty-pos OC	A status!	<u>بر</u>		g (df)
+ vs - oph	alidea	8.4	,	0.971 (18)
Normal ve	+ opholides	¥.7	7	0.999 (27)
Normal ys - epholides		6.90		1 (28)

į4

(î

Normal vs sffected \$1.06 1 (28) 1 : + With sphelides; - Without sphelides; N Normal

Therefore, the haplotype analysis using these markers does not suggest a single origin for the ty-pos OCA mutation(s). However, the markers are physically and genetically positioned relatively far ($\Theta > 0.07$) from the ty-pos OCA locus. Thus they may not represent ancestral haplotypes, since many recombinations are likely to have occurred between the markers and the ty-pos OCA locus since the ty-pos OCA mutation(s) arose. The recombination fraction (Θ) gives a genetic distance between two loci. If Θ is greater than 0.07 (7% chance of cross-over between the loci), then it is unlikely that there will be an association between those loci. If Θ is less than 0.01 or 0.001, then there may be an association between D15S12 and CMW and, perhaps, between D15S12 and GABRB3. However, a possible association between D15S12 and CMW cannot be tested with the existing data, and there is no significant association between D15S12 and GABRB3.

3.5 Summary of results

The human homologue of the mouse brown locus, CAS2, has been mapped to chromosome 9q22-qter by SCH mapping and in situ hybridisation.

Forty-one families were used in the linkage study. There were 13 families in which affected individuals had ephelides and 23 families in which they lacked ephelides. Ephelus status in 5 families was unknown. Two-point linkage analysis excluded linkage between ty-pos OCA and 41 polymorphic markers, including 19 random serogenetic markers and 15 random DNA markers, 2 candidate loci, TYR and CAS2, and a candidate region on 11p. Strong evidence for linkage was obtained between 7 markers on chromosome 15q11-q13 and ty-pos OCA (Table 3.9). A genetic linkage map of the 15q region was constructed using two-point linkage analysis and correlated to the physical map.

No recombination was found between pIR10-1 (D15S12) and ty-pos OCA, suggesting that the D15S12 locus maps very close to, or at, the ty-pos OCA locus. The frequency of each of the pIR10-1 alleles associated with chromosomes from individuals with ephelides differed significantly from the frequency of each of the alleles associated with chromosomes from individuals without ephelides, suggesting that the two phenotypes may be associated with different, but possibly overlapping, sets of mutations. Haplotype analysis showed diverse associations in each group, but did not often show statistical significance. This may be explained by the large genetic distance between the markers ($\Theta > 0.07$), which may also be physically too far away from the disease locus to be used in haplotype analysis for the purpose of establishing the origin(s) of the ty-pos OCA mutation(s).

CHAPTER FOUR

43

 \bigcirc

Ģ

4. DISCUSSION

Tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism (ty-pos OCA) (type II OCA) is the most common type of albinism in Caucasoids and Negroids (Witkop *et al.* 1989). In southern Africa, the overall prevalence is about 1 in 3900, giving a carrier frequency of about 1 in 32, making this a common autosomal recessive disorder. Mapping the ty-pos OCA locus through linkage studies will contribute in a small way to the construction of the genetic map of the human genome. Characterisation of the locus responsible for the ty-pos OCA phenotype will help to identify the gene product and to determine its function(s). Since normal melanin production is disturbed in individuals with ty-pos OCA, more information may be gained about the melanin biosynthetic pathway and, possibly, the functioning of the cells involved in pigment synthesis.

In the absence of a clear understanding of the biochemical defect causing ty-pos OCA, or any protein defect in individuals with this condition, linkage studies were necessary to identify the chromosomal localisation of the gene locus. Once this has been accomplished, the gene may be cloned and characterised.

4.1 Ty-pos OCA in southern African Negroids

Since ty-pos OCA is the most common type of oculocutaneous albinism occurring in southern African Negroids, the search for the gene has been greatly facilitated by the large number of individuals and families who presented with the condition and who were willing to participate in the study.

The subjects involved in this study came from 41 families, the majority of whom are resident in the Transvaal region. Detailed clinical information included the ephelus status of the affected individuals, where ephelides were clearly demarcated pigmented paches, found particularly on the sun-exposed areas of the skin. It was found that there was 100% concordance within families with

respect to the presence or absence of ephelides. Most of the affected individuals in this study did not have ephelides (from 56% of the families), suggesting that the mutation(s) at the ty-pos OCA locus which gives rise to these pigmented patches may occur with a lower frequency than the mutation(s) associated with an absence of ephelides.

4.2 Novel information on polymorphic markers

The Negroid population often shows unusual polymorphic DNA fragments a d allule frequencies at loci which have previously only been characterised in Caucasoids (Nurse *et al.* 1985; Marques *et al.* in preparation). The PIC values have been calculated for each system from a random sample of unrelated Negroid individuals (for unlinked markers, both chromosomes from each parent in all the families were used to calculate the allele frequency for each system, and for all markers on chromosome 15q, the alleles occurring on the normal chromosome in each parent were used to calculate the allele frequencies for the polymorphic systems). These PIC values were often found to differ from those which have been published (the latter usually from the Caucasoid population), and have been included with the results obtained in this study. It has been found that polymorphic systems are often, but not always, more informative ia Negroids, presumably because this ethnic group is evolutionarily older than the Caucasoid ethnic groups and has thus had more time in which to accurulate neutral (and more rarely advantageous) mutations at all loci.

In the Negroid population, the highly polymorphic dinucleotide repeat loci are often characterised by a higher number of alleles than the Caucasoid population, for example, at the D15S10 (CA) repeat locus, there are 9 polymorphic alleles in Negroids and only 4 in Caucasoids, and at the THBS1 locus, there are 14 polymorphic alleles in Negroids and 5 in Caucasoids (Marques *et al.* in preparation). This increased number of alleles usually increases the PIC value, making these loci particularly useful for population and forensic studies, as well as for paternity testing in the Negroid population. In the search for polymorphism at different loci, new polymorphisms may be revealed, as with the 2 allele CAS2/XbaI RFLP (Colman *et al.* 1991a). Occasionally, polymorphic loci detected by RFLP/Southern blot analysis are associated with additional population-specific alleles, as in the case of the third Negroid-specific pTD3-21 (D15S10)/TaqI RFLP allele (Colman *et al.* 1991b). On the other hand, polymorphisms identified in Caucasoids may not be present in Negroids, for example, the TYR/MboI RFLP (Giebel and Spritz 1990b) was absent from the Negroid population in the present study.

4.3 Two-point linkage analysis

In this linkage study two-point linkage analysis was carried out between ty-pos OCA and 10 random markers, two candidate pigment loci (tyrosinase and CAS2) and four markers on chromosome 11p, thought to be the position of a syntenic group including the human homologue of the mouse *pink-eyed dilution* locus. The study also included reanalysis of linkage between ty-pos OCA and 15 serogenetic markers and 7 random DNA markers previously analysed by Heim (1988). A total of 15 markers in the Prader-Willi/Angelman syndrome chromosomal region on 15q11-q13, a candidate region often associated with hypopigmentation and more rarely with OCA, were also tested for linkage.

Close linkage was excluded between ty-pos OCA and 15 random serogenetic markers tested, and between ty-pos OCA and a total of 16 random polymorphic DNA markers. Slightly positive lod scores were obtained between ty-pos OCA and markers on chromosome 6p (BF [Z=0.92 at Θ =0.2], DQ α [Z=0.44 at Θ =0.3]and Mfd61 [Z=0.71 at Θ =0.3]), sugge ting that this area may be of some interest. However, the lod scores were not significantly positive (Z<3) and, since positive linkage results were then obtained between ty-pos OCA and chromosome 15q markers, it was considered unnecessary to continue with further studies on chromosome 6p.

Few candidate genes for pigment biosynthesis have been isolated and characterised, but some which have been identified and are polymorphic were tested for evidence that they may be the locus for ty-pos OCA. Two melanocyte-specific cDNA clones were isolated, and both were originally ascribed to tyrosinase (Kwon *et al.* 1987; Kwon *et al.* 1988; Kwon *et al.* 1989; Shibahara *et al.* 1986; Yamamoto *et al.* 1989). However, one of these clones has now been mapped to the *c* locus on mouse chromosome 7 (Kwon *et al.* 1987) and is the tyrosinase gene, whereas the other has been assigned to the *brown* (*b*) locus on mouse chromosome 4 (Jackson 1988). Thus, although there is extensive DNA sequence homology between the two genes, the localisation of the *c* gene to mouse chromosome 7 and the *b* gene to mouse chromosome 4, indicates t indicates t al. 1991), although they may be related (Jackson *et al.* 1992).

The mouse *b* locus maps to mouse chromosome 4 in a region of homology with human chromosome 9, thus it was likely that the human homologue would map to chromosome 9. However, the mouse *b* locus occurs in a region of synteny split into several segments by the insertion of human 9q loci into an area of 9p homology (Searle *et al.* 1989), making prediction of the exact position of the human homologue difficult. Using *in situ* hybridisation and human-rodent SCH, Ab...e. *et al.* (1991), Chintamaneni *et al.* (1991) and Murty *et al.* (1992), have localised the human gene, CAS2, to chromosome 9p. It has been postulated that the *b* locus protein is a tyrosinase-related protein (Jackson 1988) or a catalase (Halaban and Moellmann 1990) and it is known to be homologous to the human melanosomal protein GP75 (Vijayasaradhi *et al.* 1990). A Negroid-specific *Xbal* RFLP was found with the CAS2 cDNA (C.J...an *et al.* 1991a) and two-point linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and the CAS2 locus excluded the latter from being the locus for ty-pos OCA (Z=-6.51 at Θ =0.01).

The human homologue of the mouse c gene is the tyrosinase gene (TYR) on human chromosome 11q14-q21. Mutations at the TYR locus give rise to a

Ľ;

tyrosinase-negative CCA phenotype, and the phenotypes associated with the vellow and temperature-sensitive mutants. Ty-pos OCA and ty-neg OCA are not allelic because matings between individuals with these conditions produce normally pigmented offspring (Witkop et al. 1970). However, in a group of clinically defined "ty-pos" OCA Caucasoids, IndoPakistanis, middle eastern Arabs and Jews, 6 out of 17 individuals had mutations in the tyrosinase gene, which were shown not to be simple polymorphisms. It is postulated that the "typos" OCA phenotype in these individuals arose from homozygosity or compound heterozygosity of 2 relatively mild tyrosinase allele mutations (Tripathi et al. 1992b), rather than from a mutation in the ty-pos OCA gene. Thus it has been suggested that "ty-pos" OCA is a heterogeneous condition with a distinctive clinical phenotype, which may be associated with mutations in the tyrosinase gene, as well as mutations in other genes. In other words, "ty-pos" OCA in Caucasoids is characterised by locus heterogeneity. To test for locus heterogeneity in the Negroid ty-pos OCA families participating in this study, a polymorphism detected by a tyrosinase cDNA (Pmel34) was analysed in all typos OCA families and in families with and without ephelides. The summated lod score for each group was negative (Table 3.6), effectively excluding the tyrosinase locus from being the locus for ty-pos OCA and also showing that there is unlikely to be locus heterogeneity in the Negroid ty-pos OCA families. The most positive lod score obtained for a single family at $\Theta = 0.01$ (ZABN, Z=0.48), can be explained by a lack of information, rather than by locus heterogeneity.

 ϵ_{j}

Mouse chromosome 7 has a number of homologuous genes found on both the long and short arms of human chromosome 11 (Figure 1.6), as well as on human chromosome 15. The *pink-eyed dilution* (p) and *albino* (c) loci on mouse chromosome 7 constituted the first linkage group identified in mammals (Haldane *et al* 1915, cited in Witkop *et al.* 1989) and thus it was considered possible that the human homologue of the mouse p gene may occur on chromosome 11p. If the linkage group was not conserved, the homologue of the p gene may be present on chromosome 15. No evidence of linkage was found

between 4 markers tested on human chromosome 11p and ty-pos OCA, showing that the linkage groups on mouse chromosome 7 had not been conserved on human chromosome 11p. The other region to search for the human homologue of the mouse p gene was on human chromosome 15, where several genes homologous to mouse genes, both distal and proximal to the p gene, are found (Figure 1.6).

4.4 Linkage of ty-pos OCA to markers on chromosome 15q11-13

j,

Chromosome 15 is an acrocentric chromosome with a satellite-rich heterochromatic centromere and stalk regions. Satellite-rich heterochromatin interferes with meiotic crossing-over and preserve: linkage groups in regions near the centromere. Cytogenetic and molecular evidence, however, suggest that the proximal '~ g arm of chromosome 15 is rich in palindromic or inverted repeat sequences, which may lead to instability (Donlon 1988; Tasset *et al.* 1988). A combination of classical genetic data and PFGE techniques suggest the presence of recombinational "hotspots" in this region (Kirklionis *et al.* 1991). Buiting *et al.* (1990), predict that a high density of genes exists on the long arm of chromosome 15 and if the density of coding sequences in the genome is 1 per 30kb (100 genes in 3000kb), the current PWS/AS critical region could contain more than 20 genes.

The PWCR and ANCR have been localised to chromosome 15q11-q15 and both syndromes are often associated with hypopigmentation (Hittner *et al.* 1982; Butler *et al.* 1986; Pettigrew *et al.* 1987; Wiesner *et al.* 1987; Pembrey *et al.* 1989; Butler 1989, 1990; Williams *et al.* 1989b; Magenis *et al.* 1990; Trent *et al.* 1991). Two polymorphic RFLP markers in the 15q11-q13 region (pTD3-21 [D15S10] and pTD189-1 [D15S13]) were tested for linkage to ty-pos OCA. Once linkage had been established between these markers and the ty-pos OCA locus (Ramsay *et al.* 1992), another 13 polymorphic markers on chromosome 15q were tested for linkage. Two-point linkage analysis confirmed linkage between ty-pos OCA

45

and all markers tested in the PWS/AS region.

A genetic linkage map was created using two-point linkage analysis and was correlated with the known physical map (Kuwano et al. 1992) (Figure 3.5). The genetic map correlates fairly well with the physical map, although the physical order of the D15S11 and D15S13 loci is inverted relative to that suggested by the genetic map. The genetic distance of the D15S11 locus from the ty-pos OCA locus is based upon haplotype analysis at the D15S11 locus (D15S11 CA repeat and pIR4-3R/Scal RFLP), while the genetic distance between ty-pos OCA and D15S13 is based upon analysis of a single RFLP (pTD189-1/TagI). The latter is less informative than the haplotype and a paucity of information may influence the genetic distance obtained between ty-pos OCA and each of the systems. The genetic linkage map may also represent varying recombination rates between the marker loci of fixed physical distance, especially if this region has an increased frequency of cross-overs due to the existence of recombinational hotspots. The genetic map places D15S97 (MS14), which has not yet been physically mapped. distal to the GABRB3 locus. Bowcock (1992), has shown that there is a significant excess of recombination between the D15S97 and GABRB3 loci in females. This result could not be tested in the ty-pos OCA families, since the Θ_m was assumed to be equal to the Θ_f for all LINKAGE analyses. Both the D15S97 and GABRB3 loci were analysed using CA repeat markers, so two-point markermarker analysis could not be carried out because there were too many alleles for microcomputer analysis. From the genetic map, the ACTC locus may map either distal or proximal to the ty-pos OCA locus. Rogan (1992), has shown that it is physically mapped distal to D15S24 (CMW-1), which does correlate with the results obtained in this study since the ACTC locus appears to be closer to D15S24 (CMW-1) (Z=5.39 at Θ =0.13), than to the more proximal markers (all Θ>0.17).

The linkage study has failed to reveal any obligatory cross-overs between ty-pos OCA and the marker pIR10-1 (the D15S12 locus). This suggests that the D15S12

w

locus is either very close to, or forms part of the ty-pos OCA locus. In order to test for locus heterogeneity, each group of ty-pos OCA families (with and without ephelides) was analysed. The summated lod score for each group was positive, with no cross-overs (Table 3.10), confirming that this locus may be the locus for ty-pos OCA, with no evidence of locus heterogeneity.

4.5 Allelic association between the D15S12 locus and ty-pos OCA mutations

Allelic association was found between the D15S12 (pIR10-1) locus and the mutation(s) determining the presence or absence of ephelides with ty-pos OCA. Allele 3 of the D15S12 locus was more commonly associated with the presence of ephelides than with an absence of ephelides. This suggests that the mutation(s) which causes ephelides, may have originally arisen in a hromosome which was characterised by allele 3 of the D15S12 locus. Alternatively, the somatic mutation(s) associated with the presence of ephelides may have arisen spontaneously and the predisposition to this spontaneous mutation may be related to allele 3 at the D15S12 locus. Since there is allelic association between the D15S12 locus and the presence or absence of ephelides, it seems that there was more than one origin of these mutations.

Allelic association was only assessed with the alleles at the D15S12 locus, ideally, however, the alleles occurring at the D15S24 locus, a closely flanking marker (Z=14.18 at Θ =0.001), should also be analysed for allelic association. The D15S24 RFLP is analysed using Southern blots, and the allele sizes are difficult to size accurately between gels, thus, with the current data, allelic association studies were not possible.

Haplotype analysis did not confirm or refute whether there was a single origin or multiple origins of the ty-pos OCA mutation(s). It is likely that the markers used in the haplotypes were genetically ($\Theta > 0.07$) and physically too far away from the ty-pos OCA locus for accurate analysis since many cross-overs are likely to have occurred between each marker and ty-pos OCA since the original mutation(s) occurred.

4.6 Mouse pigment genes

Genes affecting pigmentation in mice were among the first to be studied for Mendelian inheritance and some of the mutations associated with these pigment loci have been used to identify structural and regulatory genes involved in human development and pigmentation.

In an attempt to localise the ty-pos OCA locus, several mouse pigmentation loci, with phenotypic expression which could be correlated to that of ty-pos OCA in humans, were investigated as candidates for ty-pos OCA. Mouse chromosome 2 contains the *agouti* (*a*) locus, chromosome 7 contains the *pink-eyed dilution* (*p*) and *albino* (*c*) loci and chromosome 9 contains the *dilute* (*d*) locus. The human komologue of the *c* locus, tyrosinase, is known to map to human chromosome 11q14-q21, while the other three loci, with phenotypic effects which could be broadly correlated with those of ty-pos OCA, all occur in regions with homology to human chromosome 15 (Scarle *et al.* 1989). Of the three loci, the phenotype produced by the *p* locus correlates best with that of ty-pos OCA.

The mouse p locus, on chromosome 7, has long been associated with defects of skin, hair and coat pigmentation. The wild-type allele generates intense pigmentation in both coat and eyes, while recessive mutations at p cause a reduction of the brown/black eumclanic pigments and have little effect on the red/yellow phaeomelanins (Silvers 1979). This locus maps close to the Gabrb3 gene in mouse, and since GABRB3 maps close to the PWS/AS region on human chromosome 15q, it has been suggested that the human homologue of the p locus may also map in this region (Nicholls *et al.* 1991; Gardner *et al.* 1992; Nakatsu *et al.* 1992; Ramsay *et al.* 1992), together with another three evolutionarily conserved loci (D15S9h-1, D15S12h and D15SF32S1h), comprising

a region of synteny between human chromosome 15q11-q13 and mouse chromosome 7 (Rinchik *et al.* 1993). The *p* region of mouse chromosome 7 is a complex, multilocus region (Nakatsu *et al.* 1992) and a radiation-induced complementation map of the *p* region predicts the location of at least 4 loci which affect development, reproduction, behaviour and pigmentation. These loci have homologues on human chromosome 15q11-q13 which may mediate the pleiotropic effects of the PWS/AS (Lyon *et al.* 1992).

A mutation at the p locus, the pink-eved unstable mutation $(p^{\mu\nu})$, is associated with a duplication within the p gene. The p^{m} phenotype is characterised by areas of light and dark pigmentation, due to spontaneous loss of the duplication at this locus, resulting in a reversion to wild-type (Brilliant et al. 1991; Nakatsu et al. 1992). This phenotype is similar to that of the ty-pos OCA individuals with ephelides. In p^{**} mice the genetic reversion event results in the loss of duplicated sequences, which restores the normal linear array of coding information in the p gene (Gardner et al. 1992). The human cDNA, DN10 (which was used to identify the pIR10-1 [D15S12] cDNA), detects an abberant, large mRNA in skin from $p^{\mu n}/p^{\mu n}$ mice and a correctly sized mRNA in partially pigmented skin from revertant mice. The spontaneous reversion to the wild-type phenotype in revertant mice occurs together with a loss of the aberrant transcript, as a result of a loss of the duplicated sequence, and appearance of a normal sized transcript. Since reversion to wild-type pigmentation is accompanied by a restoration of the normal DN10/D15S12h transcript, it has been suggested that the DN10 cDNA corresponds to the p gene itself (Gardner *et al.* 1992; Rinchik et al. 1993). Rinchik et al. (1993), have performed inter-specific mouse backcross analysis, to show that there is no recombination between p and DISS12h, implying a map distance of less than 1cM between these loci. This pigment gene is expressed in melanocytes and all tissues containing melanocytes (Gardner et al. 1992; Rinchik et al. 1993). No mRNA transcripts were detected by a DN10derived probe in human pancreas, kidney, skeletal muscle, liver, lung, placenta, heart cells, or adult brain and it has been suggested that the DN10 cDNA is

derived from the human homologue of the mouse p locus, or D15S12h (Rinchik et al. 1993).

4.7 The Prader-Willi/Angelman chromosomal region

Many PWS/AS patients have hypopigmentation and optical misrouting, similar to those individuals with ty-pos OCA. Linkage between markers in the PWS/AS region and ty-pos OCA confirms that there is a pigment locus close to the critical region(s) of PWS and AS (Weisner et al. 1987). Since there is no recombination between ty-pos OCA and the D15S12 locus (the human homologue of the mouse D15S12h locus), it has been postulated that the D15S12 locus (close to the PWCR/ANCR on chromosome 15q11-q13) forms part of the gene for ty-pos OCA and is likely to be the human homologue, P, of the mouse p locus (Ramsay et al. 1992; Rinchik et al. 1993). Deletions of D15S12 have been correlated with hypopigmentation. It is possible that deletions of the P gene (D15S12) may be responsible for the hypopigmentation found in PWS/AS patients with a 15g11-g13 deletion (Gardner et al. 1992). Hamabe et al. (1991), showed that 77.4% of individuals with IR10 (D15S12 locus) deletions were hypopign.ented, while only 10.5% of individuals with normal amounts of IR10 were hypopigmented. The latter may have genetic lesions in other parts of the D15S12 locus (Gardner et al. 1992), which were not tested. Pigmentation has been found to be normal in a single individual with PWS and a deletion of all loci tested on chromosome 15q11-q12 except the D15S12 locus (Rinchik et al. 1993). It is likely that hypopigmented PWS/AS patients are hemizygous or homozygous for mutant alleles of a gene responsible for ty-pos OCA and a patient with PWS and ty-pos OCA was found to have a partial deletion of the P locus, inherited from his mother, and an entire deletion of this locus from his father (Rinchik et al. 1993).

The PWS/AS region on human chromosome 15q11-q13 is subject to imprinting effects. The mouse D15S9h-1 locus maps 9cM away from the p locus and is

 \sim

imprinted, thus the human homologue of this locus, D15S9, may play a role in the phenotypes of PWS and AS. Gabrb3, the mouse homologue of the human GABRB3 locus, a closely flanking marker of the D15S12 locus, is equally well expressed from maternal and paternal chromosomes in brain tissue and is thus not imprinted in mice, raising doubts about a role for this gene in PWS and AS (Nicholis *et al.* 1992).

The p gene in mice is not likely to be imprinted (Gardner *et al.* 1992), but the P gene in humans occurs on chromosome 15q11-q13, a region which is known to be affected by imprinting. Deletions and/or mutations of the P gene have been implicated in both PWS/AS and ty-pos OCA. It may be postulated that in these conditions, apparent "heterozygotes" have different phenotypes while "homozygosity" results in OCA. Obligate carriers of ty-pos OCA are normally pigmented whereas some individuals with PWS/AS and apparent heterozygosity at the P locus are 'ypopigmented. This may be related to a "leaky" phenotype associated with imprinting effects in the 15q11-q13 region. OCA in PWS/AS may be associated with a deletion of the PWCR/ACR on the maternal or paternal chromosome and a mutation of the ty-pos OCA locus on the other chromosome, which results in effective "homozygosity" at this locus, similar to autosomal recessive ty-pos OCA.

4.8 The ty-pos OCA locus

Physical mapping studies, together with the linkage data presented in this study, suggest that the locus for ty-pos OCA is on human chromosome 15q11-qi3 and it is postulated that the human homologue, P, of the mouse *pink-eyed dilution* gene, p, is the ty-pos OCA gene.

The DNA sequence of the P gene cDNA and the deduced amino acid sequence of the gene product have been determined (Rinchik *et al.* 1993). It has been proposed that the p locus encodes a structural protein present in the melanosomal organelles of melanocytes, because mutant p melanosomes exhibit structural abnormalities and have a red zed capacity to bind or accumulate melanin, with abnormal melanogenesis (Gardner *et al.* 1992). The sequence of the putative human P polypeptide predicts an integral membrane protein, with at least 11 transmembrane domains, which may be a component of the melanosomal membrane involved in the transport of tyrosine (Rinchik *et al.* 1993) and may also affect the development of other organ systems (Gardner *et al.* 1992). More work is needed to define the precise biochemical functions of the P polypeptide.

The p^{w} mutation in mice is characterised by a phenotype with areas of light and dark pigmentation, as a result of spontaneous reversion to wild-type with the loss of a duplicated sequence from the p gene and restoration of normal gene function. The presence of ephelides in some individuals with ty-pos OCA may also occur as a result of a spontaneous reversion to wild-type, which may be related to sun-exposure, especially since most ephelides occur on sun-exposed skin. The possible role of gene duplication in ty-pos OCA must be considered.

Gene duplication has been recognised as a cause of several human diseases and has been suggested to play a role in organism evolution (Ohno 1970). Molecular characterisation of genes and their products has supported this view (reviewed in Hu and Worton 1992). It is generally assumed that gene duplication allows organisms to acquire novel biological functions as beneficial mutations may accumulate in one copy while another copy carries out the original function (Hu and Worton 1992), but gene duplication may be pathogenic, especially when part of an exon or a subset of exons are duplicated. The duplication may change the protein conformation, resulting in an unstable or dysfunctional protein, or it may result in a reading frame-shift in the mRNA, producing a truncated and usually dysfunctional protein (Hu and Worton 1992).

Partial gene duplication has been implicated in a number of diseases, including Duchenne muscular dystrophy and Becker muscular dystrophy (Den Dunnen et al. 19989; Hu et al. 1990) and Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease Type 1A (Lupski et al. 1991). Unequal crossing-over, either between homologous chromosomes or between sister chromatids of the same chromosome, has been postulated to be a mechanism by which a tandem gene duplication arises. This mechanism also predicts the formation of a deletion as a product of reciprocal exchange. Another mechanism which has been postulated to explain the tandem duplication of a limited number of nucleotides is the intra-strand slipped-mispairing model (Roth et al. 1985), where breakage of single-stranded DNA, mispairing between short homologous sequences and repair synthesis and replication will generate a tanden duplication. Both homologous and nonhomologous recombination have been proposed to lead to duplications and deletions. Molecular characterisation of genes and gene families indicate that the mechanisms leading to gene duplication are not uncommon in organism evolution, however, deletions appear to be more common than duplications (H), and Worton 1992).

In summary, linkage analysis and comparative mouse-human mapping have localised the ty-pos OCA locus to human chromosome 15q11-q13. It has been postulated that the D15S12 locus forms part of the ty-pos OCA gene and it has been suggested that this gene is the human homologue, P, of the mouse *pink-eyed dilution* gene. The identification of mutations responsible for the ty-pos OCA phenotype and the presence or absence of ephelides will provide definitive proof that the P gene is in fact the ty-pos OCA gene.

u U U

۰. ۰

CHAPTER FIVE

۰. ۹

s. Alto

γ . . .
5.0 CONCLUSION

Oculocutaneous albinism (OCA) is a heterogeneous group of conditions, clinically defined by hypopigmentation of the skin, hair and eyes. Tyrosinasepositive (ty-pos) OCA is the most common type of OCA in Negroids, occurring with a average prevalence of 1 in 3900 in standard Africa. This condition is usually characterised by generalised hypopigmentation, with the accumulation of phaeomelanin pigments with increasing age, and, in some individuals, by the presence of pigmented patches or ephelides. The presence or absence of ephelides is apparently consistent within a family. Assuming that there is a single locus for ty-pos OCA in Negroids, as is suggested by the data presented here, then the occurrence of two distinctly different phenotypes suggests that there is more than one mutation at this locus.

Linkage studies in 41 southern African Negroid families, each with at least one member affected with ty-pos OCA, has shown that there is no linkage between ty-pos OCA and 15 random polymorphic serogenetic markers and 16 random polymorphic DNA markers, as well as markers from two candidate genes, the tyrosinase gene on chromosome $11q_{14}-q_{11}$ and the CAS2 gene on chromosome 9p, and 4 markers from a potential candidate region on chromosome 11p. Two-point linkage analysis between ty-pos OCA and 16 markers on chromosome 15q, showed close linkage between the disease locus and the Prader-Willi/Angelman syndrome region on chromosome 15q11-q13. This analysis showed no cross-overs between ty-pos OCA and the D15S12 locus in 41 southern African Negroid families, suggesting that the D15S12 locus is very close to, or part of, the ty-pos OCA locus. A genetic linkage map of the region surrounding the ty-pos OCA locus showed the two most closely flanking markers to be the GABRB3 locus in a proximal position and the D15S24 (CMW-1) locus in a distal position.

Haplotype analysis did not reveal whether there was a single origin or multiple origins of the ty-pos OCA mutation(s). Allelic association was demonstrated

between the alleles at the D15S12 locus and the mutation(s) associated with the presence or absence of epitelides. The number of each of the D15S12 alleles associated with these stypes differed significantly, suggesting that the phenotypes may be associated with different mutations which may have had different origins.

At least three mouse pigment loci, agouti, dilute and the pink-eyed dilution locus, on mouse chromosomes 2, 9 and 7, respectively, have homologues on human chromosome 15. Mice homozygous for an unstable mutation, p^{in} , at the pink-eyed dilution locus have a phenotype characterised by patches of light and dark pigmentation, closely resembling that of ty-pos OCA individuals with ephelides. Thus it was suggested that the homologue of the p gene was the ty-pos OCA gene. The linkage results obtained in this study have confirmed the presence of a nigment locus on chromosome 15q11-q12 in the PWCR/ANCR and this locus has been postulated to be the human homologue, P, of the mouse pink-eyed dilution gene (p) (Gardner et al. 1992; Rinchik et al. 1993).

Future studies

ý:

The P gene has been postulated to be the locus reponsible for ty-pos OCA, however the gene must be characterised in southern African Negroids to provide definitive proof that mutations at this locus cause a ty-pos OCA phenotype. The P gene has been mapped and cloned, thus it will be possible to confirm whether or not this is the ty-pos OCA gene by functional complementation studies. Characterisation of the locus in individuals with ty-pos OCA will include a search for gross structural rearrangements using Southern blotting techniques, as well as an examination of the gen^{α} itself, using single-stranded conformational polymorphisms (SSCPs) and sequencing, in order to analyse point mutations possibly giving rise to the ty-pos OCA phenotype. It will be of great interest to examine the possibility that some of the mutation(s) associated with the presence of ephelides in humans are related to the partial gene duplication responsible

15

for the type of albinism with pigmented patches in mice which is due to homozygosity for the p^{un} mutation. The evolutionary significance and heterozygote advantage of the ty-pos OCA mutation, if any, could be examined in southern Africa. It would also be interesting to study ty-pos OCA in the rest of Africa in order to determine the overall frequency of this condition on the cortinent and to study the mutation(s) associated with it.

Practical implications of finding the ty-pos OCA gene

Once the gene for ty-pos OCA has been found, or it has been confirmed that the P gene is the gene for ty-pos OCA, then it will possible to detect heterozygote carriers in ty-pos OCA families and in the general population and to offer prenatal testing to at risk couples, should it be requested. It will also be possible to characterise the gene product and its function(s) and to examine its role in pigment formation and optic and auditory tract development. This information may eventually lead to gene therapy for the pigment defect, although it would be more difficult to correct the neural tract abnormalities.

1

9

 $\leq \epsilon$

 $\langle \zeta \rangle$

REFERENCES

o

÷.

ถ

REFERENCES CITED

ABADI RV, DICKINSON CM, PASCAL E, PAPAS E (1990) Retinal image quality in albinos. <u>Opthalm Paediatr Genet</u> 11(3): 171-176

ABBOT C, JACKSON IJ, CARRITT B, POVEY S (1991) The human homolog of the mouse *brown* gene maps to the short arm of chromosome 9 and extends the known region of homology with mouse chromosome 4. <u>Genomics</u> 11: 471-473

AINSWORTH-HARRISON G (1973) Differences in human pigmentation, measurement, geographic variation, and causes. J Invest Dermatol 60(5): 418-426

ANGELMAN H (1965) "Puppet" children: a report on three cases. <u>Dev Med</u> <u>Child Neurol</u> 7: 681-683

ANTONARAKIS SE, KAZAZIAN HH, ORKIN SH (1985) DNA polymorphism and molecular pathology of the human globin gene clusters. Hum Genet 69: 1-14

APKARIAN P, REITS D, SPEKREIJSE H, VAN DORP D (1983) A decisive electrophysiological test for human albinism. <u>Electroencephalogr Clin</u> <u>Neurophysiol</u> 55: 513-531

AUFFRAY C, IILLIE JW, ARNOT D, GROSSBERGER D, KAPPES D, STROMINGER JL (1984) Isotypic and allotypic variation of the class II human histocompatibility antigen α chain genes. <u>Nature</u> 308: 327-333

BAMEZAI R, HUSAIN SA, MISRA S, THAKER AK (1987) Cerebellar ataxia and total albinism. <u>Clin Genet</u> 31: 178-181

BARBER JI, TOWNSEND D, OLDS D, KING RA (1984) Dopachrome oxidoreductase: a new enzyme in the pigment pathway. <u>J Invest Dermetol</u> 83: 145-149

BARKER D, SCHAFER M, WHITE R (1984) Restriction sites containing CpG show a higher frequency of polymorphism in human DNA. <u>Cell</u> 36: 131-138

BARON M (1976) Albinism and scizophreniform psychosis: a pedigree study. Am J Psychiatry 133: 1070-1073

BARSH GS and EPSTEIN CJ (1989) The long-range restriction map surrounding the mouse agouti locus reveals a disparity between physical and genetic distances. <u>Genomics</u> 5: 9-18

BARTON DE, KWON BS, FRANKE U (1988) Human tyrosinase gene, mapped to chromosome 11 (q14-q21), defines second region of homology with mouse chromosome 7. <u>Genomics</u> 3: 17-24

BEERMAN F, RUPPERT S, HUMMLER E, BOSCH FX, MULLER G, RUTHRT U, SCHUTZ G (1990) Rescue of the albino phenotype by introduction of a functional gene into mice. <u>EMBO J</u> 9(9): 2819-2826

ê.

BEERMAN F, RUPPERT S, HUMMLER E, SCHUTZ G (1991) Tyrosinase as a marker for transgenic mice. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 19(4): 958

BERGEN AAB, SAMANNS C, SCHUURMAN EJM, VAN OSCH L, VAN DORP DB, PINCKERS AJLG, BAKKER A, VAN OMMEN GJB, BLEEKER-WAGEMAKERS EM (1991) Multipoint linkage analysis in X-linked ocular albinism of the Nettleship-Fails type. <u>Clin Genet</u> 41: 135-138

BIDWELL J (1988) DNA-RFLP analysis and genotyping of HLA-DR and DQ antigens. <u>Immunol Today</u> 9(1): 18-23

BLOCH W (1991) A biochemical perspective of the polymerase chain reaction. Biochem 30(11): 2735-2747

BODMER WF (1981) Gene clutters, genome organisation, and complex phenotypes. When the sequence is known, what will it mean? <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 33: 664-682

BODMER WF and CAVALLI-SFORZA (1976) <u>Genetics, evolution and man</u>. WH Freeman (ed), San Fransisco

BOLOGNIA JL and PAWELEK JM (1988) Biology of hypopigmentation. <u>J Am</u> Acad Dermatol 19(2): 217-255

BOTSTEIN D, WHITE RL, SKOLNICK NH, DAVIES RW (1980) Construction of a genetic linkage map in man using restriction fragment length polymorphisms. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 32: 314-331

BOUCHARD B, FULLER BB, VIJAYASARADHI S, HOUGHTON AN (1989) Induction of pigmentation in mouse fibroblasts by expression of human tyrosinase cDNA. J Exp Med 169: 2029-2042

BOWCOCK A and CAVALLI-SFORZA L (1990) The study of variation in the human genome. <u>Genomics</u> 11: 491-498

BOWCOCK A (1992) Workshop or human chromosome 15. In: Donlon TA (organiser). <u>Report on the First International Workshop on Human</u> <u>Chromosome 15</u>. Tuscon, Arizona

BRILLIANT MH, GONDO Y, EICHER EM (1991) Direct molecular identification of the mouse pink-eyed unstable mutation by genomic scanning. Science 252: 566-569

BRISSENDEN JE, PAGE DC, DE MARTINVILLE B, TROWSDALE J, BOTSTEIN D, FRANKE U (1986) Regional assignments of 3 polymorphic DNA segments on human chromosome 15. <u>Genet Epidemiol</u> 3: 231-239

BROWN TA (1986) Cloning vectors based on lambda bacteriophage. In: Gene Cloning. An Introduction. Van Nostrand Reinhold, UK

BRUMBAUGH JA, WILKINS LM, MOORE JW (1979) Genetic dissection of eumelanogenesis. <u>Pigment Cell</u> 4: 150-158

BUITING K, NEUMAN M, LUDECKE HJ, SENGER G, CLAUSSEN U, ANTICH J, PASSARGE E, HORSTHEMKE B (1990) Microdissection of the Prader-Willi syndrome chromosome region and identification of potential gene sequences. <u>Genomics</u> 6: 521-527

BUTLER MG (1989) Hypopigmentation: a common feature of the Prader-Labhart-Willi syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 45: 140-146

BUTLER MG (1990) Prader-Willi syndrome: current understanding of cause and diagnosis. <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 35: 319-332

BUTLER MG, MEANEY FJ, PALMER CG (1986) Clinical and cytogenetic survey of 39 individuals with Prader-Labhart-Willi syndrome. <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 23: 793-809

CANNON G, HEINHORST S, WEISSBACH A (1985) Quantitative mc 2 ular hybridisation on nylon membranes. <u>Anal Biochem</u> 149: 229-237

CASTLE D, KROMBERG JGR, KOWALSKY R, MOOSA R, GILLMAN N, ZWANE E, FRITZ V (1988) Visual evoked potentials in Negro carriers of the gene for tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism. J Med Genet 25: 835-837

CASTLE DJ, JENKINS T, SHAWINSKY AA (1989) The oculocerebral syndrome in association with generalised hypopigmentation, <u>SA Med J</u> 76: 35-36

CHAILLET JR, KNOLL JHM, HORSTHEMKE B, LALANDE M (1991) The syntenic relationship between the critical region for the Prader-Willi/Angelman syndromes and proximal mouse chromosome 7. <u>Genomics</u> 11: 773-776

CHINTAMANENI CD, HALABAN R, KOBAYASHI Y, WITKOP CJ, KWON BS (1991a) A single base insertion in the putative transmembrane domain of the tyrosinase gene as a cause for tyrosinase-negative oculocutaneous albinism. <u>Proc</u> <u>Natl Acad Sci</u> USA 88: 5272-5275 CHINTAMANENI CD, RAMSAY M, COLMAN MA, FOX MF, PICKARD RT, KWON BS (1991b) Mapping the human CAS2 gene, the homologue of the mouse brown (b) locus, to human chromosome 9p22-pter. <u>Biochem Biophys Res</u> <u>Commun</u> 178(1): 227-235

CHUNG CT and MILLER RH (1988) A rapid and convenient method for the preparation and storage of competent bacterial cells. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 16(8): 3580

COHEN T, MULLER RM, TOMITA Y, SHIBAHARA S (1990) Nucleotide sequence of the cDNA encoding human tyrosinase-related protein. <u>Nucleic Acids</u> <u>Res</u> 18(9): 2807

COLLINS FS (1992) Positional cloning: let's not call it reverse anymore. Nature Genet 1: 3-6

COLMAN MA, SHIBAHARA S, KVON B, JENKINS T, RAMSAY M (1991a) A two allele Xbal RFLP at the catalase 2 locus. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 19(4): 960

COLMAN MA, SEGALO P, RAMSAY M, JENKINS T (1991b) A third Taqi allele is detected by the probe pTD3-21 (D15S1'), in southern African chromosomes. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 19(18): 5097

COOPER DN, SMITH BA, COOKE HJ, NIEMANN S, SCHMIDTKE J (1985) An estimate of unique DNA sequence heterozygosity in the human genome. Hum Genet 69: 201-205

CREEL D, WITKOP CJ, KING RA (1974) Asymmetric visually evoked potentials in human albinos, evidence for visual system anomalies. <u>Invest</u> Ophthalmol 13: 430-440

CREEL D (1980) Inappropriate use of albino animals as models in research. Pharmac Biochem Behav 12(6): 969-977

CREEL DJ, BENDEL CM, WEISNER GL, WIRTSCHAFTER JD, ARTHUR DC, KING RA (1986) Abnormalities of the central visual pathways in Prader-Willi syndrome associated with hypopigmentation. <u>N Engl J Med</u> 314: 1606-1609

CREEL DJ, SUMMERS CG, KING RA (1990) Visual anomalies associated with albinism. <u>Ophthalm Paediatr Genet</u> 11(3): 193-200

DAWSON K and SINGER P (1990) The human genome project: for better or for worse? Med J Aust 152: 484-486

ø

DEN DUNNEN JT, GROOTSCHOTEN PM, BAKKER E, BLONDEN LAJ, GINJAAR HB, WAPENAAR MC, VAN PAASSEN HMB, VAN BROECKHOVEN C, PEARSON PL, VAN OMMEN GJB (1989) Topography of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene: FIGE and cDNA analysis of 194 cases reveals 115 deletions and 13 duplications. Am J Hum Genet 45: \$35-847

DONLON TA, LALANDE M, WYMAN A, BRUNS G, LATT SA (1985) Molecular diagnosis and analysis of chromosome 15 microdeletion and lability in Prader-Willi syndrome. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 37: 91A

DONLON TA, LALANDE M, WY AN A, BRUNS G, LATT SA (1986) Isolation of molecular probes associated with the chromosome 15 instability in the PWS. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci</u> USA 83: 4408-4412

DONLON TA (1988) Similar no. cular deletions on chromosome 15q11.2 are encountered in both the Prader-Willi and Angelman syndromes. <u>Hum Genet</u> 80: 322-328

DOS SANTOS M de RN (1986) Gene assignment: Interspecific somatic cell hybridisation. MSc Thesis, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg

DRAGER UC (1986) Albinism 'visual pathways. <u>N Engl J Med</u> 314: 1636-1638

EDWARDS JH (1980) Allelic association in man. In <u>Population structure and</u> <u>genetic disorders</u> Ericksonn AW, Forsius HR, Nevalinna HR, Workman PL, Norio RK (Eds). Academic press, NY: pp 239-255

EDWARDS EA and DUNTLEY SQ (1939) The pigments nd color of living human skin. Am J Anat 65: 1-33

ESTIVILL X, SCAMBLER PJ, WAINWRIGHT BJ, HAWLEY K, FEDERICK P, SCHWARTZ M, BAUET M (1987) Patterns of polymorphism and linkage disequilibrium for cystic fibrosis. <u>Genomics</u> 1: 257-263

FEDER J, YEN L, WIJSMAN E, WANG L, WILKINS L, SCHRODER J, SPURR N, CANN H, BLUMENBERG M, CAVALLI-SFORZA LL (1985) A systematic approach for detecting high-frequency restriction fragment length polymorphisms using large genomic probes. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 37: 635-649

FEINBFRG AP and VOGELSTEIN B (1983) A technique for radiolebelling DNA restriction endonuclease fragments to high specific activity. <u>Anal Biochem</u> 132: 6-13

FRENCH EA ROBERTS KB, SEARLE AG (1971) Linkage between a hemoglobin locus and albinism in the Norway rat. Biochem Genet 5: 397-404

FRIEDMANN T (1991) Opinion: the human genome project - some implications of extensive "reverse genetic" medicine. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 46: 407-414

FUCHS R and BLAKESLEY R (1983) Guide to the use of Type II restriction endonucleases. Methods in Enzymol 100: 3-38

GARDNER JM, NAKATSU Y, GONDO Y, LEE S, LYON MF, KING RA, BRILLIANT MH (1992) the mouse pink-eyed dilution gene: association with human Prader-Willi and Angelman syndromes. <u>Science</u> 257: 1121-1124

GARROD AE (1908) Inborn errors of metabolism. Croonian Lectures, Lecture 1, Lancet 2: 1

GIEBEL LB, STRUNK KM, KING RA, HANIFIN JM, SPRITZ RA (1990a) A frequent tyrosinase gene mutation in classic, tyrosinase-negative (type 1A) oculocutaneous albinism. <u>Proc. Natl Acad Sci</u> USA 87: 3255-3258

GIEBEL LB and SPRITZ RA (1990b) RFLP for MboI in the human tyrosinase (TYR) gene detected by PCR. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 18(10): 3103

GIEBEL LB, STRUNK KM, SPRITZ RA (1991a) Organisation and nucleotide sequence of the human tyrosinase gene and a truncated pseudogene. <u>Genomics</u> 9: 435-445

GIEBEL LB, MUSARELLA MA, SPRITZ RA (1991b) A nonsense mutation in the tyrosinase gene of Afghan patients with tyrosinase-negative (type 1A) oculocutaneous albinism. J Med Genet 28: 464-467

GIEBEL LB, TRIPATHI RK, KING RA (1991c) A tyrosinase gene missense mutation in temperature-sensitive type 1 oculocutaneous albinism. <u>J Clin Invest</u> 87: 1119-1122

GIEBEL LB, TRIPATHI RK, STRUNK KM, HANIFIN JM, JACKSON CE, KING RA, SPRITZ RA (1991d) Tyrosinase gene mutations associated with type 1B ("yellow") oculocutaneous albinism. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 48: 1159-1167

GREGORY CA, SCHARTZ J, KIRKLIONIS AJ, RUDD N, HAMERTON JL (1991) Somatic recombination rather than uniparental disomy suggested as another mechanism by which genomic imprinting may play a role in the etiology of P.ader-Willi syndrome. <u>Hum Genet</u> 88: 42-48

GUILLERY RW (1990) Normal and abnormal visual field maps in albinos. Ophthalm Paediatr Genet 11(3): 177-183

 $\cdot \gamma$

GUNNING P, PONTE P, KEDES L, EDDY R, SHOWS T (1984) Chromosomal location of the compressed human skeletal cardiac actin genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 81: 1813-1817

 δ_{ij}

GUO Z, SHARMA V, PATTERSON D, LITT M (1990) Dinucleotide repeat polymorphism at the D21S168 locus. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 18(19): 5924

HALABAN R, MOELLMANN G, TAMURA A, KWON BS, KUKLINSKA E, POMERANTZ SH, LERNER AB (1988) Tyrosinases of murine melanocytes with mutations at the albino locus. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci</u> USA 85: 7241-7245

HALABAN R and MOELLMANN G (1990) Murine and human b locus pigmentation genes encode a glycoprotein (gp75) with catalase activity. <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci</u> USA 87: 4809-4813

HALL JG (1992) Genomic imprinting and its clinical implications. <u>New Engl J</u> Med 326(12): 827-829

HAMABE J, KUROKI Y, IMAIZUMI K, SUGIMOTO T, FUKUSHIMA Y, YAMAGUCHI A, IZUMIKAWA Y, NIIKAWA N (1991) DNA deletion and its parental origin in Angelman syndrome patients. <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 41: 64-68

HAMADA H, PETRINO M, KAKUNAGA T (1982) Molecular structure and evolutionary origin of human cardiac muscle actin gene. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci</u> USA 79: 5901-5905

HAMADA H, PETRINO MG, KAKUNAGA T, SEIDMAN M, STOLLAR BD (1984) Characterisation of poly (dT-dG).poly (dC-dA) sequences: structure, organisation and conformation. <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 4: 2610-2612

HARRIS H (1980) The principles of human biochemical genetics. Third Edition, Elsevier/North Holland, Amsterdam

HAYNES ME and ROBERTSON E (1981) Can oculocutaneous albinism be diagnosed prenatally? <u>Prenatal Diag</u> 1: 85-89

HEARING VJ and JIMENEZ M (1989) Analysis of mammalian pigmentation at the molecular level. <u>Pigment Cell Res</u> 2: 75-85

HEIM RA (1988) RFLPs in southern African populations and a search for linkage to tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism. PhD Thesis, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg

HEIM RA, DUNN DS, CANDY SE, ZWANE E, KROMBERG JGR, JENKINS T (1988) The tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism locus is not linked to the β -globin locus in man. Hum Genet 79:89

HITTNER HM. KING RA, RICCARDI VM, LEDBETTER DH, BORDA RP, FERRELL RE, KRETZER FL (1982) Oculocutaneous albinoidism as a manifestation of reduced neural crest derivatives in the Prader-Willi syndrome. Am J Ophthalmol 94: 328-337

HÖPPENER JWM, STEENBERGH PH, ZANDBERG J, BAKKER E, PEARSON PL, GEURTS VAN KESSEL AHM, JANTSZ HS, LIPS CJM (1984) Localisation of the polymorphic human calcitonin gene on chromosome 11. <u>Hum</u> Genet 66: 309-312

HU F, HANIFIN JM, PRESCOTT GH, TONGUE AC (1980) Yellow mutant albinism: cytochemical, ultrastructural, and genetic characterisation suggesting multiple allelizm. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 32: 387-395

HU X, RAY PN, MURPHY EG, THOMPSON MW, WORTON RG (1990) Duplicated mutation at the Duchenne muscular dystrophy locus: its frequency, distribution, origin, and phenotypic/genotypic correlation. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 46: 682-695

HU X AND WORTON RG (1992) Partial gene duplication as a cause of human disease. <u>Hum Mut</u> 1: 3-12

HULTEN M, ARMSTRONG S, CHALLINOR P, GOULD C, HARDY G, LEEDHAM P, LEE T, MCKEOWN C (1991) Genomic imprinting in Angelman and Prader-Willi translocation family. Lancet 338: 638-639

HUTH A, ESTIVILL X, GRADE K, BILLWITZ H, SPEER A, ROSENTHAL A, WILLIAMSON R, RAMSAY M, COUTELLE C (1989) PCR for detection of the pMP6d-9/MspI RFLP, a marker closely linked to the Cystic Fibrosis mutation. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 17(17): 7118

IZUMIKAWA Y, NARITOMI K, HIRAYAMA K (1991) Replication asynchrony between homologs 15q11.2: cytogenetic evidence for genomic imprinting. <u>Hum Genet</u> 87: 1-5

JACKSON IJ (1988) A cDNA encoding tyrosinase-related protein maps to the brown locus in mouse. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci</u> USA 85: 4392-4396

JACKSON IJ, CHAMBERS DM, BUDD PS, JOHNSON R (1991) The tyrosinase-related protein-1 has a structure and promoter sequence very different from tyrosinase. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 19(14): 3799-3805

JACKSON IJ, CHAMBERS DM, TSUKAMOTO K, COPELAND NG, GILBERT DJ, JENKINS NA, HEARING V (1992) A second tyrosinase-related protein, TRP-2, map[<] to and is mutated at the mouse <u>slaty</u> locus. <u>EMBO J</u> 11(2): 527-535

JARMAN AP and HIGGS DR (1988) A new hypervariable marker for the human α -globin gene cluster. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 43: 249-256

JEFFREYS A, WILSON V, THEIN S (1985) Hypervariable "minisatellite" regions in human DNA. <u>Nature</u> 314: 67-73

JEFFREYS AJ, WILSON V, NEUMANN R, KEYTE J (1988a) Amplification of human minisatellites by the polymerase chain reaction: towards DNA fingerprinting of single cells. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 16: 10953-10971

JEFFREYS A, ROYLE N, WILSON V, WONG Z (1988b) Spontaneous mutation rates to new length allele at tandem-repetitive hypervariable loci in human DNA. Nature 332: 278-281

JEFFREYS AJ, NEUMANN R, WILSON V (1990) Repeat unit sequence variation in minisatellites: a novel source of DNA polymorphism for studying variation and mutation by single melecule analysis. <u>Cell</u> 60: 473-485

JENKINS T, HEIM RA, DUNN DS, ZWANE E, COLMAN MA, RAMSAY M, KROMBERG JGR (1990) In quest of the tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism gene. Ophthal Paedic 7 Genet 11(4): 251-254

JOHNSTON JD, WINDER AF, JREIMER LH (1992) An Mbol polymorphism at codon 192 of the human tyrosinase gene is present in Asians and Afrocarribeans. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 20(6): 1433

JOHNSON R and JACKSON IJ (1992) <u>Light</u> is a dominant mouse mutation resulting in premature cell death. <u>Nature Genet</u> 1: 226-229

KEOHAVONG P and THILLY WG (1989) Fidelity of DNA polymerases in DNA amplification. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86: 9253-9257

KIKUCHI H, HARA S, ISHIGURO S, TAMAI M, WATANABO M (1990) Detection of point mutation in the tyrosinase gene of a Japanese albino patient by direct sequencing of amplified DNA. <u>Hum Genet</u> 85: 123-124

KING RA and WITKOP CJ (1976) Hairbulb tyrosinase activity in oculocutaneous albinism. Nature 263: 69-71

KING RA and WITKOP CJ (1977) Detection of heterozygotes for tyrosinasenegative oculocutaneous albinisen by hairbulb tyrosinase assay. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 29: 164-168

KING RA and OLDS DP (1985) Hairbulb tyrosinase activity in oculocutaneous albinism: suggestions for pathway control and block location. <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 20: 49-55

KING RA, WIRTSCHAF ER JD, OLDS DP, BRUMBAUGH J (1986) Minimal pigment, a new type of oculocutaneous albinis <u>Clin Genet</u> 29: 42-50

KING RA, TOWNSEND D, OETTING W, SUMMERS CG, OLDS DP, WHITE JG, SPRITZ RA (1991) Temperature-sensitive tyrosinase associated with peripheral pigmentation in oculocutaneous albinism. <u>J Clin Invest</u> 87: 1046-1053

KIRKLIONIS AJ, GREGORY CA, HAMERTON JL (1991) Long-range restriction mapping and linkage analysis of the Frader-Willi chromosome region (PWCR). <u>Genomics</u> 9: 524-535

KLUVE-BECKERMAN B, NAYLOR SL, MARSHAL, A, GARDNER JC, SHOWS TB, BENSON MD (1986) Localisation of human SAA gene(s) to chromosome 11 and detection of DNA polymorphisms. <u>Biochem Biophys Res</u> <u>Commun</u> 137(3): 1196-1204

KNOLL JHM, NICHOLLS RD, MAGFPUS RE, GLATT K, GRAHAM JM, KAPLAN L, LALANDE M (1990) Angelinan s₂ drome: three molecular classes identified with chromosome 15q11q13-specific DNA markers. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 47: 149-155

KNOLL JHM, GLATT KA, NICHOLLS RD, MALCOLM S, LALANDE M (1991) Chromosome 15 uniparental disomy is not frequent in Angelman syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 48: 16-21

KRISS A, RUSSELL-EGGITT I, TAYLOR D (1990) Childhood albinism. <u>Clin</u> <u>Genet</u> 11(3): 185-192

KROMBERG JGR and JENKINS T (1982) Prevalence of albinism in the South African negro. <u>S Afr Med J</u> 61: 383-386

KROMBERG JGR and JENKINS T (1984) Albinism in the South African Negro III Genetic counselling issues. J Biosoc Sci 16: 99-108

KROMBERG JGR (1987) Albinism in southern Africa: why sa ammon in blacks? <u>S Afr J Sci</u> 83: 68

KROMBERG JGR, ZWANE EM, JENKINS T (1987) The response of black mothers to the birth of and albino infant. Am J Dis Child 141: 911-916

KROMBERG JGR, CASTLE D, ZWANE EM, JENKINS T (1989) Albinism and skin cancer in southern Africa. <u>Clin Genet</u> 36: 43-52 KROMBERG GR, CASTLE DJ, ZWANE EM, BOTHWELL J, KIDSON S, BARTEL P, PHILLIPS JI, JENKINS T (1990) Red or rufous albinism in southern Africa. <u>Ophthalm Paediatr Genet</u> 11(3): 229-235

KUGELMAN TP and VAN SCOTT EJ (1968) Tyrosinase activity in melanocytes of human albinos. J. Invest Dermatol 37: 73-76

KUWANO A, MUTIRANGURA A, DITTRICH B, BUITING K, HORSTHEMKER B, SAITOH S, NIIKAWA N, LEDBETTER SA, GREENBERG F, CHINAULT AC, LEDBETTER DH (1992) Molecular dissection of the Frader-Willi/Angelman syndrome region (15q11-q13) by YAC cloning and FISH analysis. <u>Hum Molec Genet</u> 1(6): 417-425

KWON BS, HAQ AK, POMERANTZ SH, HALABAN R (1987) Isolation and sequence of a cDINA clone for i...nan tyrosinase that maps at the mouse c-albino locus. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84</u>: 7473-7477

KWON BS, WAKULCHIK M, HAQ AK, HALABAN R, KESTLER D (1988) Sequence analysis of mouse tyrosinase cDNA and the effect of melanotropin on its gene expression. <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> 153(3): 1301-1309

KWON BS, HAQ AK, WAKULCHIK N KESTLER D, BARTON DE, FRANCKE U, LAMOREUX ML, WHITNEY JB, HALABAN R (1989) Isolation, chromosomal mapping, and expression of the mouse tyrosinase gene. J Invest Dermatol 93: 589-594

LAMOREUX ML, WOOLLEY C, PENDERGAST P (1986) Genetic controls over activities of tyrosinase and dopa conversion factor in murine melanocytes. Genetics 113: 967-984

LARUE L and MINTZ B (1990) Pigmented cell lines of mouse albino melanocytes containing a tyrosinuse cDNA with an inducible promoter. <u>Somatic</u> <u>Cell Molec Genet</u> 16(4): 361-368

LATHROP GM, LALOUEL JM, JULIER C. OTT J (1984) Strategies for multilocus linkage analysis in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 81: 3443-3446

LINDEMAN R, KOUTS S, WOODAGE T, SMITH A, TRENT RJ (1991) Dinucleotide repeat polymorphism of D15S10 in the Prader-Willi chromosomal region (PWCR) Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 81: 1813-1817

LITT M and LUTY JA (1989) A hypervariable microsatellite revealed by in vitro amplification of a dinucleotide repeat within the cardiac muscle actin gene. Am J Hum Genet 44: 397-401

LIVINGSTON⁷ FB (1969) Polygenic models for the evolution of human skin color differences. <u>Hum Biol</u> 41: 480-493

LUND RD (1986) Pigment and visual projections. Nature 321: 203204

LUPSKI JR, DE OCA-LUNA RM, SLAUGENHAUPT S, PENTAO L, GUZZETTA V, TRASK BJ, SAUCEDO-CARDENAS O, BARKER DF, KILLIAN JM, GARCIA CA, CHAKRAVARTI A, PATEL PI (1991) DNA duplication associated with Charcot-Marie-Tooth Disease Type 1A. <u>Cell</u> 66: 219-232

LYON MF, KING TR, GONDO Y, GARDINER JM, NAKATSU Y, EICHER EM, BRILLIANT MH (1992) Genetic and molecular analysis of recessive alleles at the pink-eyed dilution (p) locus of the mouse. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci USA</u> 89: 6968-6972

MAGENIS RE, TOTH-FEJEL S, ALLEN LJ, BLACK M, BROWN MG, BUDDEN S, COHEN R, FRIEDMAN JM, KALOUSEK D, ZONANA J, LACY D, LAFRANCHI S, LAHR M, MACFARLANE J, WILLIAMS CPS (1990) Comparison of the 15q deletions in Prader-Willi and Angelman syndromes: specific regions, extent of deletions, parental origin, and clinical consequences. <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 35: 333-349

MALCOLM S, CLAYTON-SMITH J, NICHOLS M, ROBB S, WEBB T, ARMOUR JAL, JEFFREYS AJ, PEMBREY ME (1951) Uniparental paternal disomy in Angelman syndrome. Lancet 337: 694-697

MANDEL M and HIGA A (1986) Calcium-dependent bacteriophage DNA infection. J Mol Biol 53: 159-162

McKUSICK VA (1992) The human gene map: a synopsis, Baltimore, USA

MEINKOTH J and WAHL G (1984) Hybridisation of nucleic acids immobilised on solid supports. <u>Anal Biochem</u> 138: 267-284

MEISLER MH (1983) DNA polymorphisms. Nature 303: 108

MERCER JA, SEPERACK PK, STROBEL MC, COPELAND NG, JENKINS NA (1991) Novel myosin heavy chain encoded by murine *dilute* coat colour locus. <u>Nature</u> 348: 709-713

MINTZ B and BRADL M (1991) Mosaic expression of a tyrosinase fusion gene in albino mice yields a heritable striped coat colour pattern in transgenic homozygotes. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci</u> USA 88: 9643-9647 MOOLMAN JC, CORFIELD VA, STEVFNS G (1991) PCR-based detection of a polymorphic HaeIII site in intron VII of the human albumin (ALB) gene. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 19(24): 6972

MORTON NE (1955) Sequential tests for the detection of linkage. Am J Hum Genet 7: 277-318

MULLER G, RUPPERT S, SCHMID E, SCHUTZ G (1988) Functional analysis of alternatively spliced tyrosinase gen¹ transcripts. <u>EMBO J</u> 7: 2723-2730

MURTY VVVS, BOUCHARD B, MATHEW S, VIJAYASARADHI S, HOUGHTON AN (1992) Assignment of the human *TYRP* (brown) locus to chromosome region 9p23 by nonradioactive *in situ* hybridisation. <u>Genomics</u> 13: 227-229

MUTIRANGURA A, LEDBETTER SA, KUMANO A, CHINAULT AC, LEDBETTER DH (1992a) Dinucleotide repeat polymorphism at the GABA_A receptor β 3 (GABRB3) locus in the Angelman/Prader-Willi Syndrome (AS/PWS) region of chromosome 15. <u>Hum Molec Genet</u> 1(1): 67

MUTIRANGURA A, KUWANO A, LEDBETTER SA, CHINAULT AC, LEDBETTER DH (1992b) Dinucleotide repeat polymorphism at the D15S11 locus in the Angelman/Prader-Willi region (AS/PWS) of chromosome 15. <u>Hum</u> <u>Molec. Genet</u> 1(2): 139

NADEAU JH (1989) Maps of linkage and synteny homologies between mouse and man. <u>Trends Genet</u> 5: 82-86

NADEAU J, GRANT P, KOSOWSKY M (1991) Mouse on human homology map. <u>Mouse Genome</u> 89(1): 31-37

NAKAMURA Y, LEPPERT M, O'CONNELL P, WOLFF R, HOLM T, CULVER M, MA...IN C, FUJIMOTO E, HOFF M, KUMLIN E, WHITE R (1987) Variable number tandem repeat (VNTR) markers for human gene mapping. <u>Science</u> 237: 1151-1153

NAKAMURA Y, LATHROP M, O'CONNELL P, LEPPERT M, BARKER D, WRIGHT E, SKOLNICK M (1988) A mapped set of DNA markers for human chromosome 17. <u>Genomics</u> 2: 302-309

NAKATSU Y, GONDO Y, BRILLIANT MH (1992) The p locus is closely linked to the mouse homolog of a gene from the Prader-Willi chromosomal region. <u>Mammalian Genome</u> 2: 69-71

NANCE WE, JACKSON CE, WITKOP CJ (1970) Amish albinism: a distinctive autosomal recessive phenotype. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 22: 579-582

NARITOMI K (1991) On the genetic imprinting suggested in Angelman syndrome. Am J Med Genet 39: 495-496

NICHOLLS RD, KNOLL JH, GLATT K, HERSH JH, BREWSTER TD, GRAHAM JM, WURSTER-HILL D, WHARTON R, LATT SA (1989) Restriction fragment length polymorphisms within proximal 15q and their use in molecular cytogenetics and the PWS. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 33: 66-77

NICHOLLS RD, BULTMAN SJ, SPRITZ RA, LEE ST, STRUNK KM, HORSTEHEMKE B, JONG MTC, GOTTLIEB LB, CURRIER PF, WATERS MF, RUSSELL LB, RINCHIK EM (1992) Mouse models for genomic imprinting and phenotypic features in Prader-Willi and Angelman Syndromes. Am J Hum Genet Suppl 51(4): A50

NORTHRUP N, ROSENBLOOM C, O'BRIEN WE, BEAUDET AL (1989) Additional polymorphism for D7S8 linked to Cystic Fibrosis including detectio.. by DNA amplification. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 17(4): 1784

NURSE GT, WEINER JS, JENKINS T (1985) The peoples of southern Africa. and their affinities Clarendon Press, Oxford

O'BRIEN SJ, HASKINS ME, WINCKLER CA, NASH WG, PATTERSON DF (1986) Chromosomal mapping of beta-globin and albino loci in the domestic cat. J Hered 77: 374-378

OEITING WS, MENTIK MM, SUMMERS CG, LEWIS RA, WHITE JG, KING RA (1991) Three different frameshift mutations of the tyrosinase gene in type 1A oculocutaneous albinism. Am J Hum Genet 49: 199-206

OETTING WS and KING RA (1992) Molecular analysis of type I-A (tyrosinase negative) oculocutaneous albinism. Hum Genet 90: 258-268

OHNO S (1970) Evolution by gene duplication. Springer-Verlag, Berlin

OKAYAMA H and BERG P (1982) High-efficiency cloning of full-length cDNA. Molec Cell Biol 2(2): 161-170

OKORO AN (1975) Albinism in Nigeria. Br J Dermatol 92: 485-492

ORITA M, SEKIYA T, HAYASHI K (1990) DNA sequence polymorphisms in Alu repeats. Genomics 8: 271-278

ORTONNE JP (1990) The effects of ultraviolet exposure on skin melanin pigmentation. <u>J Internat Med Res</u> 18; 8C-17C

1

OTT J (1974) Estimation of the recombinant fraction in human pedigrees: Efficient computation of the likelihood for human linkage studies. <u>Am J Hum</u> Genet 26: 588-597

OTT J (1991) <u>Analysis of human genetic linkage</u>. Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore and London

PAGNIER J, MEARS JG, DUNDA-BELKHODJA O, SCHAEFER-REGO KE, BELDJORD C, NAGEL RL, LABIE D (1984) Evidence for the multicentric origin of the sickle cell hemoglobin gene in Africa. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci USA</u> 81: 1771-1773

PEARSON K, NETTLESHIP E, USHER CH (1913) <u>A menograph of albinism</u> in man. Drapers Co. Research Memoirs Biometric Series VII. London

PEMBRY M, FENNELL SJ, VAN DEN BERGHE J, FITCHETT M, SUMMERS D BUTLER L, CLARKE C, GRIFFITHS M, THOMPSON E, SUPER M ARAITSER M (1989) The association of Angelman syndrome with deletions 1 .hin 15g11-13. J Med Genet 26: 73-77

PESSAGNO LM, TACCONE A, POGGI G, ROMEO G, SILENGO MC (1992) Oculocerebral syndrome with hypopigmentation (Cross syndrome): report of a new case. <u>Clin Genet</u> 41: 87-89

PETTIGREW AL, GOLLIN SM, GREENBERG F, RICCARDI VM, LEDBETTER DH (1987) Duplication of proximal 15q as a cause of Prader-Willi syndrome. <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 28: 791-802

PHELAN MC, ALBIEZ KL, FLANNERY DB, STEVENSON RE (1988) The Prader-Willi syndrome and albinism in a black infant. <u>Proc Greenwood Genet</u> <u>Centre</u> 7: 27-29

Plinius Secundus the Elder: <u>The Natural History of Pliny</u>, Rackman H (trans) (1942). London, William Heineman Ltd, Book 7.

POLYMEROPOULOS MH, XIAO H, RATH DS, MERRIL CR (1990) Dinucleotide repeat polymorphism at the human thrombospondin gene (THBS1). <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 18(24): 7467

POLYMEROPOULOS MH, XIAO H, RATH D, MERRIL CR (1991) Dinucleotide repeat polymorphism at the human gene of the light and heavy chains of myeloperoxidase glycoprotein (MPO). Nucleic Acids Res 19(8): 1961

RAMSAY M and JENKINS T (1987) Globin gene associated restriction fragment length polymorphisms in southern African peoples. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 41: 1132-1144

RAMSAY M, COLMAN MA, STEVENS G, ZWANE E, FARRALL M, JENKINS T (1992) The tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism gene maps to chromosome 15q11.2-q12. Am J Hum Genet 51: 879-884

RICH DC, WITOWSKI CM, SUMMERS KM, VAN TUIREN P, LEDBETTER DH (1988) Highly polymorphic locus D15S24 (CMW-1) maps to 15pter-q13. Nucleic Acids Res 16(17): 8740

RILEY V (1972) <u>Pigmentation. Its genesis and biologic control</u> Apple on-Century-Crofts, USA

RINCHIK EM, BULTMAN SJ, HORSTHEMKE E, LEE ST, STRUNK KM, SPRITZ RA, AVIDANO KM, JONG MTC, NICHOLLS RD (1993) A gene for the mouse pink-eyed dilution locus and for human type II oculocutaneous albinism. <u>Nature</u> 361: 72-76

ROBERTS DF, KROMBERG JGR, JENKINS T (1986) Differentiation of heterozygotes in recessive albinism. <u>J Med Genet</u> 23: 323-327

ROBINS AH (1991) <u>Biological perspectives on human pigmentation</u> Cambridge University Press, UK

RODERICK TH and DAVISSON MT (1984) Linkage map of the mouse (Mus musculus). In O'Brien SJ (ed) Genetic maps, vol 3. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratories, Cold Spring Harbor, NY. pp 343-355

ROGAN P (1992) Workshop on human chromosome 15, In: Donlon TA (organiser). Report on the First International Workshop on Human Chromosome 15, Tuscon, Arizona

ROSE NC, MENACKER SJ, SCHNUR RE, JACKSON L, MCDONALD-MCGJNN DM, STUMP T, EMANUEL BS, ZACKAI EH (1992) Ocular albinism in a vale with del (6) (q13-q15): candidate region for autosomal recessive ocula albinism? <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 42: 700-705

ROTH DB, PORTER TN, WILSON JH (1985) Mechanisms of nonhomologous recombination in mammalian cells. <u>Molec Cell Biol</u> 5: 2599-2607

SAIKI RK, BUGAWAN TL. HORN GT, MULLIS KB, ERLICH HA (1986) Analysis of enzymatically amplified β -globin and HLA DQ α DNA with allelespecific oligonucleotide probes. Nature 324: 163-166

SAMBROOK J, FRITSCH EF, MANIATIS T (1989) Molecular Cloning. A Laboratory Manual. Second Edition. Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory Press. SANDBERG K and ANDERSSON L (1987) Linkage of albino and hemaglobin β -chain loci in the rabbit. <u>J Hered</u> 78: 124-125

SAUNDERS AM and SELDIN MF (1990) A molecular genetic linkage map of mouse chromosome 7. <u>Genomics</u> 8: 525.

SCHMID W, MULLER G, SCHUTZ G, LECKSON-WAELSCH S (1985) Deletions near the albino locus on chromosome 7 of the mouse affect the level of tyrosine aminotransferase mRNA. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci USA</u> 82: 2866-2869

SCHNUR RE, NUSSBAUM RL, ANSON-CARTWRIGHT L, MCDOWELL C, WORTEN RG, MUSARELLA MA (1991) Linkage analysis in X-linked ocular albinism. <u>Genomics</u> 9: 605-613

SEARLE AG, PETERS J, LYON MF, HALL JG, EVANS EP, EDWARDS JH, BUCKLE VJ (1989) Chromosome maps of man and mouse. IV. <u>Ann Hum</u> <u>Genet</u> 53: 89-140

SHAPIRO FRYBERG J, BREG WR, LINDGREN V (1991) Diagnosis of Angelman synorome in infants. <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 38: 58-64

SHARMA V, ALLEN L, MAGENIS RE, LITT M (1991) A dinucleotide polymorphism at the D1S116 locus. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 19(5): 1169

SHERRINGTON R, MELMER G, DIXON M, CURTIS D, MANKOO B, KALSI G, GURLING H (1991) Linkage disequilibrium between two highly polymorphic microsatellites. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 49: 966-971

SHIBAHARA S, TOMITA Y, SAKAKURA T, NAGER C, CHAUDHURI E, MULLER R (1986) Cloning and expression of cDNA encoding mouse tyrosinase. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 14: 2413-2427

SHIBAHARA S, TOMITA Y, TAGAMI H, MÜLLER RM, COHEN T (1988) Molecular basis for the heterogeneity of human tyrosinase. <u>Tohoku J Exp Med</u> 156: 403-414

SHIBAHARA S, TAGUCHI H, MULLER RM, SHIBATA K, COHEN T, TOMITA Y, TAGAMI H (1991) Structural organisation of the pigment cellspecific gene located at the *brown* locus in mouse. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 266(24): 15895-15901

SILVERS WK (1979) The coat colors of mice. Springer-Verlag, New York.

SMEETS HJM, BRUNNER HG, ROPERS HH, WEIRINGA B (1989) Use of variable simple sequence motifs as genetic markers: application to study of myotonic dystrophy. <u>Hum Genet</u> 83: 245-251

SMEETS DFCM, HAMEL BCJ, NELEN MR, SMEETS HJM, BOLLEN JHM, SMITS APT, ROPERS HH, VAN OOST BA (1992) Prader-Willi syndrome and Angelman syndrome in cousins from a family with a translocation between chromosomes 6 and 15. <u>N Engl J Med</u> 326(2): 807-811

SOUTHERN & (1975) Gel electrophoresis of rest. iction fragments. <u>Methods in</u> Enzymol 68: 152-176

SPRITZ R, STRUNK K, OETTING W, KING R (1988) RFLP for Taql at the human tyrosinase locus. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 16(20): 9890

SPRITZ RA, STRUNK KM, GIEBEL LB, KING RA (1990a) Detection of mutations in the tyrosinase gene in a patient with type 1A oculocutaneous albinism. <u>N Engl J Med</u> 322: 1724-1728

SPRITZ RA and STRUNK KM (1990b) RFLP for BgIII at the human tyrosinase (TYR) locus. Nucleic Acids Res 18(12): 3672

SPRITZ RA, STRUNK KM, HSEIH CL, SEKHON G, FRANCKE U (1991) Homozygous tyrosinase gene mutation in an American black with tyrosinasenegative (type 1A) oculocutaneous albinism. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 48: 318-324

STEINMETZ M, STEPHAN D, LINDAHL KF (1986) Gene organisation and recombinational hotspots in the murine major histocompatibility complex. <u>Cell</u> 44: 895-904

STEPHENS JC, CAVANAUGH ML, GRADIE MI, MADOR ML, KIDD KK (1990) Mapping the human genome: Crrent status. Science 250: 237-244

STERN C (1970) Model estimates of the number of gene pairs involved in pigment variability of Negro-American. <u>Hum Hered</u> 20: 165

STEVENS G, RAMSAY M, KLUVE-BECKERMAN B, JENKINS T (1993) A new Negroid-specific HindIII polymorphism in the serum amyloid A1 (SAA1) gene increases the usefulness of the SAA locus in linkage studies. <u>Genomics</u> In press

STOLC V and GILL TH (1983) Linkage and polymorphisms of a gene controlling lactate dehydrogenase in the rat. <u>Biochem Genet</u> 21: 933-941

SUMMERS CG, CREEL D, TOWNSEND D, KING RA (1991) Variable expression of vision in sibs with albinism. <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 40: 327-331

SYKES BC (1983) DNA in heritable disease. Lancet 2: 787-788

TAI JJ and SONG WH (1991) Linkage disequilibrium and linkage information from one-child families. <u>Hum Hered</u> 41: 316.323

1

TAKEDA A, TOMITA Y, OKINAGA S, TAG MI H, SHIBAHARA S (1989) Functional analysis of the cDNA encoding human tyrosinase precursor. <u>Biochem</u> <u>Biophys Res Commun</u> 162(3): 984-990

TANTRAVAHI U, NICHOLLS RD, STROH H, RINGER S, NEVE RL, KAPLAN L, WHARTON R, WURSTER-HILL D, GRAHAM J, CANTU ES, FRIAS JL, KOUSEFF BG, LATT SA (1989) Quantitative callibration and use of DNA probes for investigating chromosomal abnormalities in the PWS. <u>Am J</u> <u>Hum Genet</u> 33: 78-87

TASSET DM, HARTZ JA, KAO FT (1988) Isolation and analysis of DNA markers specific to human chromosome 15. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 42: 854-866

TAYLOR WOG (1987) Prenatal diagnosis of albinism. <u>The Lancet</u> ii June 6: 1307-1308

TERAO M, TABE L, GARATTINI E, SARTONI D, STUDFR M, MINTZ B (1989) Isolation of variant cDNAs encoding mouse tyrosinase. <u>Biochem Biophys</u> <u>Res Commun</u> 159(2): 845-853

TOMITA Y, TAKEDA A, OKINAGA S, TAGAMI H, SHIBAHARA S (1989) Human oculocutaneous albinism caused by single base insertion in the tyrosinase gere. <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> 164(3): 990-996

TONJES RR, WEITH A, RINCHIK EM, WINKING H, CARNWATHJW, KALINER B, PAUL D (1991) Microclones derived from the mouse chromosome 7 D-E bands map within the proximal region of the c^{14Cos} deletion in albino mutant mice. <u>Genomics</u> 10: 686-691

TRENT RJ, VOLPATO A, SMITH A, LINDEMAN R, WONG MK, WARNE G, HAAN E (1991) Molecular and cytogenetic studies of the Prader-Willi syndrome. J Med Genet 28: 649-654

TRIPATHI RK, STRUNK KM, GIEBEL LB, WELEBER RG, SPRITZ RA (1992a) Tyrosinase gene mutations in type 1 (tyrosinase deficient) oculocutaneous albinism define two clusters of missense substitutions. <u>Am J Med</u> <u>Genet</u> 43: 865-871

TRIPATHI RK, DROETTO S, SPRITZ RA (1992b) Many rations with "tyrosinase-positive" oculocutaneous albinism have tyrosinase gene mutations. <u>Am</u> <u>J Hum Genet Suppl</u> 51(4): A179 TSUKAMOTO K, SON IJ, URABE K, MONTAGUE PM, HEARING V (1992) A second tyrosinase-related protein, TRP-2, is a melanogenic enzyme termed DOPAchrome tautomerase. <u>EMBO J</u> 11(2): 519-526

TUAN D, BIRO PA, DERIEL JK, LAZARUS H, FORGET BN (1979) Restriction enzyme mapping of the human γ globin gene loci. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 6: 2519-2544

VAN DORP DB, VAN HAERINGEN NJ, GLASIUS E (1982) Evaluation of hairbulb test and tyrosinase assay in the classification of albinism. <u>Ophthalm</u> Paediatr Genet 1(3): 189-200

VIJAYASARADHI S, BOUCHARD B, HOUGHTON AN (1990) The melanoma antigen GP75 is the human homologue of the mouse b (brown) locus gene product. <u>J Exp Med</u> 171: 1375-1380

WAGSTAFF J, KNOLL JHM, FLEN, G J, KIRKNESS EF, MARTIN-GALLARDO A, GREENBERG F, GRAHAM JM, MENNINGER J, WARD D, VENTER JC, LALANDE M (1991) Localisation of the gene encoding the GABA_A receptor β 3 subunit to the Angelman/Prader-Willi region of human chromosome 15. <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 49: 330-337

WAGSTAFF J, KNOLL JHM, GLATT KA, SHUGART YY, SOMMER A, LALANDE M (1992) Maternal but not paternal transmission of 15q11-13-linked nondeletion Angelman syndrome leads to phenotypic expression. <u>Nature Genet</u> 1: 291-294

WAHIS WP, WALLACE LJ, MOORE PD (1990) Hypervariable minisatellite DNA is a hotspot for recombination in human cells. <u>Cell</u> 60: 95-103

WALLIS CE and BEIGHTON PH (1989) Synchrony of oculocutaneous albinism, the Prader-Willi syndrome, and a normal karyotype. J Med Genet 26: 337-339

WALPOLE IR and MULCAHY MT (1991) Tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism with familial 46, XY, t(2;4) (q31.2; q31.22) balanced translocation. J <u>Med Genet</u> 28: 482-484

WALSH RJ (1971) A distinctive pigment of the skin in New Guinea indigenes. Ann Hum Genet 34: 379-388

WARBURTON D, GERSEN S, YU MT, JACKSON C, HANDELIN B, HOUSMAN D (1990) Monochromosomal rodent-human hybrids from microcell fusion of human lymphoblastoid cells containing an inserted dominant selectable marker. <u>Genomics</u> 6: 358-366 WATKINS C, BODFISH P, WARNE D, NYBERG N, SPURR NK (1991) Dinucleotide repeat polymorphism in the human alpha-cardiac actin gene, intron IV (ACTC), detected using the polymerase chain reaction <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 19(24): 6980

Ĭ

WATSON JD (1990) The human genome project: past, present, and future. Science 248: 44-51

WEBER JL and MAY PE (1989) Abundant class of human DNA polymorphisms which can be typed using the polymerase chain reaction. <u>Am J</u> <u>Hum Genet</u> 44: 388-396

WEBBR J (1990) Informativeness of human (dC-dA).-(dG-d'f)₂ polymorphisms. <u>Genomics</u> 7: 524-530

1.1

WEBER JL, KWITEK AE, MAY PE, WALLACE MR, COLLINS FS, LEDBETTER DH (1990a) Dinucleotide repeat polymorphisms at the D17S250 and D17S261 loci. Nucleic Acids Res 18(15): 4640

WEBER JL, KWITEK AE, MAY PE (1990b) Dinucleotide repeat polymorphism at the D15S87 locus. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 18(15): 4640

WEBER JL, KWITEK AE, MAY PE, ZOGHBIHY (1991) Dinucleotide repeat polymorphism at the D6S105 locus. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 19(4): 968

WICKING C and WILLIAMSON B (1991) From linked marker to gene. <u>Trends</u> <u>Genet</u> 7(9): 288-293

WIESNER GL, BENDEL CM, ARTHUR DC, BALL DW, OLDS DP, TOWNSEND D, ZELICKSON A, KING RA (1984) Hypopigmentation in Prader-Willi syndrome (PWS). <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> (Suppl) **36**(4): 81S

WIESNER GL, BENDEL CM, OLDS DP, WHITE JG, ARTHUR DC, BALL DW, KING RA (1987) Hypopigmentation in the Prader-Willi syndrome. <u>Am J</u> <u>Med Genet</u> 40: 431-442

WIJSMAN EM (1984) Optimising selection of restriction enzymes in the search for DNA variants. Nucleic Acids Res 12(23): 9209-9225

WILLIAMS CA, HENDRICKSON JE, CANTU ES, DONLON TA (1989a) Angelman syndrome in a daughter with del (15) (q11q13) associated with brachycephaly, hearing loss, enlarged foramen magnum, and ataxia in the mother. <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 32: 333-338 WILLIAMS CA, GRAY BA, HENDRICKSON JE, STONE JW, CANTU ES (1989b) Incidence of 15q deletions in the Angelman syndrome: a survey of twelve affected persons. <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 32: 339-345

WILLIAMS CA, ZORI RT, STONE JW, GRAY BA, CANTU ES, OSTRER H (1990) Maternal origin of 15q11-13 deletions in Angelman syndrome suggests a role for genomic imprinting. <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 35: 350-353

WILLIAMSON R, BOWCOCK A, KIDD K, PEARSON P, SCHMIDTKE J, CEVERHA P, CHIPPERFIELD M, COOPER DN, COUTELLE C, HEWITT J, KLINGER K, LANGLEY K, BECKMANN J, TOLLEY M, MAIDAK B (1991) Report of the DNA committee and catalogues of cloned and mapped genes, markers formatted for PCR and DNA polymorphisms. <u>Cytogenet Cell</u> <u>Genet</u> 58: 1190-1832

WITKOP CJ, NANCE WE, RAWLS RF, WHITE JG (1970) Autosomal recessive oculocutaneous albinism in man: evidence for genetic i eterogeneity. Am J Hum Genet 22: 55-74

WITKOP CJ, JAY B, CREEL D, GUILLERY RW (1982) Optic and otic neurologic abnormalities in oculocutaneous and ocular albinism. <u>Birth Defects</u> 18: 299-318

WITKOP CJ (1985) Inherited disorders of pigmentation. <u>Clin Dermatol</u> 3: 70-134

WITKOP CJ, QUEVEDO WC, FITZPATRICK TB, KING RA (1989) Albinism. Chapter 119. In: Scriver, Beaudet, Sly and Valle (Eds). <u>The Metabolic Basis of</u> <u>Inverted Disease II.</u> Macgraw-Hill, New York pp 2905–947

WOLFF RK, NAKAMURA Y, WHITE R (1988) Molecular characterisation of a spontaneously generated new allele at a VNTR locus: no exchange of flanking DNA sequence. <u>Genomics</u> 3: 347-351

WONG Z, WILSON V, PATEL I, POVEY S, JEFFREYS AJ (1987) Characterisation of a panel of highly variable minisatellites cloned from human DNA. <u>Ann Hum Genet</u> 51: 269-288

YAMAMOTO H, TAKEUCHI S, KUDO T, MAKINO K, NAKATA A, SHINODA T, TAKEUCHI T (1987) Melanin production in cultured albino melanocytes transfected with mouse tyrosinase cDNA. Jpn J Genet 62: 271-274

YEE HA, WONG AKC, VAN DE SANDE JH, RATTNER JB (1991) Identification of novel single-stranded d(TC), binding proteins in several mammalian species. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 19(4): 949-953 ZDARSKY E, FAVOR J, JACKSON LJ (1990) The molecular basis of brown, an old mouse mutation, and of an induced revertant to wild type. <u>Genet</u> 126: 443-449

 \mathcal{O}

ſ

ZORI R, WILLIMMS C, MATTEI JF, MONDA A (1990) Parental origin of del (15) (q11-q13) in Angelman and Prader-Willi syndromes. <u>Am J Med Genet</u> 37: 294-295

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

Sources of reagents

Acrylamide Agar Amberlite Ammonium persulphate Ampicillin Bacto-tryptone Bacto-yeast extract Bis Boric acid Chloroform CsCl Denhardt's EDTA Ethanol EtBr Formamide **HGT** Agarose Hydroxyquinolinol Isoamylalcohol Lysozyme NaAc NaCl Na"' PO4. H2O NaOH Nusieve Agarose PEG Phenol Proteinase K RNase A SDS Sephadex G-50 (Fine) Spermidine trihydrochloride SS DNA TCA

Biorad Laboratories **DIFCO** Laboratories Sigma **Biorad** Laboratories Sigma **DIFCO** Laboratories **OXOID** Laboratories **Biorad** Laboratories Merck **BDH** Chemicals Boerhinger Mannheim Sigma **BDH** Chemicals **BDH** Chemicals Boerhinger Mannheim Fluka Chemicals FMC SAAR Chemicals Merck Sigma **BDH** Chemicals Associated Chemical Enterprises **BDH** Chemicals Synthon FMC Sigma Merck Boerhinger Mannheim Boerhinger Mannheim Merck Pharmacia Sigma Sigma SAAR Chemicals

Temed Tris Base Tris HCl Triton X-100 Urea Biorad Laboratories Associated Chemical Enterprises Boerhinger Mannheim Sigma Sigma

APPENDIX B

Composition and preparation of media

40% acrylamide stock

For 100ml mix 38g acrylamide

2g Bis

5g amberlite

50ml H₂O

Stir at room temperature for 30 minutes, filter through Whatman No 1 filter paper, make up to 100ml with H_2O , store at 4°C for up to 2 weeks.

6% nondenaturing polyacrylamide gel

For 50ml mix 21g urea 5ml TBE (10x) 7.5ml polyacrylamide (40%) 15ml H₂O

Add 45µl Temed and 160µl ammonium persulphate (10%), pour immediately.

Denhardt's solution

Dissolve	2g Ficoll
	2g PVP
	20 BSA

in 100ml H₂O, filter sterilise, store at -20°C.

Deionised formamide

For 11 m⁻¹ 5g amberlite

11 formamide

Stir for 30 minutes, filter, store at -20°C.

Ċ,

Formamide/EDTA/XC/BPB gel loading buffer

75

Mix

10ml formamide 10mg xylene cyanol 10mg bromophenol blue 200µl 0.5M EDTA (pH 8.0)

LΔ

Add 1.4g agar to 100ml LB, autoclave. When cool, and antibiotic $(25\mu g/ml amp; 12.5\mu g/ml tet)$. Pour into plates.

LB broth

Dissolve:

10g bacto-tryptone

5g bacto-yeast extract

10g NaCl

in H₂O, pH to 7.7, make up to 11. Aliquot into 100ml, autoclave. Add antibiotic $(25\mu g/ml \text{ amp}; 12.5\mu g/ml \text{ tet})$

Special neutralising solution

Dissolve 60.6g Tris base 175.4g NaCl

in 11 H₂O, pH to 7.0, autoclave.

20xSSC

Dissolve	175.4g NaCl
	88.3g Na citrate

in 11 H₂O, autoclave.

179

20xSSPE

Dissolve

210.4g NaCl 27.6g NaH₂PO₄.H₂O 7.4g EDTA $\langle z \rangle$

180

÷.

in H₂O, pH to 7.7, autoclave.

1xTBE

Dissolve

108g Tris base 55g boric acid 7.44g EDTA (disodium)

in 11 H₂O, autoclave.

<u>1xTE</u>

Dissolve

2ml EDTA (0.5M) 10ml Tris (1M)

in H₂O, pH to 8.0, make up to 11, autoclave.

.

-

Q



.
Author: Kedda M-A Name of thesis: A search for the tyrosinase-positive oculocutaneous albinism gene using linkage analysis

PUBLISHER: University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg ©2015

LEGALNOTICES:

Copyright Notice: All materials on the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg Library website are protected by South African copyright law and may not be distributed, transmitted, displayed or otherwise published in any format, without the prior written permission of the copyright owner.

Disclaimer and Terms of Use: Provided that you maintain all copyright and other notices contained therein, you may download material (one machine readable copy and one print copy per page)for your personal and/or educational non-commercial use only.

The University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, is not responsible for any errors or omissions and excludes any and all liability for any errors in or omissions from the information on the Library website.